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Strategic Report
March 13, 2020

Dear Shareholders,

TechnipFMC has enjoyed another exceptional year of success. Against a dynamic landscape, we continue to enhance the 
performance of the world’s energy industry, driving change and innovation while growing our integrated business model 
and expanding backlog across our portfolio.

We constantly adapt to ensure our market leadership. During 2019, we announced that we will reshape our future by 
transitioning into two diversified pure-play companies with the spin-off of our Onshore/Offshore segment (including 
Genesis, Loading Systems and Cybernetix) to create Technip Energies. We are on target for the completion of this 
transaction in the second quarter of 2020.

None of this would be possible without the talent, dedication and hard work of the 37,000 women and men of 
TechnipFMC. They make us the very best we can be and put our Foundational Beliefs of safety, integrity, quality, respect 
and sustainability into action. I am proud of our people for the steadfast commitment and real progress achieved in our 
sustainability efforts towards the communities in which we live and work, diversity, and the environment. 

Our achievements in 2019
We maintain a leadership position within the industry by promoting excellence, creating value, seeking new and 
pioneering technologies, and delivering for our clients, despite market and economic volatility.

We experienced significant growth during 2019 supported by an unprecedented level of inbound orders of $22.7 billion, 
a 59% increase. As a result, we have built a robust backlog at $24.3 billion, an increase of 67% compared to 2018, with 
more than half of those projects scheduled for execution beyond 2020. Total revenue exceeded $13 billion, supported by 
a higher activity across all segments, representing 7% growth compared to the previous year. 

In Subsea, our full-year inbound was $8 billion, a 50% increase over 2018 which is the highest for the Company in more 
than a decade and more than double that recorded across the industry. Full-year revenue in this segment increased by 
13% over 2018 and in Subsea Services by 15%. Our iEPCI™ integrated model showed significant strength, with award 
value more than doubling compared to earlier years and accounting for more than 40% of total inbound orders. During 
the year, we won 13 iEPCI™ awards, including the Mozambique LNG Subsea project, which is our largest integrated 
subsea project to date. Other wins included Atlantis Phase 3 and Perdido Phase 2 in the Gulf of Mexico, the Pyxis and 
Xena fields in Australia, TOR II in the Norwegian North Sea, and we signed a deepwater strategic collaboration agreement 
with Allseas. Our iEPCI™ offering is now the model of choice for most of our clients.

Onshore/Offshore orders grew by nearly 80% over 2018, driven by more than $8 billion in LNG awards. Projects 
included the Arctic LNG 2 contract from Novatek, which builds upon our success with Yamal LNG. We were also part 
of the winning consortium on ExxonMobil’s Rovuma LNG. We also continued to build our portfolio of sustainable, 
proprietary technologies to further enhance our role in energy transition.

Surface Technologies delivered a 2% revenue increase compared to the prior year. International business accounts for 
more than half of revenue. This strong growth more than offset the steep decline in North America. Our five-year frame 
agreement with Chevron continues to offer us continuity and opportunity. We are optimizing our services and operating 
geographies and continue to transform our North America business by working with our customers to further drive 
operational efficiencies, optimize the worksite footprint, and lower greenhouse emissions. 

During 2019, we continued to capitalize on our strengths. We are in a strong and confident position to embark on the 
transformational changes we plan for 2020 and beyond.
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Sustainability

Sustainability is one of our Foundational Beliefs. It is at the center of everything we do and is a key element in our long-
term success. We have a corporate responsibility to make a lasting and positive impact on our planet, our people, and the 
communities we serve.

We focus our sustainability efforts under three key pillars:

	` Supporting Communities through active engagement in health, education, and local employment. We increased our 
participation in community initiatives from 245 in 27 countries in 2018 to 346 in 33 countries, with our employees 
growing their voluntary hours from 10,000 to 26,500 through our new global iVolunteer program. We also increased 
our Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) promotion from 14 initiatives in eight countries in 2018 
to 58 initiatives in 17 countries last year.

	`Advancing Gender Diversity. We create an environment that encourages everyone to reach their full potential. In 
2018, we reviewed 100% of our job functions to ensure pay equity, and in 2019, we completed all necessary salary 
adjustments based on such review. We will continue to review our gender pay equity every three years. In 2019, to 
foster a diverse and inclusive culture, we launched an e-learning module to raise awareness of our differences and help 
our employees improve and continue to ensure gender advancement and diversity in our succession planning.

	`Respecting the Environment. We aim to reduce our carbon footprint and impact on the planet through innovative and 
sustainable solutions. Our total greenhouse gas emissions decreased in 2019 by 27% compared to the previous year, 
mainly linked to the closure of important engineering, procurement, and construction projects. At the same time, we 
launched a comprehensive Carbon Footprint Training Program implemented by the Company’s HSE department for all 
business levels and projects.

During 2019, we reaffirmed our support for the Ten Principles of the United Nations (UN) Global Compact in the areas 
of Human Rights, Labor, Environment, and Anti-Corruption. TechnipFMC is also a proud member of Building Responsibly 
— an industry-led collaborative initiative enabling construction and engineering companies to collaborate around their 
shared values, advance their compliance programs, and agree on common approaches regarding worker welfare and 
human rights. 

Looking forward
There is no doubt that 2020 will be an exciting and transformational year for TechnipFMC. We start from a strong 
position across all our segments and are well placed to grow during the years ahead. 

In Subsea, we will continue leading the industry. We anticipate ongoing momentum in activity for small to mid-sized 
brownfield projects and a continued healthy outlook for greenfield activity. Emerging markets such as Guyana and 
Mozambique and strengthening activity in markets such as Brazil will be important to us. We expect double-digit growth 
in subsea services to continue, driven in part by digital monitoring, well intervention, and asset refurbishment activities.

Onshore/Offshore will transition to Technip Energies during 2020. We remain confident that additional LNG projects will 
be sanctioned in the near-to-intermediate term. The growth outlook for long-term demand requires additional capacity, 
and natural gas will be critical during the global energy transition. Beyond LNG, we continue to selectively pursue 
refining, petrochemical, and biofuel project opportunities in Europe, the Middle East, Asia, and North America, particularly 
where we can benefit from early engagement or leverage our process technology portfolio.

The focus for Surface Technologies is transforming. While we anticipate double-digit revenue growth outside North 
America supported by our leading technologies and market positions, we anticipate further declines in North America 
through the first half of 2020. Despite the market volatility, we will continue to invest in our people, in solutions — such 
as iProduction — that enable oil and gas producers to reduce cost and carbon intensity, and in local product and service 
capabilities. 
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I firmly believe that, in a time of exciting change for our industry, our long-term strategy of relentless focus on value, 
innovation, and excellence will sustain TechnipFMC in its strong, industry-leading position.

We all look forward to delivering for you in the year ahead and beyond.

Douglas J. Pferdehirt

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
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Company Overview 

TechnipFMC plc, a public limited company incorporated and organized under the laws of England and Wales, with 
registered number 09909709, and with registered office at One St. Paul’s Churchyard, London EC4M 8AP, United 
Kingdom (“TechnipFMC”, the “Company,” “we,” or “our”) is a global energy service company with a portfolio of solutions 
for the production and transformation of hydrocarbons and renewable energy sources. These solutions range from 
discreet products and services to fully integrated solutions based on proprietary technologies, with a clear focus to 
deliver greater efficiency across project lifecycles from concept to delivery and beyond.

We have operational headquarters in Paris, France and Houston, Texas, United States. We operate across three business 
segments: Subsea, Onshore/Offshore, and Surface Technologies. Through these segments, we are levered to the three 
energy growth areas of unconventionals, liquefied natural gas (“LNG”), and deepwater developments.

We have a unique and comprehensive set of capabilities to serve the oil and gas industry. With our proprietary 
technologies and production systems, integration expertise, and comprehensive solutions, we are transforming our 
clients’ project economics.

Enhancement of the Company’s performance and competitiveness is a key component of this strategy that is achieved 
through technology and innovation differentiation, seamless execution, and reliance on simplification to drive costs down. 
We are targeting profitable and sustainable growth by seizing market growth opportunities and expanding our range of 
services, and we are managing our assets efficiently to ensure that we are well-prepared to drive and benefit from the 
opportunities we are experiencing in many of the segments we serve.

Each of our more than 37,000 employees is driven by a steadfast commitment to clients and a culture of purposeful 
innovation, challenging industry conventions, and finding new and better ways of working to unlock possibilities. This 
leads to fresh thinking, streamlined decisions, and smarter results, enabling us to achieve our vision of enhancing the 
performance of the world’s energy industry.

History
In March 2015, FMC Technologies, Inc., a U.S. Delaware corporation (“FMC Technologies”), and Technip S.A., a French 
société anonyme (“Technip”), signed an agreement to form an exclusive alliance and to launch Forsys Subsea, a 50/50 
joint venture, that would unite the subsea skills and capabilities of two industry leaders. This alliance, which became 
operational on June 1, 2015, was established to identify new and innovative approaches to the design, delivery, and 
maintenance of subsea fields.

Forsys Subsea brought the industry’s most talented subsea professionals together early in operators’ project concept 
phase with the technical capabilities to design and integrate products, systems, and installation to significantly reduce the 
cost of subsea field development and enhance overall project economics.

Based on the success of the Forsys Subsea joint venture and its innovative approach to integrated solutions, Technip 
and FMC Technologies announced in May 2016 that the companies would combine through a merger of equals to create 
a global subsea leader, TechnipFMC, that would drive change by redefining the production of oil and gas. The business 
combination was completed on January 16, 2017 (the “Merger”), and on January 17, 2017, TechnipFMC began operating 
as a unified, combined company trading on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and on the Euronext Paris Stock 
Exchange (“Euronext Paris”) under the symbol “FTI.”

In 2017, our first year as a merged company, TechnipFMC secured several project awards as many operators moved 
forward with final investment decisions for major onshore projects and subsea developments. Several of the subsea 
awards incorporated the use of our integrated approach to project delivery, validating our unique business model aimed 
at lowering project costs and accelerating the delivery of initial hydrocarbon production. This was made possible by 
bringing together the complimentary subsea work scopes of the merged companies.
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In 2018, TechnipFMC delivered the industry’s first three full-cycle, integrated projects and realized considerable growth 
in Subsea order inbound, driven in part by its unique integrated offering, iEPCI™ (“iEPCI”). For all of 2019, the value of 
integrated subsea awards to TechnipFMC more than doubled versus the prior year, representing more than 50% of all 
Subsea project order inbound. The increase was driven by a wider adoption of the integrated business model, particularly 
with those clients where we have unique alliances. With the industry’s most comprehensive and only truly integrated 
subsea market offering, we have continued to expand the deepwater opportunity set for our customers.

TechnipFMC’s expertise does not end with the production of hydrocarbons. Because of its best in class Engineering 
and Construction (“E&C”) project design and execution capabilities, enabled by a portfolio of proprietary technologies, 
TechnipFMC continues to secure and deliver projects that further enable our clients to monetize resources — from 
liquefaction of gas, both onshore and on floating vessels, through refining and product facilities and with green chemistry 
and renewables.

On August 26, 2019, the Company announced that it will separate into two diversified pure-play market leaders — 
TechnipFMC, focused on subsea and surface hydrocarbon production, and Technip Energies, focused on downstream 
engineering, procurement, and construction (“EPC”) project execution. We expect to complete the transaction in the 
first half of 2020, subject to financing, general market conditions, regulatory approvals, consultation of employee 
representatives, where applicable, and final approval from our Board of Directors. The separation will enable both 
companies to benefit from distinct and compelling market opportunities across the energy value chain; dedicated focus  
of management; resources and capital; and unique value propositions with differentiated investment appeal.

	` TechnipFMC will be a fully-integrated technology and services provider, driving energy development across 
deepwater, conventional, and unconventional resources. The Company continues to successfully demonstrate 
leadership in integrated subsea project delivery and is focused on replicating this success through the development of 
integrated production models for the surface market. TechnipFMC is also poised to benefit from service opportunities 
resulting from the world’s largest installed base of subsea production equipment, umbilicals, risers, and flowlines.

	` Technip Energies will be a leading engineering and construction player, with a robust project delivery model, strong 
technical capabilities, and proven track record as demonstrated by the successful execution of some of the world’s 
most iconic EPC projects. The new company will continue to leverage its industry-leading process technology 
portfolio, particularly in the areas of ethylene and hydrogen, while pursuing further opportunities to enhance and 
differentiate this portfolio.

The Company continues to innovate and introduce new technologies across our portfolio of products and services. 
TechnipFMC’s strong operational performance in 2019 was driven by a relentless focus on operational execution, while 
our significant growth in project backlog provides improved visibility for our businesses for 2020 and beyond.
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Financial Highlights and Business Overview
Governance

Combined the roles of 
Chairman and CEO

Olivier Piou and John Yearwood were appointed  
as directors to replace two retired directors 

 

	`Enhanced disclosures 
regarding shareholder 
feedback and our response

	` Improved disclosures 
regarding Board 
composition and succession 
planning

Strategic Transaction

Announced spin-off of Technip Energies creating two industry-leading publicly traded companies

TechnipFMC (RemainCo)
	`Unlocking value, realizing potential

	` TechnipFMC will retain Subsea and Surface 
Technologies segments (noted exceptions to SpinCo)

	` Listings: NYSE, Euronext Paris

	`HQ: Houston; Domicile: United Kingdom

	`Employees: ~22,000 

TechnipFMC (SpinCo)
	`Capitalizing on structural growth trends

	` Spin-off will include Onshore/Offshore segment 
(including Genesis), Loading Systems (Surface 
Technologies), and Cybernetix (Subsea)

	` Listing: Euronext Paris

	`HQ: Paris; Domicile: Netherlands

	`Employees: ~15,000

Financials1

 Subsea  Onshore/Offshore  Surface Technologies 

Results
	`Revenue growth of 14% versus the 
prior year, driven by double-digit 
growth in both project and service 
activities

	` Integrated project activity a higher 
mix of business portfolio

	`Backlog of $8.5 billion

Results
	` Three quarters of sequential 
revenue growth, as segment 
revenue has inflected above the 
2018 trough

	`Revenue growth, excluding the 
Yamal LNG project, exceeded  
25% versus the prior year

	`Backlog of $15.3 billion

Results
	`Revenue growth of more than 
15% in markets outside of North 
America versus the prior year

	` Surface international revenues 
account for more than 50%  
of total segment

	`Backlog of $0.5 billion

(1) Reported financial results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 and inbound and backlog as of December 31, 2019 are as reported in 
our Financial Statements as set out in this U.K. Annual Report.
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Business Segments
Subsea
The Subsea segment provides integrated design, engineering, procurement, manufacturing, fabrication, installation, 
and life of field services for subsea systems, subsea field infrastructure, and subsea pipe systems used in oil and 
gas production and transportation. We are a fully-integrated technology and services provider, continuing to drive 
responsible energy development.

We are an industry leader in front-end engineering and design (“FEED”), subsea production systems (“SPS”), subsea 
flexible pipe, and subsea umbilicals, risers, and flowlines (“SURF”). We also have the capability to install these products 
and related subsea infrastructure with our fleet of highly specialized vessels. By integrating the SPS and SURF work 
scopes, we are uniquely able to drive greater value to our clients through more efficient execution of the installation 
campaign. This, in conjunction with our strong commercial focus, has enabled the successful market introduction of 
an integrated subsea business model, iEPCI, which spans a project’s early phase design through the life of field. Our 
integrated business model is unlocking incremental opportunities and materially expanding the deepwater opportunity 
set. Since the first iEPCI project was awarded in 2016, market adoption of the business model has accelerated each year, 
and in 2019 we secured more than 75% of the industry’s integrated project awards.

Through integrated FEED studies, or iFEED™ (“iFEED”), we are uniquely positioned to influence project concept and 
design. Using innovative solutions for field architecture, including standardized equipment, new technologies, and 
simplified installation, we can significantly reduce subsea development costs and accelerate time to first production.

Our first-mover advantage and ability to convert iFEED studies into iEPCI contracts, often as a direct award, creates 
a unique set of opportunities for the Company that are not available to our peers. This allows us to deliver a fully 
integrated — and technologically differentiated — subsea system, and to better manage the complete work scope through 
a single contracting mechanism and a single interface, yielding meaningful improvements in project economics and time 
to first oil.

We continue to support our clients following project delivery by offering aftermarket and life of field services. Our wide 
range of capabilities and solutions, including integrated life of field, or iLOF™ (“iLOF”), allows TechnipFMC to help clients 
increase oil and gas recovery and equipment uptime while reducing overall cost. Our iLOF offering is designed to unlock 
the full potential of subsea infrastructures during operations by transforming the way subsea services are delivered and 
proactively addressing the challenges operators face over the life of subsea fields. We provide production optimization, 
asset life extension insight, proactive debottlenecking, and condition-based maintenance.

Our Subsea business depends on our ability to maintain a cost-effective and efficient production system, achieve planned 
equipment production targets, successfully develop new products, and meet or exceed stringent performance and 
reliability standards.

Principal Products and Services
Subsea Production Systems. Our systems are used in the offshore production of crude oil and natural gas. Subsea 
systems are placed on the seafloor and are used to control the flow of crude oil and natural gas from the reservoir to a 
host processing facility, such as a floating production facility, a fixed platform, or an onshore facility.

Our subsea production systems and products include subsea trees, chokes and flow modules, manifold pipeline systems, 
control and data management systems, well access systems, multiphase and wetgas meters, and additional technologies. 
The design and manufacture of our subsea systems requires a high degree of technical expertise and innovation. Some of 
our systems are designed to withstand exposure to the extreme hydrostatic pressure of deepwater environments, as well 
as internal pressures of up to 20,000 pounds per square inch (“psi”) and temperatures of up to 400º F. The development 
of our integrated subsea production systems includes initial engineering design studies and field development planning 
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and considers all relevant aspects and project requirements, including optimization of drilling programs and subsea 
architecture.

Subsea Processing Systems. Our subsea processing systems, which include subsea boosting, subsea gas compression, 
and subsea separation, are designed to accelerate production, increase recovery, extend field life, and/or lower operators’ 
production costs for greenfield, subsea tie-backs and brownfield applications. To provide these products, systems, 
and services, we utilize our engineering, project management, procurement, manufacturing, and assembly and test 
capabilities.

Flexible Pipe and Umbilical Supply. We engineer and manufacture flexible pipes as well as steel tube, thermoplastic hose, 
power and communication and hybrid (a combination of steel tube, thermoplastic hose, and electrical cables) umbilicals. 
TechnipFMC vessels will typically perform the installation of the flexible pipes and umbilicals, but we also sell these 
products directly to oil companies or to other vessel operators.

Vessels. We operate a fleet of 18 vessels. Of the 18 vessels currently in operation, we have sole ownership of ten 
vessels, ownership of six vessels as part of joint ventures, and operate two vessels under long-term charter.

We wholly own four pipelay support vessels and jointly own six subsea construction vessels. The jointly-owned vessels 
operate under a 50/50 ownership structure exclusively in the Brazilian market. These vessels are primarily contracted 
to Petróleo Brasileiro S.A. - Petrobras (“Petrobras”), principally to install umbilical and flexible flowlines and risers to 
connect subsea wells to floating production units across a range of water depths. We also own three subsea construction 
vessels and have long-term charter agreements for two other construction vessels. The Company also owns three dive 
support vessels.

Subsea Services. We provide a portfolio of services that improve uptime, lower lifecycle costs and increase recovery 
over the life of the field for our clients’ subsea assets. These services include: (i) provision of exploration and production 
wellhead systems and services; (ii) remotely operated vehicle (“ROV”) services; (iii) installation and well completion rig 
services; (iv) maintenance services for test, modification, refurbishment, and upgrade of subsea equipment and tooling; 
(v) asset integrity services based on product and field data to optimize the performance of the subsea asset, including 
proactive inspection, maintenance, and repair (“IMR”) of subsea infrastructure; (vi) well access and intervention services, 
both rig-based and vessel-based (riserless light well intervention or “RLWI”); (vii) production management services to 
enhance well and field production, including subsea multiphase boosting and real time virtual metering services; and (viii) 
well plug, abandonment and decommissioning. Our vision is to transform the customer experience with an agile services 
culture and grow our business across the life of the field.

Key drivers of subsea services market activity are the inspection and maintenance of subsea infrastructure, driven in 
large part by aging infrastructure on mature fields. The need for well intervention services also continues to grow, with 
more than 6,500 wells operated globally.

With our extensive experience in subsea equipment, our large installed base of subsea production equipment, our broad 
range of services, and our historical technical design and manufacturing leadership, we are in a unique position to offer 
integrated solutions across the “life of field” services combining asset light solutions (e.g. RLWI), digital services (e.g. 
data driven monitoring, surveillance and production management suite of applications), and leading edge automated 
systems (e.g. Schilling ROVs) to enhance the economics of producing fields through maximization of asset uptime, higher 
production volumes, and lower operating expense.

Robotics, Controls and Automation. We design and manufacture ROVs and manipulator arms that are used in subsea 
drilling, construction, IMR, and life of field services. Our product offering includes electric and hydraulic work-class ROVs, 
tether-management systems, launch and recovery systems, remote manipulator arms, and modular control systems. We 
also provide support and services such as product training, pilot simulator training, spare parts, and technical assistance.

We also provide electro-hydraulic and electric production and intervention control systems, allowing accurate control and 
monitoring of subsea installations to ensure the highest production availability that can ensure safe and environmentally 
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friendly field operations. These include the sensors, multiphase flow meters, digital infrastructure, integrity monitoring, 
control functionality, and automation features needed for subsea systems. Robotics capabilities are now being used in the 
control of manifold valves during production, which demonstrates a convergence of our technologies in order to provide 
better systems for our customers.

Research, Engineering, Manufacturing and Supply Chain (“REMS”). REMS is an organization we formed in September of 
2019 to support accelerated technology innovation, and product delivery improvements. We accomplish this by reducing 
the cycle-time of engineering and manufacturing our products, including working with our suppliers to reduce their costs, 
and optimizing our processes and how we manage workflow. Through REMS, we are focused on challenging the existing 
technologies and implementing world-class manufacturing practices, including LEAN and process automation, to improve 
reliability while reducing total product cost and lead time to delivery. Our REMS organization primarily supports our 
Subsea segment but is also integrated across our Surface Technologies business.

Also this year, we established a Product Management function to further our capabilities to understand, define, and 
deliver the technologies and products of the future. This function will provide a complement to REMS, Subsea and 
Surface business, and will drive the understanding of customer requirements, competitive landscape, and investment 
prioritization.

Capital Intensity
Many of the systems and products we supply for subsea applications are highly engineered to meet the unique 
demands of our customers’ field properties and are typically ordered one to two years prior to installation. We often 
receive advance payments and progress billings from our customers to fund initial development and working capital 
requirements.

Dependence on Key Customers
Generally, our customers in the Subsea segment are major integrated oil companies, national oil companies, and 
independent exploration and production companies.

We actively pursue alliances with companies that are engaged in the subsea development of oil and natural gas to 
promote our integrated systems for subsea production. These alliances are typically related to the procurement of subsea 
production equipment, although some alliances are related to EPCI services. Development of subsea fields, particularly in 
deepwater environments, involves substantial capital investments. Operators have also sought the security of alliances 
with us to ensure timely and cost-effective delivery of subsea and other energy-related systems that provide integrated 
solutions to meet their needs.

Our alliances establish important ongoing relationships with our customers. While these alliances do not contractually 
commit our customers to purchase our systems and services, they have historically led to, and we expect that they 
would continue to result in, such purchases.

The commitment to our customers goes beyond project delivery, and we nurture these alliances with transparency and 
collaboration to better understand their needs to ensure customer success.

No single Subsea customer accounted for 10% or more of our 2019 consolidated revenue.

Competition
We are the only fully integrated company that can provide the complete suite of subsea production equipment, 
umbilicals, and flowlines with the complete portfolio of installation services enabling us to develop a subsea field as a 
single company. Our Company competes with companies that supply some of the components as well as installation 
companies. Our competitors include Aker Solutions ASA, Baker Hughes Company (“Baker Hughes”), Dril-Quip, Inc., 
McDermott International, Inc. (“McDermott”), National Oilwell Varco, Oceaneering International, Inc., Saipem S.p.A. 
(“Saipem”), Schlumberger, Ltd. (“Schlumberger”), and Subsea 7 S.A.
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Seasonality
In the North Sea, winter weather generally subdues drilling activity, reducing vessel utilization and demand for subsea 
services as certain activities cannot be performed. As a result, the level of offshore activity in our Subsea segment is 
negatively impacted in the first quarter of each year.

Market Environment
The volatile, and generally low, crude oil price environment over the last four years led many of our customers to reduce 
their capital spending plans or defer new deepwater projects. The reduction and deferral of projects resulted in delayed 
subsea project inbound for the industry. In response to the lower commodity prices and reduced cash flow, operators 
took actions needed to improve their subsea project economics, and suppliers, in turn, took the steps necessary to further 
reduce project break-even levels by offering cost-effective approaches for project developments. These actions continue.

The rate of project sanctioning for new subsea developments has moved higher since the market trough as project 
economics and operator confidence have improved. Similarly to other parts of the market (e.g. onshore), the trajectory 
and pace of further recovery and expansion in the subsea market is subject to the allocation of capital our clients 
dedicate to developing offshore oil and gas fields amongst their entire portfolio of projects and drivers of capital 
expansion or discipline. The risk of project sanctioning delays is still present in the current environment; however, 
innovative approaches to subsea projects, like our iEPCI solution, have improved project economics, and many offshore 
discoveries can be developed economically at today’s crude oil prices. In the long-term, deepwater development is 
expected to remain a significant part of many of our customers’ portfolios.

Strategy
With our proprietary technologies and production systems, integration expertise, and comprehensive solutions, we are 
transforming our clients’ project economics. We have used these capabilities to develop a new subsea commercial model 
that is transforming the way we interact with our customers and create value with them.

Our strategy includes the following priorities:

	`Engagement in the conceptual design and integrated front-end engineering, or iFEED, of subsea development projects 
to create value through technology and integration of scopes (iEPCI) by simplifying field architecture and accelerating 
both delivery schedules and time to first production;

	` Innovative research and development (“R&D”), often in collaboration with clients and partners, to develop leading 
products and technologies that deliver greater efficiency to the client, lower development costs, unlock stranded and/
or marginal fields, and enable frontier developments;

	` Focus on selecting the right projects to ensure a strong and healthy backlog;

	` Superior project execution capabilities allowing the Company to mobilize the right teams, assets, and facilities to 
capture and profitably execute complex subsea projects and services;

	`Capitalize on combined competencies coming from alliances and partnerships with both clients and suppliers; and

	` Leverage supplier relationships to optimize supply chain market dynamics and implement greater simplification and 
standardization in products and processes.

TechnipFMC is a clear leader in the subsea industry. Our success has been built on our technological strength, innovation, 
focus on digitalization, and strong partnerships with major oil companies to expand market opportunities.

Recent and Future Developments
In 2019, our Subsea inbound orders increased more than 50% versus the prior year, driven by further adoption of the 
integrated model and growth in services activity. The value of integrated project awards also more than doubled from 
the levels we recorded in 2018. Subsea services continued to benefit from the industry’s largest and expanding installed 
base, with growth in the year reflecting increased installation, asset refurbishment and well intervention activities. 
Subsea services remain on track for double-digit growth in 2020.
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We continue to focus on performance improvement and optimization strategies that will improve our profitability. Our 
investments decisions fully support our business with technologies that will differentiate our portfolio.

In December 2019, we completed the sale of the G1201 vessel as part of our overall strategy to optimize the profile 
and size of its subsea fleet. In addition to the sale transaction we also executed a Memorandum of Agreement which 
includes a Collaboration Agreement with the buyer that provides five years of exclusivity for a list of named subsea 
projects in a specific jurisdiction and the right of first refusal for other projects. This followed the announcement of our 
Strategic Collaboration Agreement with Allseas aimed at jointly pursuing specific deepwater projects where the assets, 
products and capabilities of both companies are complementary. This supports the Company’s intent to use collaboration 
agreements, where possible, to execute its differentiated iEPCI™ business model.

We received the industry’s first award of a 20K high-pressure, high-temperature system for LLOG’s Shenandoah project in 
the Gulf of Mexico. This new technology was the result of our joint industry program that included 5 major operators. This 
was the first time the industry collaborated to develop a new subsea system focused on the delivery of a single-part number 
and designed to handle hydrocarbons under the industry’s most extreme pressure and temperature conditions to date.

We have accelerated our digital journey to deliver an integrated digital thread from Front End to Services, thus enhancing 
the performance of our products and services as well as safety and asset integrity. With its presence all along the oil 
and gas value chain, TechnipFMC is well-placed to leverage data to improve and enhance the performance of our clients’ 
assets, optimize operational costs, deliver predictive and preventive maintenance, and enable remote operations.

Our inbound order growth for the full year was significantly better than the total Subsea market growth. This high level 
of growth came in the third year of a market recovery and is the highest annual growth rate we have experienced in 
a decade. Strength in project activity, as well as our expectation for double-digit revenue growth in Subsea Services, 
provides the framework for 2020 Subsea orders to approach the level achieved in 2019, although this remains 
dependent on the timing of one or two major project awards. We expect our iEPCI capabilities to provide a competitive 
advantage as we deliver comprehensive and differentiated solutions. In addition, we anticipate the following longer-term 
trends in the subsea market:

	` Increased market adoption of integrated subsea projects, leading to further penetration of our integrated business 
model and higher levels of iEPCI order activity for our Company;

	`Growing service opportunities, driven by (i) higher levels of project activity, (ii) increased asset integrity and 
production management activities focused on improving uptime and production volume and lowering emissions, and 
(iii) increased maintenance and intervention activity resulting from an expanding and aging installed equipment base;

	` Smaller projects and direct awards will continue to contribute meaningfully to our order mix. In 2018 and 2019, 
these awards collectively represented just under one-half of our total subsea inbound orders, with the remainder 
being publicly announced projects and subsea service activities. Subsea tiebacks are often part of this mix, and these 
shorter cycle brownfield expansions provide operators with faster paybacks and higher returns;

	` There is a growing trend towards independent operators and new entrants undertaking subsea developments; we are 
a natural partner for this customer group because of our ability to offer fully integrated solutions; and

	`Natural gas developments are growing in prominence. We believe that more than 20% of offshore capital 
expenditures could be directed at natural gas developments by early next decade. We also anticipate that 45% of gas 
production will come from offshore, with significant growth in the Middle East (shallow water) followed by Australia 
(deep water) in the next five years.

We continue to work closely with our customers and believe that, in the context of lower oil prices, with our unique 
business model we can further reduce their project break-even levels by offering cost-effective approaches to their 
project developments and accelerate time to first oil and gas.
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Product Development
In 2014, we entered into a joint development agreement with several major operators to develop common standards  
for subsea production equipment capable of operating at pressures as high as 20,000 psi and temperatures up to  
350º F. This joint development agreement is delivering standardized design, materials, processes, and interfaces 
to provide improved reliability and operations over the life of the field. The first major achievement of this joint 
development effort, and further highlighting our technology-based solutions focused on creating customer success, we 
delivered a complete production system for Shell’s high-pressure and high-temperature Appomattox field in the Gulf of 
Mexico in 2018, and Shell began producing from Appomattox in May of 2019.

Technology development progressed on our Subsea 2.0TM product platform, the next generation of subsea equipment, 
using designs that are significantly simpler, leaner, and smarter than current designs. These new products incorporate 
a modular product architecture and component level standardization to enable a flexible configure-to-order approach, 
reducing hardware delivery time for clients. The products are expected to deliver breakthroughs in the way subsea 
products are manufactured, assembled, installed, and maintained over the life of the field. The smaller, lighter products 
achieve up to a 50% reduction in size, weight, and part count, while maintaining the same or improved functionality. 
When combined with iEPCI, our powerful integrated approach to field architecture, and project execution, Subsea 2.0TM 
improves project economics and unlocks first oil and gas faster.

In addition to investments to develop lower cost production solutions, we also invest in the development of technology 
to expand our service portfolio. We have qualified new technology to enable the inspection of flexible risers and 
flowlines. We also are advancing subsea robotic productivity through the development of more efficient ROV systems 
that are easier to operate and maintain.

Acquisitions and Investments
In February 2018, we signed an agreement with the Island Offshore Group to acquire a 51% stake in Island Offshore’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Island Offshore Subsea AS. Island Offshore Subsea AS provides RLWI project management 
and engineering services for plug and abandonment (“P&A”), riserless coiled tubing, and well completion operations. 
In connection with the acquisition of the controlling interest, TechnipFMC and Island Offshore entered into a strategic 
cooperation agreement to deliver RLWI services on a worldwide basis, which also include TechnipFMC’s RLWI capabilities. 
Island Offshore Subsea AS has been rebranded to TechnipFMC Island Offshore Subsea (“TIOS”) and is now the operating 
unit for TechnipFMC’s RLWI activities worldwide.

In March 2018, we announced a collaboration agreement with Magma Global Ltd. to develop a new generation of 
hybrid flexible pipe (“HFP”) for use in offshore applications. HFP is expected to provide increased strength and fatigue 
performance, while also achieving dramatic weight and cost reductions, for subsea fluid transport applications. As part 
of the collaboration, TechnipFMC purchased a minority stake in Magma Global. We are advanced in creating our new HFP 
and continue working towards important milestones in the qualification process.

In January 2019, we acquired a new dive support vessel, the Deep Discoverer, to replace a vessel we retired in support 
of our fleet optimization strategy. The acquisition was somewhat opportunistic, but allowed us to obtain a high-quality, 
top-tier vessel significantly below newbuild cost and without a protracted delivery schedule. The vessel will operate 
primarily in the dive construction, inspection, maintenance, and repair markets in the North Sea and can also support our 
iEPCI™ initiative in the region.

In December 2019, we completed the acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in Technip Odebrecht PLSV CV (“TOP 
CV”). TOP CV was formed as a joint venture between Technip SA and Ocyan SA to provide pipeline installation ships to 
Petrobras for its work in oil and gas fields offshore Brazil.
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Onshore/Offshore
The Onshore/Offshore segment offers a full range of design, project management and construction services to our 
customers spanning the entire downstream value chain, including technical consulting, concept selection, and final 
acceptance test. We have been successful in meeting our clients’ needs given our proven skills in managing large EPC 
projects. When our announced separation is complete, this segment will be the cornerstone of Technip Energies.

Our Onshore business combines the study, engineering, procurement, construction, and project management of the entire 
range of onshore facilities related to the production, treatment, and transportation of oil and gas, the transformation 
of petrochemicals such as ethylene, polymers, and fertilizers, as well as other activities, and the commercialization of 
renewable energy and feedstocks.

We conduct large-scale, complex, and challenging projects that involve extreme climatic conditions and non-conventional 
resources and are subject to increasing environmental and regulatory performance standards. We rely on technological 
know-how for process design and engineering, either through the integration of technologies from leading alliance 
partners or through our own technologies. We seek to integrate and develop advanced technologies and reinforce our 
strong project execution capabilities in each of our Onshore activities.

Our Offshore business combines the study, engineering, procurement, construction, and project management within the 
entire range of fixed and floating offshore facilities, many of which were the first of their kind, including the development 
of floating liquefied natural gas (“FLNG”) facilities.

Principal Products and Services
Onshore E&C. We design and build different types of facilities for the development of onshore oil and gas, processing 
facilities, and product export systems. In addition, we renovate existing facilities by modernizing production equipment 
and control systems, in accordance with applicable environmental standards.

Refining. We are a leader in the design and construction of oil refineries. We manage many aspects of these projects, 
including the preparation of concept and feasibility studies, and the design, construction, and start-up of complex 
refineries or single refinery units. We have been involved in the design and construction of over 30 new refineries or 
major refinery expansions, and are one of the few contractors in the world to have built seven new refineries since 
2000. We have extensive experience with technologies related to refining and have completed more than 840 individual 
process units within major expansion or refurbishment projects, implemented in more than 75 countries. As a result of 
our cooperation with the most highly renowned technology licensors and catalyst suppliers and our strong technological 
expertise and refinery consulting services, we are able to provide an independent selection of appropriate technologies 
to meet specific project and client targets. These technologies result in direct benefits to the client, such as emission 
control and environmental protection, including hydrogen and carbon dioxide management, sulfur recovery units, 
water treatment, and zero flaring. With a strong record of accomplishment in refinery optimization projects, we have 
experience and competence in relevant technological fields in the oil refining sector.

Natural Gas Treatment and Liquefaction. We offer a complete range of services across the gas value chain to support our 
clients’ capital projects from concept to delivery. Our capabilities include the design and construction of facilities for LNG, 
gas-to-liquids (“GTL”), natural gas liquids (“NGL”) recovery, and gas treatment.

In the field of LNG, we pioneered base-load LNG plant construction through the first-ever facility in Arzew, Algeria. 
Working with our partners, we have constructed facilities that can deliver more than 105 million metric tonnes per 
annum (“Mtpa”), which is a significant portion of the global liquefaction capacity in operation today. TechnipFMC brings 
knowledge and conceptual design capabilities that are unique among engineering and construction companies involved 
in LNG. We have engineered and delivered a broad range of LNG plants, including mid-scale and very large-scale plants, 
both onshore and offshore, and plants in remote locations. We have experience in the complete range of services for LNG 
receiving terminals from conceptual design studies to EPC. Reference projects include LNG trains in Qatar (the six largest 
ever constructed), Yemen, and a series of mid-scale LNG plants in China, and together with our joint venture partners, we 
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delivered first phase of the Yamal LNG plant (“Yamal”) in the Russian Arctic with all three trains put in production before 
the end of 2018. During 2019, the Arctic LNG 2 project for Novatek was sanctioned following award of the EPC contract 
to us, together with our joint venture partners.

We are also well-positioned in the GTL market and are one of the few contractors with experience in large GTL facilities. 
We have unique experience in delivering plants using Sasol’s “Slurry Phase Distillate” technology, and we have provided 
front-end engineering design for the Fischer-Tropsch section of more than 60% of commercial liquids conversion capacity 
worldwide. Our clients also benefit from our development of environmental protection measures, including low nitrogen 
oxide and sulfur oxide emissions, waste-water treatment, and waste management.

We specialize in the design and construction of large-scale gas treatment complexes as well as existing facility upgrades. 
Gas treatment includes the removal of carbon dioxide and sulfur components from natural gas using chemical or physical 
solvents, sulfur recovery, and gas sweetening processes based on the use of an amine solvent. The Company ranks 
among the top contractors in the field in relation to sulfur recovery units installed in refineries or natural gas processing 
plants. Given our long-term experience in the field of sour gas processing, we can provide support to clients for the 
overall evaluation of the gas sweetening/sulfur recovery chain and the selection of optimum technologies.

Ethylene. We hold proprietary technologies and are a leader in the design, construction, and commissioning of ethylene 
production plants. We design steam crackers, from concept stage through construction and commissioning, for both 
new plants (including mega-crackers) and plant expansions. We have a portfolio of the latest generation of commercially 
proven technologies and are uniquely positioned to be both a licensor and an EPC contractor. Our technological 
developments have improved the energy efficiency in ethylene plants by improving thermal efficiency of the furnaces 
and reducing the compression power required per ton, thereby reducing carbon dioxide emissions per ton of ethylene by 
30% over the last 25 years.

Petrochemicals and Fertilizers. We are one of the world leaders in the process design, licensing, and realization of 
petrochemical units, including basic chemicals, intermediate and derivative plants. We provide a range of services that 
includes process technology licensing and development and full EPC complexes. We license a portfolio of chemical 
technologies through long-standing alliances and relationships with leading manufacturing companies and technology 
providers. We have research centers to develop and test technologies for polymer and petrochemical applications, where 
fully automated pilot plants gather design data to scale-up processes for commercialization.

Hydrogen. Hydrogen is the most widely used industrial gas in the refining, chemical, and petrochemical industries, and is 
also widely used in the production of cleaner transport fuels. We offer a single point of responsibility for the design and 
construction of hydrogen and synthesis gas production units, with solutions ranging from Process Design Packages to 
full lump-sum turnkey projects. We also offer services for maintenance and performance optimization of running units. 
We have solutions in place for carbon capture readiness in future hydrogen plants, targeting more than a two-thirds 
reduction in carbon dioxide release from the hydrogen plant.

Fixed Platforms. We offer a broad range of fixed platform solutions in shallow water, including: (i) large conventional 
platforms with pile steel jackets whose topsides are installed offshore either by heavy lift vessel or floatover; (ii) small, 
conventional platforms installed by small crane vessel; (iii) steel gravity-based structure platforms, generally with 
floatover topsides; and (iv) small to large self-installing platforms.

Floating Production Units. We offer a broad range of floating platform solutions for moderate to ultra-deepwater 
applications, including:

	` Spar Platforms: Capable of operating in a wide range of water depths, the Spar is a low motion floater that can 
support full drilling with dry trees or with tender assist and flexible or steel catenary risers. The Spar topside is 
installed offshore either by heavy lift vessel or floatover.

	` Semi-Submersible Platforms: These platforms are well-suited for oil field developments where subsea wells drilled by 
a mobile offshore drilling unit are appropriate. Semi-Submersibles can operate in a wide range of water depths and 
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may have full drilling and large topside capabilities. We have our own unique design of low-motion Semi-Submersible 
platforms that can accommodate dry trees.

	` Tension-Leg Platforms (“TLP”): An appropriate platform for deepwater drilling and production in water depths up to 
approximately 1,500 meters, the TLP can be configured with full drilling or with tender assist and is generally a dry 
tree unit. The TLP and our topside can be integrated onto the substructure in a cost-effective manner at quayside.

Floating Production, Storage and Offloading (“FPSO”). Working with our construction partners, we have delivered some 
of the largest FPSOs in the world. FPSOs enable offshore production and storage of oil which is then transported by 
a tanker where pipeline export is uneconomic or technically challenged (e.g., ultra-deepwater). FPSOs utilize onshore 
processes adapted to a floating marine environment. They can support large topsides and hence large production 
capacities. Leveraging our industry-leading capabilities in gas monetization, particularly FLNG, we are currently well-
positioned to leverage the global offshore gas cycle with gas FPSOs.

Floating Liquefied Natural Gas (“FLNG”). FLNG is an innovative alternative to traditional onshore LNG plants and 
is suitable for remote and stranded gas fields that were previously deemed uneconomical. FLNG is a commercially 
attractive approach to the monetization of offshore gas fields. It avoids the cost of building and operating long-distance 
pipelines and extensive onshore infrastructure. We pioneered the FLNG industry and are the only contractor to integrate 
all of the core activities required to deliver an FLNG project: LNG process, offshore facilities, loading systems, and subsea 
infrastructure. We delivered the industry’s first and largest FLNG facilities and are currently executing ENI’s Coral South 
FLNG, which will be installed offshore Mozambique in East Africa.

Capital Intensity
Our Onshore/Offshore business executes turnkey contracts on a lump-sum or reimbursable basis through engineering, 
procurement, construction, and project management services on both brownfield and greenfield developments and 
projects. We can execute EPC contracts through sole responsibility, joint ventures, or consortiums with other companies. 
We often receive advance payments and progress billings from our customers to fund initial development and working 
capital requirements. However, our working capital balances can vary significantly through the project lifecycle 
depending on the payment terms and timing on contracts.

Dependence on Key Customers
Generally, our Onshore/Offshore customers are major integrated oil companies or national oil companies. We have 
developed long-term relationships with our main clients around our portfolio of technologies, expertise in project 
management, and strong execution. Our customers have sought the security of partnerships with us to ensure timely and 
cost-effective delivery of their projects.

One customer, JSC Yamal LNG, represented more than 10% of 2019 consolidated revenue. We do not anticipate JSC 
Yamal LNG representing more than 10% of our consolidated revenue beyond 2019 as the project nears completion. We 
consolidate all revenue from the JSC Yamal LNG partnership, including revenue associated with the minority partners of 
the joint venture.

Competition
In the onshore market, we face a large number of competitors, including U.S. companies (Bechtel Corporation, Fluor 
Corporation, KBR, Inc. (“KBR”), and McDermott), Asian and Australian companies (Chiyoda Corporation, JGC Corporation, 
Hyundai Oilbank, Samsung Engineering Co., Ltd, SK Energy Co., Ltd, and WorleyParsons Limited), European companies 
(John Wood Group plc, Maire Tecnimont Group, Petrofac, Ltd., Saipem, and Tecnicas Reunidas, S.A.). In addition, we 
compete against smaller, specialized, and locally-based engineering and construction companies in certain countries or for 
specific units such as petrochemicals.

Competition in the Offshore market is relatively fragmented and includes various players with different core capabilities, 
including offshore construction contractors, shipyards, leasing contractors, and local yards in Asia Pacific, the Middle East, 
and Africa. Competitors include China Offshore Oil Engineering Co., Ltd., Daewoo Shipbuilding & Marine Engineering Co., 
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Ltd., Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd., JGC Corporation, KBR, McDermott, MODEC Inc., Saipem, and Samsung Heavy 
Industries Co., Ltd.

Seasonality
Our Onshore business is generally not impacted by seasonality. Our Offshore business could be impacted by seasonality 
in the North Sea and other harsh environment regions during the offshore installation campaign at the end of a project.

Market Environment
The onshore market is impacted by changes in oil and gas prices, but is typically more resilient than offshore markets. 
Indeed, some downstream markets have benefited from low commodity prices where market fundamentals are 
influenced by other economic factors (e.g., petrochemicals and fertilizers that are linked to global growth). This market 
dynamic is mostly present in developing countries with rapidly growing energy demand (in particular, Asia) and countries 
with abundant oil and gas reserves that have decided to expand downstream (in particular, the Middle East and 
Russia). The onshore market remains relatively small in Western Europe with a diversity of projects, including a second 
generation of bio ethanol plants. The North American onshore market is experiencing a strong recovery in the wake of 
the oil and gas shale revolution.

The offshore market is more directly impacted by changes in oil prices. Offshore fields in the Gulf of Mexico, the 
Middle East, and the North Sea were the traditional backbone for investments in the last decade. Recent discoveries of 
offshore fields with reserves in other regions such as Brazil, Australia, and East Africa are expected to become drivers of 
increased investment. In the long-term, gas is expected to become a bigger portion of the global energy mix, requiring 
new investments in the upstream industry.

Strategy
Our strategy is based on the following:

	` Selectivity of clients, projects, and geographies, which serves to maintain early engagement, leading to influence over 
technological choices, design considerations, and project specifications that make projects economically viable;

	` Technology-driven differentiation with strong project management, which eliminates or significantly reduces technical 
and project risks, leading to both schedule and cost certainty without compromising safety; and

	`Excellence in project execution, because of our global, multi-center project delivery model complemented by deep 
partnerships and alliances to ensure the best possible execution for complex projects.

TechnipFMC’s Onshore/Offshore segment continually invests in innovation and technology. The Company is at the 
forefront of digital solutions due in part to our investment in 3D models, often referred to as digital twin, and interfaces.

Recent and Future Developments
In response to industry challenges to improve project economics in the Offshore market, we are continuing our cost 
reduction efforts to align capacity and capabilities with market demands. As such, in 2018 we sold our interest in the Pori 
Offshore yard in Finland.

Onshore market activity continues to provide a tangible set of opportunities, including natural gas, refining, and 
petrochemical projects.

Activity in LNG is fueled by higher demand for natural gas, a fuel source that continues to command a greater share of 
global energy demand. Natural gas will play an essential role as an energy transition fuel, helping to meet the increasing 
demand for energy while lowering greenhouse gases when compared to current fuel sources. This trend is structural, 
driven by market preference for cleaner energy sources and the need to satisfy growing domestic demand in markets 
such as Asia and the Middle East. To meet this demand, we believe that large gas projects will need to be sanctioned in 
the near future, as evidenced by both the significant increase in pre-FEED and FEED contract awards and higher levels of 
pre-bid project planning experienced in 2019. The award of Novatek’s Arctic LNG 2 project and its sanction in late 2019 
confirmed this trend.
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As onshore market activity levels remain stable, it provides our business with the opportunity to engage early with 
our clients and pursue additional front-end engineering studies, which serve to optimize project economics while also 
mitigating risks during project execution. Market opportunities for downstream front-end engineering studies and full 
EPC projects in both LNG and refining are most prevalent in the Middle East, Africa, and Asia. We continue to track near-
term prospects for petrochemical and fertilizer projects as well. We believe this broad opportunity set could generate 
additional inbound orders in the coming years.

In response to an increase in demand for gas, Offshore continued as a leader in gas FPSO projects. In addition to the 
ongoing Karish project for Energean, we were awarded the EPCI contract for BP’s Tortue gas FPSO, which will be 
deployed offshore West Africa.

Product Development
We are positioned as a premier provider of project execution and technology solutions, which enables our customers 
to unlock resources at advantaged capital and operating economics. We invest in these main Onshore R&D areas: (i) the 
development of process technology and equipment for economy of scale; (ii) continuous improvement of our proprietary 
process technologies and other solutions to reduce operating and investment cost; and (iii) diversification of our 
proprietary technology offering.

Our Offshore R&D efforts are focused on improving the economics of our clients’ diverse fixed and floating platform 
projects. Additionally, to further reduce operating and investment costs, we continue to progress the development of 
robotic solutions for offshore platforms and work towards a standard and adaptable design for Normally Unmanned 
Installations (“NUI”). We are also evaluating the various opportunities that will emerge as the industry and societal 
demands shift as part of the energy transition. The Company continues to assess and implement the best digital 
technologies to support the business.

Acquisitions and Investments
No acquisitions or significant investments occurred during 2019 or 2018.

Surface Technologies
The Surface Technologies segment designs, manufactures, and services products and systems used by companies 
involved in land and shallow water exploration and production of crude oil and natural gas. Such products and systems 
include: (i) wellhead systems, (ii) hydraulic fracturing systems, including fracturing valves, pumps, rigid flowlines, and 
flexible flowlines, (iii) production, separation, and flow processing systems, and (iv) measurement products and integrated 
systems. We manufacture most of our products internally and on facilities located worldwide.

Principal Products and Services
Upstream Production. Our upstream production offering includes well control, safety and integrity systems, multiphase 
meter modules, in-line separation and processing systems, and standard pumps. These offerings are differentiated by 
our comprehensive portfolio of in-house compact, modular, and digital technologies, and are designed to enhance field 
project economics and reduce operating expenditures with an integrated system that spans from wellhead to pipeline.

Our high-efficiency solutions, such as our separation portfolio and measurement technologies, combined with 
our expertise in modularization, enable our customers to achieve first production faster with fully optimized and 
environmentally-conscious, compact systems.

Well Control and Integrity Systems: We supply control components and safety systems designed to safely and efficiently 
run either a wellpad, modules on an offshore platform, or a production facility. Our systems are based on standard, field-
proven building blocks and designed for minimal maintenance during life of field operations.

Surface Multiphase Meter: Our multiphase meters (“MPMs”) are a collection of technologically-advanced innovations 
that provide a differentiated approach to multiphase measurement. The patented technology in our MPMs offers many 
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unique features that provide a step change in allocation measurement and allows for continuous surveillance of wells 
across a full range of operating conditions. Our MPMs provide real-time data to a central facility, or our cloud portal, for 
production reporting and remote notification and system troubleshooting.

Separation and Processing Systems: TechnipFMC provides industry-leading technology for the separation of oil, gas, sand, 
and water. These solutions are used in onshore production facilities and on offshore platforms worldwide. Our family 
of separation products delivers client success by increasing efficiency and throughput and reducing the footprint of 
processing facilities. Our separation systems offering includes internal components for oil and gas multiphase separation, 
in-line deliquidisers, and solids removal, as well as fully assembled separation modules and packages designed and 
fabricated for oil and gas separation, fracturing flowback treatment, solids removal, and primary produced water 
treatment.

Standard Pumps and Skid Systems: TechnipFMC provides complete skid solutions, from design consultation through 
startup and commissioning. We offer a diverse line of reciprocating pumps, customized according to the application with 
pressure ranges available up to 10,000 psi and flow rates up to 1,500 gpm.

Automation and Digital Systems: TechnipFMC provides hardware and software solutions to automate and provide simple 
human interfaces for a number of its critical products. These digital offerings help enable the removal of personnel from 
critical zones either offshore or onshore. In addition, the digital signatures from our products can then be interpreted and 
used via condition performance monitoring to eliminate unplanned downtime.

Pressure Control. We design and manufacture equipment used in well completion and stimulation activities by major 
oilfield service and drilling companies, as well as by oil and gas exploration and production operators directly.

Flowline: TechnipFMC is a leading supplier of flowline products and services to the oilfield industry. From the original 
Chiksan® and Weco® products to our revolutionary equipment designs and integrated services, our family of flowline 
products and services provides our customers with reliable and durable pressure pumping equipment. Our facilities 
stock flowline products in the specific sizes, pressures, and materials common to each region. Our commitment is to 
help our customers worldwide attain maximum value from their pressure pumping assets by guaranteeing that the right 
products arrive at the job site in top working condition. Our total solutions approach includes the InteServ tracking and 
management system, mobile inspection and repair, strategically located service centers, and genuine Chiksan® and Weco® 
spare parts.

Well Service Pumps: TechnipFMC offers a diverse line of well service pumps for use in high-pressure pumping operations 
such as hydraulic fracturing and stimulation, including triplex and quintuplex pumps, each with its own industry-leading 
features, including: (i) heavy-duty power ends, paired with main journal roller bearings and heavy-duty rod journal 
bearings, (ii) heavy-duty crankshafts, (iii) fluid cylinders, with accessible packing and valves, and (iv) made-to-order 
pumps. Our pumps can withstand some of the harshest operating conditions, with pressure ranges up to 20,000 psi and 
flow rates up to 1,500 gallons per minute.

All of our pumps are supported by dedicated service staff. We have the industry’s largest fleet of mobile units to perform 
complete inspection and repair services at customer locations around the world. The mobile services include inspection, 
testing, repair, documentation, and certification, with the goal of extending product life and reducing operator costs.

Drilling and Completion. We provide a full range of drilling and completion systems for both standard and custom 
engineered applications. The customer base of our drilling and completion offerings are oil and gas exploration and 
production companies.

Surface Wellheads and Production Trees: Our products are used to control and regulate the flow of crude oil and natural 
gas from the well. The wellhead is a system of spools and sealing devices from which the entire downhole well string 
hangs and provides the structural support for surface production trees. Production trees are comprised of valves, 
actuators and chokes which can be combined in both vertical and horizontal configurations, depending on customer-
specific requirements.
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Surface wellheads and production trees are “per-well” systems which are designed for onshore shale, onshore 
conventional, and offshore shallow water platform applications, and are typically sold directly to exploration and 
production operators during the drilling and completion phases of the well lifecycle. Our surface wellhead and production 
tree systems are used worldwide, and we are one of the few companies that provide global coverage and a full range 
of system configurations, including (i) conventional wellheads, (ii) Unihead® drill-thru wellheads designed for faster 
installation and drill-time optimization, (iii) high-pressure, high-temperature (“HPHT”) systems for extreme production 
applications, and (iv) steam-assisted gravity drainage (“SAGD”) and cyclic steam injection (“CSS”) thermal systems for 
heavy oil applications.

We also provide services associated to our surface wellhead and production tree portfolio including service personnel 
and rental tooling for wellhead and production tree installation and life of field repair, refurbishment, and general 
maintenance. Our wellhead and production tree business relies on our ability to successfully provide the necessary field 
operations coverage, responsiveness, and reliability to prevent downtime and nonproductive time during the drilling and 
completion phases.

Fracturing Tree and Manifold Systems: During the completion of a shale well, the well undergoes hydraulic fracturing. 
During this phase, durable and wear resistant wellsite equipment is temporarily deployed, designed to sustain the high 
pressure and highly erosive fracturing fluid which is pumped through the well into the formation.

Our surface completions portfolio includes fracturing tree systems, fracturing valve greasing systems, hydraulic control 
units, fracturing manifold systems, and rigid and flexible flowlines. This equipment is temporarily laid out between the 
wellhead and the fracturing pump truck during hydraulic fracturing. These products are typically supplied to exploration 
and production operators who rent this equipment directly from us during the hydraulic fracturing activities. Associated 
with our fracturing equipment rental is fracturing rig-up / rig-down field service personnel as well as oversight and 
operation of the equipment during the multiple fracturing stages for a shale well.

TechnipFMC’s manifold solutions help increase operational efficiency for a pad site with multiple wells. Our TE Manifold 
provides time savings and pumping efficiencies when stimulating multiple wells on a single pad. The manifolds are 
installed and connected to multiple trees off the critical path, which allows our customers to fracture more stages per day 
in a compact footprint and efficiently move operations from one well to another, saving time and money. We also offer 
conventional and articulating arm manifold trailers which are used as the connection point between fracturing pump 
trucks and the fracturing flowline and manifold system.

Our Ground Level Fracturing System is an essential tool for unconventional operators who use simultaneous operations 
to efficiently run completions in multi-well pads. The innovative system design uses various lengths of trunkline to 
align the TE Manifold and fracturing tree at ground level, which minimizes the number of flowline connections for safer 
operation. We are a significant supplier of flowline pipework (rigid and flexible) that is used to move the fracturing 
product from the pump truck, via the manifold and into the fracturing trees.

With a presence in all the major shale plays worldwide, our fracturing offering is recognized for its reliability and 
durability.

Flowback and Well Testing Services: After a shale well is hydraulically fractured, the well moves to the flowback phase in 
which much of the fracturing fluid pumped into the well flows back out through the wellhead and fracturing tree system. 
This phase lasts until the wellbore flow is adequate for flow through the production facilities downstream of the wellsite. 
Our flowback and well testing offering includes chokes, de-sanders, and advanced well testing equipment and related 
services which are provided to exploration and production operators during the flowback phase.

Fracturing Integrated Offering (“Frac I/O”): We are one of the few oilfield service providers that can offer an integrated 
solution covering the fracturing through flowback phases. Our Frac I/O provides our exploration and production 
customers with an integrated rental and service offering, including fracturing tree and manifold systems, as well as 
pressure control flowlines, flowback and well testing equipment, and field services.
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Services. We offer our customers a comprehensive suite of service packages to ensure optimal performance and 
reliability of our equipment. These service packages include all phases of the asset’s life cycle: from the early planning 
stages through testing and installation, commissioning and operations, replacement and upgrade, maintenance, storage, 
preservation, intervention, integrity, decommissioning, and abandonment.

Measurement Solutions. We design, manufacture, and service measurement products for the oil and gas industry. Our 
flow computers and control systems manage and monitor liquid and gas measurement for applications such as custody 
transfer, fiscal measurement, and batch loading and deliveries. Our FPSO metering systems provide the precision and 
reliability required for measuring large flow rates of marine loading operations. Our gas and liquid measurement systems 
are utilized in multiple energy-related applications, including crude oil and natural gas production and transportation, 
refined product transportation, petroleum refining, and petroleum marketing and distribution. We combine advanced 
measurement technology with state-of-the-art electronics and supervisory control systems to provide the measurement 
of both liquids and gases. This ensures processes operate efficiently while reducing operating costs and minimizing the 
risks associated with custody transfer.

Loading Systems. We lead the market with reliable loading system solutions. We are globally recognized for setting 
technical and performance standards in fluid transfer, delivering liquid and gas loading systems to the most challenging 
applications, both onshore and offshore.

TechnipFMC leads the market with 10,000 marine loading arms supplied, including more than 500 arms for LNG 
applications. We have developed unique offshore LNG transfer systems for all FLNG facilities operating to date. We offer 
equipment design and fabrication projects, as well as services over the life of our systems. Our proven ability to innovate, 
coupled with our modern manufacturing and assembly techniques, serve as the foundation for the future development 
of fluid transfer systems capable of operating in the most hostile and challenging environments.

By offering both types of products covering the full range of midstream and downstream applications, we can 
recommend and provide the best solution to our clients.

Capital Intensity
Surface Technologies manufactures most of its products, resulting in a reliance on manufacturing locations throughout 
the world, including fully owned manufacturing hubs in Stephenville, Texas, United States and Singapore, and a wide 
global network of third-party suppliers. We also maintain a large quantity of rental equipment related to our drilling & 
completion and pressure control offerings.

Dependence on Key Customers
No single Surface Technologies customer accounted for 10% or more of our 2019 consolidated revenue.

Competition
Surface Technologies is a market leader for many of our products and services. Some of the factors that distinguish us 
from other companies in the same sector include our technological innovation, reliability, product quality, and ability 
to integrate across a broad portfolio scope. Surface Technologies competes with other companies that supply surface 
production equipment and pressure control products. Some of our major competitors in Surface Technologies include 
Baker Hughes, Cactus, Inc., Forum Energy Technologies, Inc., Gardner Denver, Inc., Schlumberger, and The Weir Group plc.

Market Environment
Surface Technologies’ performance is typically driven by variations in global drilling activity, creating a dynamic 
environment. Operating results can be further impacted by pressure pumping activity and the completions intensity of 
shale applications in the Americas.

The North America shale market is sensitive to oil price fluctuations. For a global oilfield service company such as 
ourselves, this is partially offset by the less cyclical drilling activity in the international markets where most of the 
activity is driven by national oil companies (NOCs), which tend to maintain longer term and more capital intense drilling 
programs.
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Global activity is still below levels achieved in the prior industry cycle and pricing remains competitive. Drilling activity 
in North America during 2019 declined approximately 12% compared to 2018, in terms of rig count and number of wells 
drilled. Completion activity contracted approximately 10% in 2019 in terms of number of wells fractured and a decrease 
of approximately 7% in 2019 in terms of pressure pumping horsepower demand. The activity decline was driven by 
pipeline takeaway capacity constraints, lower commodity prices, and lower spending by our customers.

Our business outside of the Americas continued to experience competitive pricing pressure throughout much of 2019. We 
believe market pricing has since stabilized and expect this more stable pricing environment to continue throughout 2020. 
Confidence in an improved outlook for our business, based on an expected 4% to 5% increase in rig count and number of 
wells drilled in 2020, is further supported by the strong growth experienced in inbound orders and backlog in late 2019, 
about 25% inbound increase in Q4 compared to the average in Q1 to Q3. We believe that the Middle East, Asia Pacific, 
and Northern Europe are best poised for new order growth.

Strategy
Our strategy is focused on being a leading provider of best-cost and high-performance integrated assets and services for 
our customers in the drilling, completion, upstream production, and midstream transportation sectors. We distinguish our 
offering by combining four elements — innovative product design, exceptional customer experience, leading digital tools, 
and integrated systems.

We have developed the digital tools and customer-centric organizational culture that help enable customer success. Our 
system integration capabilities and automation technologies (i) reduce cycle time, lowering both capital and operating 
expenditures and allowing our customers to achieve first oil faster, and (ii) optimize the production process, minimizing 
facility footprint, manual interventions, and environmental impacts.

Recent and Future Developments
We continue to operate in a challenging environment as global activity is still below levels achieved in the prior industry 
cycle and pricing remains competitive. In 2019 well completion activity in North America moved lower, negatively 
impacting demand for pressure control equipment. The activity decline was driven by pipeline takeaway capacity 
constraints, lower commodity prices, and lower operator budgets.

North American drilling and completion activity continued to move higher throughout 2018, peaking in the first quarter 
of 2019, and then declining throughout the remainder of 2019. Forecasts for 2020 activity are heavily dependent on 
commodity prices. Our current outlook is that activity in early 2020 will remain near the fourth quarter of 2019 exit 
levels and then gradually increase in the second half of the year.

Outside of the Americas, drilling and completion activity increased 7% from 2018 to 2019 and is now planned to stabilize 
on a 4% to 5% increase in the next three years.

Product Development
In 2019, we expanded our desanding product offering by introducing our Desander Pro which can handle up to 30% 
higher drill out sand volumes during the flowback phase in shale applications. We are in the final stages of testing for 
our high gas desander, specifically designed for gas shale plays in Canada and the United States and we have high hopes 
that this technology can be utilized in conventional applications. We have introduced a number of products that are 
specifically orientated to improving the safety and efficiency on the Fracturing Pad, including SAFlex - large bore flexible 
Fracturing lines, 7” Check Valves, Speedloc Quick Connector for wireline intervention. These new products will all become 
important element in our integrated fracturing offering. Further, we have expanded our suite of high-pressure, high-
temperature wellheads and trees, and continue to expand our digital product offering with automated desanding dumps, 
tank level monitoring, automatic valve greasing units, and automated well testing system, all in an effort to further 
reduce manning and increase remote oversight of drilling and completion operations.

Acquisitions and Investments
In October 2017, we announced an agreement to acquire Plexus Holding plc’s (“Plexus”) wellhead exploration equipment 
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and services business for jack-up applications. In conjunction with our global footprint and market presence, this portfolio 
expansion in the mudline and high-pressure, high-temperature arena has enabled us to be a leading provider of products 
and services to the global jack-up exploration drilling market. This acquisition fits within our strategy to extend and 
strengthen our position in exploration drilling products and services while leveraging our global field presence. The 
acquisition closed in the first quarter of 2018.

The business has been integrated into our Surface Technologies segment, including the transfer of key personnel from 
Plexus, with their specialized expertise, to ensure continuity and ongoing customer support. The business continues to 
operate from its existing location in Dyce, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.

In December 2017, we opened a new 18,000 square meter facility in Abu Dhabi’s Industrial City 2, which has been 
further expanded in 2019 to provide customer inventory management services and position the Company for the 
construction of integrated skids and modules in support of our Production Systems business. In June 2018, we broke 
ground on a new 52,000 square meter facility in Dhahran, Saudi Arabia. These facilities are part of our continued 
investment in the United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia to reinforce our leading position in delivering local solutions 
that extend asset life and improve project returns. They position us to respond to the expected increase in activity for 
Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (“ADNOC”) and Saudi Aramco in 2020 and beyond while strengthening our capabilities, 
providing a solid platform for us to grow our integrated offerings in this region, including multiple product lines and 
aftermarket services that are key to our growth strategy. The new facilities will offer a broader range of capabilities and 
greater value-add in-country, supporting our full portfolio with high technology equipment in the drilling, completion, 
production, and pressure control sectors.
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Other business information relevant to our 
business segments
Sources and Availability of Raw Materials
Our business segments purchase carbon steel, stainless steel, aluminum, and steel castings and forgings from the global 
marketplace. We typically do not use single source suppliers for the majority of our raw material purchases; however, 
certain geographic areas of our businesses, or a project or group of projects, may heavily depend on certain suppliers for 
raw materials or supply of semi-finished goods. We believe the available supplies of raw materials are adequate to meet 
our needs.

Research and Development
We are engaged in R&D activities directed toward the improvement of existing products and services, the design of 
specialized products to meet customer needs, and the development of new products, processes, and services. A large 
part of our product development spending has focused on the improved design and standardization of our Subsea and 
Onshore/Offshore products to meet our customer needs.

Patents, Trademarks, and Other Intellectual Property

We own a number of patents, trademarks, and licenses that are cumulatively 
important to our businesses. As part of our ongoing R&D focus, we seek patents 
when appropriate for new products, product improvements, and related service 
innovations. We have approximately 6,800 issued patents and pending patent 
applications worldwide. Further, we license intellectual property rights to or from 
third parties. We also own numerous trademarks and trade names and have 
approximately 550 registrations and pending applications worldwide.

We protect and promote our intellectual property portfolio and take actions we 
deem appropriate to enforce and defend our intellectual property rights. We do 
not believe, however, that the loss of any one patent, trademark, or license, or 
group of related patents, trademarks, or licenses would have a material adverse 
effect on our overall business.

Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had more than 37,000 employees.

Segment and Geographic Financial Information

The majority of our consolidated revenue and segment operating profits are generated in markets outside of the United 
States. Each segment’s revenue is dependent upon worldwide oil and gas exploration, production and petrochemical 
activity. Financial information about our segments and geographic areas is incorporated herein by reference from Note 3 
to our consolidated financial statements of this U.K. Annual Report.

Order Backlog
Information regarding order backlog is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Business Review” of 
the Strategic Report contained in this U.K. Annual Report.

Website Access to Reports and Proxy Statement
Our U.K. Annual Reports and Half-Year Reports are available free of charge through our website at www.TechnipFMC.com, 
under “Investors—Financial Information” as soon as reasonably practicable. Unless expressly noted, the information on our 
website or any other website is not incorporated by reference in this U.K. Annual Report and should not be considered 
part of this U.K. Annual Report or any other filing we make.
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Business Review
Introduction
In this U.K. Annual Report, the Company is reporting in its consolidated financial statements the results of its operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2019, which consist of the combined results of operations of Technip S.A. and FMC 
Technologies, Inc.

Due to the Merger, FMC Technologies’ results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements 
for periods subsequent to the consummation of the Merger on January 16, 2017. Under the acquisition method of 
accounting, Technip was identified as the accounting acquirer and acquired a 100% interest in FMC Technologies.

Historically, Technip prepared its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as 
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”), and FMC Technologies prepared its financial statements in accordance with U.S. 
GAAP. Following completion of the Merger, the Company is preparing its consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with both (i) U.S. GAAP in accordance with U.S. securities law and reporting requirements, and (ii) IFRS in accordance 
with the requirements of the U.K. Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies Act”) and the U.K. Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules. The U.S. GAAP financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 were contained in the 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2020 and the IFRS consolidated financial statements are 
contained in this U.K. Annual Report.

The basis of presentation, critical accounting estimates and significant accounting policies are set out in Note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements contained in this U.K. Annual Report.

Key Performance Indicators
We are a global leader in energy projects, technologies, systems and services. We have manufacturing operations 
worldwide, strategically located to facilitate efficient delivery of these products, technologies, systems and services 
to our customers. We report our results of operations in the following segments: Subsea, Onshore/Offshore, and 
Surface Technologies. Management’s determination of the Company’s reporting segments was made on the basis of our 
strategic priorities and corresponds to the manner in which our Chief Executive Officer reviews and evaluates operating 
performance to make decisions about resource allocations to each segment.

We focus on economic- and industry-specific drivers and key risk factors affecting our business segments as we 
formulate our strategic plans and make decisions related to allocating capital and human resources. The results of our 
segments are primarily driven by changes in capital spending by oil and gas companies, which largely depend upon 
current and anticipated future crude oil and natural gas demand, production volumes, and consequently, commodity 
prices. We use crude oil and natural gas prices as an indicator of demand. Additionally, we use both onshore and offshore 
rig count as an indicator of demand, which consequently influences the level of worldwide production activity and 
spending decisions. We also focus on key risk factors when determining our overall strategy and making decisions for 
capital allocation. These factors include risks associated with the global economic outlook, product obsolescence and the 
competitive environment. We address these risks in our business strategies, which incorporate continuing development 
of leading-edge technologies and cultivating strong customer relationships.

Our Subsea segment is affected by changes in commodity prices and trends in deepwater oil and natural gas production. 
Our Onshore/Offshore segment is impacted by change in commodity prices, population growth and demand for natural 
gas, although the onshore market is typically more resilient to these changes impacting the segment. Our Subsea and 
Onshore/Offshore segments both benefit from the current market fundamentals supporting the demand for new 
liquefied natural gas facilities. Onshore/Offshore also benefits from the construction of petrochemical and fertilizer 
plants.
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Our Surface Technologies segment is primarily affected by changes in commodity prices and trends in land-based and 
shallow water oil and natural gas production. We have developed close working relationships with our customers. Our 
results reflect our ability to build long-term alliances with oil and natural gas companies and to provide solutions for their 
needs in a timely and cost-effective manner. We believe that by closely working with our customers, we enhance our 
competitive advantage, improve our operating results and strengthen our market positions.

The Company’s directors consider that the most important key performance indicators (“KPIs”) for 2019 and 2018 are 
set out below.

As we evaluate our operating results, we consider business segment performance indicators like segment revenue, 
operating profit and capital employed, in addition to the level of inbound orders and order backlog. A significant 
proportion of our revenue is recognized under the percentage of completion method of accounting. Cash receipts from 
such arrangements typically occur at milestones achieved under stated contract terms. Consequently, the timing of 
revenue recognition is not always correlated with the timing of customer payments. We aim to structure our contracts 
to receive advance payments that we typically use to fund engineering efforts and inventory purchases. Working capital 
(excluding cash) and net (debt) cash are therefore key performance indicators of cash flows. These key performance 
indicators are detailed in the paragraph entitled “Consolidated Results of Operations” below.

Consolidated Results of Operations
Management’s report of the consolidated results of operations is provided on the basis of comparing actual results of 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 to actual results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Year Ended
December 31,

Change

(In millions, except percentages) 2019 2018 $ %

Revenue $ 13,426.2 $ 12,599.9 $ 826.3 6.6%

Costs and expenses

Cost of sales 10,915.8 10,294.8 621.0 6.0%

Selling, general and administrative expense 1,230.0 1,144.4 85.6 7.5%

Research and development expense 162.9 189.2 (26.3) (13.9)%

Impairment, restructuring and other expenses 2,436.6 1,677.0 759.6 45.3%

Separation costs 72.1 — 72.1 n/a

Merger transaction and integration costs (a) 31.2 36.5 (5.3) (14.5)%

Total costs and expenses 14,848.6 13,341.9 1,506.7 11.3%

Other income (expense), net (267.2) (332.9) 65.7 19.7%

Income from equity affiliates 12.3 122.7 (110.4) (90.0)%

Net interest expense (498.5) (396.4) (102.1) (25.8)%

Loss before income taxes (2,175.8) (1,348.6) (827.2) (61.3)%

Provision for income taxes 275.1 397.0 (121.9) (30.7)%

Net loss (2,450.9) (1,745.6) (705.3) (40.4)%

Net profit attributable to noncontrolling interests (3.1) (10.8) 7.7 71.3%

Net loss attributable to TechnipFMC plc $ (2,454.0) $ (1,756.4) $ (697.6) (39.7)%

a) Integration costs in 2019 incurred only in the first half of the year.
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Revenue
Revenue increased $826.3 million in 2019 compared to the prior-year period, primarily as a result of improved project 
activity. Subsea revenue increased year-over-year with higher project-related activity, including increased revenue from 
integrated project execution (iEPCI) and increased demand in subsea services. Onshore/Offshore revenue was stable 
as a decrease in revenues from projects progressing towards completion, primarily Yamal LNG, was largely offset by 
increased project activity in the Middle East and Asia Pacific regions. Surface Technologies revenue increased primarily 
as a result of improving order backlog from international markets, primarily in the Middle East and Asia Pacific regions.

Gross profit
Gross profit (revenue less cost of sales) as a percentage of sales increased marginally to 18.7% in 2019 and 18.3% in the 
prior-year period. Strong project execution and completion of Yamal LNG milestones improved gross profits in Onshore/
Offshore offset by lower gross profit due to a more competitively priced Subsea backlog and weaker demand in North 
America for Surface Technologies products and services due to a challenged shale market.

Selling, general and administrative expense
Selling, general and administrative expense increased $85.6 million year-over-year, primarily as a result of increased 
corporate expense driven largely by accelerated IT spending as well as additional performance incentive compensation 
awards.

Impairment, restructuring and other expense
We incurred $2.4 billion of restructuring, impairment and other expenses in 2019, primarily driven by $2.0 billion of 
goodwill impairment and $411.3 million of property, plant and equipment impairment. See Note 10 and Note 11 for 
further details.

Separation costs
We have incurred $72.1 million associated with the preparation of the Separation during 2019. Refer to Note 1 for 
further information regarding the planned transaction.

Merger transaction and integration costs
We incurred merger transaction and integration costs of $31.2 million during the first half of 2019, before the 
announcement of the planned separation transaction due to the continuation of the integration activities pertaining to 
combining the two legacy companies.

Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net, primarily reflects foreign currency gains and losses, non-recurring expenses and results of 
disposals of assets. In 2019, we recognized $167.2 million of net foreign exchange losses, compared with $65.6 million of 
net foreign exchange loss in the prior year period, mainly due to the devaluation of the Angolan kwanza, for which there 
is no active forwards market, while in 2018 a $280 million legal provision was made.

Net interest expense
Net interest expense increased $102.1 million in 2019 compared to 2018, primarily due to the change in the fair value 
of the redeemable financial liability. We revalued the mandatorily redeemable financial liability to reflect current 
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expectations about the obligation and recognized a charge of $423.5 million. See Note 26 for further information 
regarding the fair value measurement assumptions of the mandatorily redeemable financial liability and related changes 
in its fair value. Net interest expense in 2019, excluding the fair value measurement of the mandatorily redeemable 
financial liability, increased by $1.3 million on a net basis compared to 2018.

Provision for income taxes
Our income tax provisions for 2019 and 2018 reflected effective tax rates of (12.6)% and (29.4)%, respectively. The year-
over-year change in the effective tax rate was primarily due to a decrease in the amount of tax expense associated with 
deferred tax assets not recognized, the release of contingent tax accruals due to the favorable resolution of income tax 
audits, and a favorable change in actual country mix of earnings, offset in part by the impact of nondeductible goodwill 
impairments.

Our effective tax rate can fluctuate depending on our country mix of earnings, which may change based on changes in 
the jurisdictions in which we operate.

 
Segment Results of Operations
Segment operating profit is defined as total segment revenue less segment operating expenses. Certain items have been 
excluded in computing segment operating profit and are included in corporate items. Refer to Note 3 to our consolidated 
financial statements included in this U.K. Annual Report for further information.

We report our results of operations in U.S. dollars; however, our earnings are generated in various currencies worldwide. 
In order to provide worldwide consolidated results, the earnings of subsidiaries functioning in their local currencies 
are translated into U.S. dollars based upon the average exchange rate during the period. While the U.S. dollar results 
reported reflect the actual economics of the period reported upon, the variances from prior periods include the impact of 
translating earnings at different rates.

Subsea

Year Ended
December 31, Favorable/(Unfavorable)

(In millions, except %) 2019 2018 $ %

Revenue $ 5,523.4 $ 4,865.6 $ 657.8 13.5%

Operating loss (1,417.1) (1,366.3) (50.8) (3.7)%

Operating loss as a percent of revenue (25.7)% (28.1)% 2.4 pts

 
Subsea revenue increased $657.8 million year-over-year, primarily due to increased project revenue from iEPCI, 
particularly projects in Asia, the North Sea and the Mediterranean that progressed towards completion, partially offset 
by decreased activity in Australia. The increase of Subsea Services activity across the globe further added to the year-
over-year growth in revenue.

Subsea operating loss increased primarily due to the impairment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment. This 
operating loss included $1,740.2 million of asset impairment charges primarily related to the impairment of goodwill and 
property, plant and equipment compared to $1,592.0 million in 2018. Refer to Note 10 and Note 11 to our consolidated 
financial statements included in this U.K. Annual Report for additional information related to these asset impairments.
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Onshore/Offshore

Year Ended
December 31, Favorable/(Unfavorable)

(In millions, except %) 2019 2018 $ %

Revenue $ 6,268.8 $ 6,120.7 $ 148.1 2.4%

Operating profit 964.4 823.1 141.3 17.2%

Operating profit as a percent of revenue 15.4% 13.4% 2.0 pts.

 
Onshore/Offshore revenue increased $148.1 million year-over-year. The increase was primarily driven by higher activity 
Europe, Middle East, Africa and North American regions as well as our Process and Technology business. The increase 
was partially offset by lower activity on Yamal LNG as the project nears completion.

Operating profit year-over-year was favorably impacted by reduced costs, strong project execution and bonus 
achievements on Yamal LNG due to completion of key milestones ahead of schedule. Additionally, 2019 included $17.0 
million in restructuring and other expenses.

Onshore/Offshore operating profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 15.4% compared to 2018.

Surface Technologies

Year Ended
December 31, Favorable/(Unfavorable)

(In millions, except %) 2019 2018 $ %

Revenue $ 1,634.0 $ 1,613.6 20.4 1.3%

Operating profit (loss) (654.8) 172.7 (827.5) (479.2)%

Operating profit (loss) as a percent of revenue (40.1)% 10.7% % (50.8) pts.

Surface Technologies revenue increased $20.4 million year-over-year primarily driven by increased activity in the Middle 
East and Asia Pacific markets primarily driven by increased demand for drilling and completion and pressure control 
equipment and services, offset by negative drilling and completions market activity in North America as customers 
curbed capital spending.

Surface Technologies operating profit as a percent of revenue decreased significantly year-over-year. The decrease 
was primarily due to a $708.4 million charge for impairment and restructuring and other charges, in particular related 
to goodwill. This compared to a $13.8 million charge in the prior year. Refer to Note 11 to our consolidated financial 
statements included in this U.K. Annual Report for additional information related to these impairments. Operating profit 
was also negatively impacted by reduced demand for flowline, hydraulic fracturing services, wellhead systems and 
pressure control equipment in North America, partially offset by increased demand for products and services in the 
Middle East and Asia Pacific.

Surface Technologies operating profit as a percentage of revenue decreased to (40.1)% compared to 2018.
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Corporate Items

Year Ended
December 31,

Favorable/(Unfavorable)

(In millions, except %) 2019 2018 $ %

Corporate expense $ (569.8) $ (581.7) 11.9 2.0%

 
Inbound Orders and Order Backlog
Inbound orders — Inbound orders represent the estimated sales value of confirmed customer orders received during the 
reporting period.

Inbound Orders
Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2019 2018

Subsea $ 7,992.6 $ 5,178.5

Onshore/Offshore 13,080.5 7,425.9

Surface Technologies 1,619.9 1,686.6

Total inbound orders $ 22,693.0 $ 14,291.0

 
Order backlog - Our consolidated order backlog is calculated as the estimated sales value of unfilled, confirmed customer 
orders at the reporting date. See “Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Unsatisfied Performance Obligations” in Note 
5 to our consolidated financial statements contained in this U.K. Annual Report for more information on order backlog.

Order Backlog
December 31,

(In millions) 2019 2018

Subsea $ 8,479.8 $ 5,999.6

Onshore/Offshore 15,298.1 8,090.5

Surface Technologies 473.2 469.9

Total order backlog $ 24,251.1 $ 14,560.0

 
Subsea — Order backlog for Subsea at December 31, 2019, increased by $2.5 billion from December 31, 2018. Subsea 
backlog of $8.5 billion at December 31, 2019, was composed of various subsea projects, including Total Mozambique LNG 
Subsea; Eni Coral and Merakes; Petrobras Mero I; Energean Karish; ExxonMobil Liza Phase 2; Neptune Duva & Giøa P1 
and Seagull; Reliance MJ1; Lundin Edvard Grieg; BP Thunderhorse South Extension 2; Equinor Johan Sverdrup Phase 2 ; 
Woodside Pyxis, and Husky West White Rose.

Onshore/Offshore — Onshore/Offshore order backlog at December 31, 2019, increased by $7.2 billion compared to 
December 31, 2018. Onshore/Offshore backlog of $15.3 billion was composed of various projects,including Arctic LNG 
2, Yamal LNG; Midor refinery expansion; BP Tortue FPSO; Long Son Petrochemicals; ExxonMobil Beaumont refinery 
expansion; HURL fertilizer plants; Petronas Kasawari; Energean Karish; Neste bio-diesel expansion; and Motor Oil Hellas 
New Naphta Complex.

Surface Technologies — Order backlog for Surface Technologies at December 31, 2019, increased by $3.3 million 
compared to December 31, 2018. Given the short-cycle nature of the business, most orders are quickly converted into 
sales revenue; longer contracts are typically converted within twelve months.

33    TechnipFMC

U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 2019



Non-consolidated backlog — Non-consolidated backlog reflects the proportional share of backlog related to joint 
ventures that is not consolidated due to our minority ownership position. 
 

Non-consolidated backlog
December 31,

(In millions) 2019 2018

Subsea $ 799.2 $ 974.0

Onshore/Offshore 2,976.0 1,748.5

Total order backlog $ 3,775.2 $ 2,722.5

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Most of our cash is managed centrally and flowed through centralized bank accounts controlled and maintained by the 
Company domestically and in foreign jurisdictions to best meet the liquidity needs of our global operations.

We expect to meet the continuing funding requirements of our global operations with cash generated by such operations, 
our commercial paper programs, and our existing revolving credit facility.

Net (Debt) Cash - Net (Debt) Cash is a non-IFRS financial measure reflecting cash and cash equivalents, net of debt. 
Management uses this non-IFRS financial measure to evaluate our capital structure and financial leverage. We believe net 
debt, or net cash, is a meaningful financial measure that may assist investors in understanding our financial condition and 
recognizing underlying trends in our capital structure. Net (debt) cash should not be considered an alternative to, or more 
meaningful than, cash and cash equivalents as determined in accordance with IFRS or as an indicator of our operating 
performance or liquidity.

The following table provides an IFRS reconciliation of our cash and cash equivalents to net (debt) cash, utilizing details of 
classifications from our consolidated statements of financial position:

 

December 31,
2019

December 31,
2018(In millions)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,190.1 $ 5,542.2

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt (2,462.2) (1,983.5)

Long-term debt, less current portion (2,013.2) (2,208.2)

Lease liabilities (956.8) (337.8)

Net (debt) cash $ (242.1) $ 1,012.7
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Cash Flows
Cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2019 2018

Cash provided (required) by operating activities $ 1,182.1 $ (182.3)

Cash provided (required) by investing activities (419.8) (460.2)

Cash required by financing activities (1,120.2) (444.8)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 5.8 (108.0)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (352.1) $ (1,195.3)

 
Operating cash flows – During 2019, we generated $1,182.1 million in cash flows from operating activities as compared to 
$182.3 million used in 2018, resulting in a $1,364.4 million increase compared to 2018. 65.9% of the annual operating cash 
flow was generated in the fourth quarter, primarily due to timing differences on project milestones and vendor payments.

Investing cash flows – Investing activities used $419.8 million and $460.2 million of cash in 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
The decrease in cash used by investing activities was primarily due to proceeds from repayment of advance to joint 
venture of $62.0 million, decrease in cash used for acquisitions, partially offset by increased capital expenditures and 
payment to acquire debt securities in 2019. In 2019, we purchased a deepwater dive support vessel, Deep Discoverer, 
that was subsequently funded through a sale-leaseback transaction.

Financing cash flows – Financing activities used $1,120.2 million and $444.8 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
The increase of $675.4 million in cash required for financing activities was primarily due to increased settlement of 
mandatorily redeemable financial liability, increased payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities, and decreased 
borrowings of commercial paper, partially offset by decreased purchases of treasury stock in 2019.

Debt and Liquidity
Total borrowings at December 31, 2019 and 2018, comprised the following:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2019 2018

Commercial paper $ 1,967.0 $ 1,916.1

Synthetic bonds due 2021 491.7 488.8

3.45% Senior Notes due 2022 500.0 500.0

5.00% Notes due 2020 224.4 228.4

3.40% Notes due 2022 168.4 171.6

3.15% Notes due 2023 145.4 148.1

3.15% Notes due 2023 140.2 142.9

4.00% Notes due 2027 84.2 85.8

4.00% Notes due 2032 108.6 110.5

3.75% Notes due 2033 109.2 111.1

Bank borrowings 513.3 265.2

Finance lease 956.8 337.8

Other 23.0 23.2

Total borrowings $ 5,432.2 $ 4,529.5
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The following is a summary of our revolving credit facility at December 31, 2019:

(In millions)
Description

Amount
Debt 

Outstanding

Commercial 
Paper 

Outstanding 
(a)

Letters of 
Credit

Unused 
Capacity

Maturity

Five-year revolving  
credit facility

$ 2,500.0 $ — $ 1,967.0 $ — $ 533.0 January 2023

(a) Under our commercial paper program, we have the ability to access up to $1.5 billion and €1.0 billion of financing through our commercial paper 
dealers. Our available capacity under our revolving credit facility is reduced by any outstanding commercial paper.

 
Committed credit available under our revolving credit facility provides the ability to issue our commercial paper 
obligations on a long-term basis. We had $1,967.0 million of commercial paper issued under our facilities at December 31, 
2019.

Our revolving credit facility contains customary covenants as defined by the credit facility agreement which includes 
a financial covenant requiring that our total capitalization ratio not exceed 60% at the end of any financial quarter. The 
facility agreement also contains covenants restricting our ability and our subsidiaries ability to incur additional liens and 
indebtedness, enter into asset sales, make certain investments. As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with all 
restrictive covenants under our revolving credit facility.

Refer to Note 19 and Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this U.K. Annual Report for further 
information related to our credit facility and our mandatorily redeemable liability, respectively.

Credit Risk Analysis
For the purposes of mitigating the effect of the changes in exchange rates, we hold derivative financial instruments.

Valuations of derivative assets and liabilities reflect the fair value of the instruments, including the values associated with 
counterparty risk. These values must also take into account our credit standing, thus including in the valuation of the 
derivative instrument and the value of the net credit differential between the counterparties to the derivative contract. 
Adjustments to our derivative assets and liabilities related to credit risk were not material for any period presented.

We use the income approach as the valuation technique to measure the fair value of foreign currency derivative 
instruments on a recurring basis. This approach calculates the present value of the future cash flow by measuring the 
change from the derivative contract rate and the published market indicative currency rate, multiplied by the contract 
notional values. Credit risk is then incorporated by reducing the derivative’s fair value in asset positions by the result 
of multiplying the present value of the portfolio by the counterparty’s published credit spread. Portfolios in a liability 
position are adjusted by the same calculation; however, a spread representing our credit spread is used. Our credit 
spread, and the credit spread of other counterparties not publicly available are approximated by using the spread of 
similar companies in the same industry, of similar size and with the same credit rating.

At this time, we have no credit-risk-related contingent features in our agreements with the financial institutions that 
would require us to post collateral for derivative positions in a liability position.

Additional information about credit risk is incorporated herein by reference to Note 26 and Note 29 to the consolidated 
financial statements contained in this U.K. Annual Report.

Outlook
Historically, we have generated our liquidity and capital resources primarily through operations and, when needed, 
through our credit facility. We have $533.0 million of capacity available under our revolving credit facility that we expect 
to utilize if working capital needs temporarily increase. The volatility in credit, equity and commodity markets creates 
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some uncertainty for our business. Any payment deferrals or discounts on pricing granted to clients in prior years may 
adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows in 2020 and beyond.

We project spending approximately $450 million in 2020 for capital expenditures. However, projected capital 
expenditures for 2020 do not include any contingent capital that may be needed to respond to a contract award.

We implemented a U.K. court-approved reduction of our capital, which was completed on June 29, 2017, in order to 
create distributable profits to support the payment of future dividends or future share repurchases. Our board of 
directors authorized $500 million for the repurchase of shares which was completed in 2018. The Board of Directors 
authorized an extension of this program, adding $300 million in December 2018 for a total of $800 million in ordinary 
shares.

During 2020, we expect to make contributions of approximately $6.9 million to our international pension plans, 
representing primarily the Netherlands qualified pension plans and U.K qualified pension plans. Actual contribution 
amounts are dependent upon plan investment returns, changes in pension obligations, regulatory environments and 
other economic factors. We update our pension estimates annually during the fourth quarter or more frequently upon 
the occurrence of significant events. We do not expect to make any contributions to our U.S. Qualified Pension Plan and 
our U.S. Non-Qualified Defined Benefit Pension Plan in 2020.

Prior to the filing of this document and consequent to the balance sheet date of December 31, 2019, there has been a 
decline in oil prices and uncertainty in the economy triggered by certain global events in 2020. It is too early to quantify 
the impact of this, however the Company will continue to monitor the ongoing events and the implications for existing 
forecasts. We enter this period with solid backlog and significant revenue coverage for 2020, however our business is 
subject to oil and gas price volatility.

 

Market Risk 

We are subject to financial market risks, including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. In 
order to manage and mitigate our exposure to these risks, we may use derivative financial instruments in accordance 
with established policies and procedures. We do not use derivative financial instruments where the objective is to 
generate profits solely from trading activities. At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, substantially all of our 
derivative holdings consisted of foreign currency forward contracts and foreign currency instruments embedded in 
purchase and sale contracts.

These forward-looking disclosures only address potential impacts from market risks as they affect our financial 
instruments and do not include other potential effects that could impact our business as a result of changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates, interest rates, commodity prices or equity prices.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
We conduct operations around the world in a number of different currencies. Many of our significant foreign subsidiaries 
have designated the local currency as their functional currency. Our earnings are therefore subject to change due to 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates when the earnings in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars. 
We do not hedge this translation impact on earnings. A 10% increase or decrease in the average exchange rates of all 
foreign currencies at December 31, 2019, would have changed our revenue and income before income taxes attributable 
to TechnipFMC by approximately $140.6 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

When transactions are denominated in currencies other than our subsidiaries’ respective functional currencies, we 
manage these exposures through the use of derivative instruments. We primarily use foreign currency forward contracts 
to hedge the foreign currency fluctuation associated with firmly committed and forecasted foreign currency denominated 
payments and receipts. The derivative instruments associated with these anticipated transactions are usually designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges, and as such the gains and losses associated with these instruments are recorded in 
other comprehensive income until such time that the underlying transactions are recognized. Unless these cash flow 
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contracts are deemed to be ineffective or are not designated as cash flow hedges at inception, changes in the derivative 
fair value will not have an immediate impact on our results of operations since the gains and losses associated with these 
instruments are recorded in other comprehensive income. When the anticipated transactions occur, these changes in 
value of derivative instrument positions will be offset against changes in the value of the underlying transaction. When 
an anticipated transaction in a currency other than the functional currency of an entity is recognized as an asset or 
liability on the balance sheet, we also hedge the foreign currency fluctuation of these assets and liabilities with derivative 
instruments after netting our exposures worldwide. These derivative instruments do not qualify as cash flow hedges.

Occasionally, we enter into contracts or other arrangements containing terms and conditions that qualify as embedded 
derivative instruments and are subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. In those situations, we enter into 
derivative foreign exchange contracts that hedge the price or cost fluctuations due to movements in the foreign exchange 
rates. These derivative instruments are not designated as cash flow hedges.

For our foreign currency forward contracts hedging anticipated transactions that are accounted for as cash flow hedges, 
a 10% increase in the value of the U.S. dollar would have resulted in an additional loss of $83.8 million in the net fair 
value of cash flow hedges reflected in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2019.

Interest Rate Risk
At December 31, 2019, we had commercial paper of approximately $2.0 billion with a weighted average interest rate of 
1.41%. Using sensitivity analysis to measure the impact of a 10% adverse movement in the interest rate, or eighteen basis 
points, would result in an increase to interest expense of $2.8 million.

We assess effectiveness of forward foreign currency contracts designated as cash flow hedges based on changes in fair 
value attributable to changes in spot rates. We exclude the impact attributable to changes in the difference between 
the spot rate and the forward rate for the assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognize the change in fair value of 
this component immediately in earnings. Considering that the difference between the spot rate and the forward rate is 
proportional to the differences in the interest rates of the countries of the currencies being traded, we have exposure in 
the unrealized valuation of our forward foreign currency contracts to relative changes in interest rates between countries 
in our results of operations. To the extent any one interest rate increases by 10% across all tenors and other countries’ 
interest rates remain fixed, and assuming no change in discount rates, we would expect to recognize a decrease of $0.5 
million in unrealized earnings in the period of change. Based on our portfolio as of December 31, 2019, we have material 
positions with exposure to interest rates in the United States, Canada, Australia, Brazil, the United Kingdom, Singapore, 
the European Community, and Norway.
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Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability – 
Non-financial Information Statement
We are a global leader in oil and gas projects, technologies, systems, and services and provide our clients deep expertise 
across subsea, onshore/offshore, and surface projects. Our vision to enhance the performance of the world’s energy 
industry is supported by a relentless drive of every individual at TechnipFMC. 

Our decisions regarding corporate responsibility, governance, and sustainability are founded on the principles that guide our 
Company. Our core values provide the framework for all of our decision making and are based on our Foundational Beliefs.

Core Values and Foundational Beliefs
Our core values are the drivers that guide how we act in a distinctly TechnipFMC way, so we can deliver on our purpose 
and achieve our vision. We bring our values to life through our behaviors—specific, observable, and measurable actions.

Our Core Values

Realizing Possibilities Achieving Together Building Trust

The Heart of 
Everything We Do

 ̀We strive for ever 
better

 ̀We take initiative

 ̀We learn from success 
and failure

 ̀We work as one team

 ̀We share knowledge

 ̀We embrace diversity of 
thought 

 ̀We listen to improve

 ̀We partner 
constructively

 ̀We seek to outperform
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Our Foundational Beliefs are the cornerstone of our values that describe how we fundamentally do business and what 
we never compromise on, no matter the circumstances. 

Sustainability
We act responsibly, 
always considering our 
impact on the planet, 
people, and communities 
in which we operate.

Integrity
We hold ourselves to 
the highest moral and 
ethical principles.

Respect
We treat everyone 
honestly, fairly, and 
courteously.

Safety
We will not 
compromise on health, 
safety, and security.

Quality
We deliver the 
highest quality in 
everything we do.

Code of Business Conduct
Our Code of Business Conduct is built on our Foundational Beliefs and gives our directors, officers, and employees 
a common language and playbook for decisions and actions that help us live our core values. We are committed to 
establishing and maintaining an effective compliance program that is intended to increase the likelihood of preventing, 
detecting, and correcting violations of Company policy and the law. Moreover, we have a hotline in place for employees, 
officers, directors, and external parties to anonymously report violations of our Code of Business Conduct or complaints 
regarding accounting and auditing practices. Reports of possible violations of financial or accounting policies are reported 
to our Audit Committee.

We will disclose amendments to, or waivers of, our Code of Business Conduct that are required to be disclosed under 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and NYSE rules or any other applicable laws, rules, and regulations. 
Any waiver of our Code of Business Conduct for our officers and directors must be approved by the Board or a relevant 
Board committee. We have not made any such waivers, and do not anticipate making any such waiver.
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Sustainability
We believe corporate responsibility and sustainability is a key element of our Company’s long-term success and is, 
therefore, one of our Foundational Beliefs. To ensure that the Company is collectively focused on making meaningful and 
tangible changes, we have focused our sustainability efforts under three pillars. 

Corporate 
Responsibility & 
Sustainability Pillars

Supporting Communities
Advancing  

Gender Diversity
Respecting the 
Environment

Main Objectives

We make a long-term 
positive impact in the 
communities where we 
live and work through 
active engagement in 
health, education, and local 
employment

We create an 
environment that 
encourages everyone to 
reach their full potential

We develop solutions and 
operations to minimize 
carbon intensity and the 
impact on the planet

 ̀Go beyond our 
commercial obligations 
to create in-country 
value through initiatives 
in health, education, and 
local employment

 ̀Enable employees to 
volunteer and support 
initiatives 

 ̀Support and develop 
Science. Technology, 
Engineering, and Math 
(STEM) initiatives

 ̀Ensure gender pay 
equity everywhere we 
operate

 ̀Improve gender balance 
in the organization, 
across all functions and 
levels 

 ̀Promote women fairly 
and equally through 
the career development 
process

 ̀Reduce the carbon 
footprint of our facilities, 
products, and solutions

 ̀Provide the carbon 
footprint of all our 
deliverables to clients 
through conceptual 
studies

 ̀Set up an internal 
carbon price for  
the entire Company, 
projects, and operations 
to impact investment 
decisions

Each year, we set key performance targets for each of these pillars and report our performance against these targets to 
our Board and other stakeholders. In addition to these annual objectives, the Company demonstrates its commitment in 
other ways. 

For instance, in 2019, TechnipFMC reaffirmed its support of the Ten Principles of the United Nations (UN) Global Compact 
in the areas of Human Rights, Labor, Environment, and Anti-Corruption. The UN Global Compact requires an annual 
Communication on Progress, which is submitted and made publicly available on the UN Global Compact website. 
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Additionally, our Code of Business Conduct requires that we, among other things:

	`Design sustainable development initiatives with a focus on long-term added value

	`Engage with local communities impacted by our activities in close coordination with our clients and contribute to 
social and economic self-sustainability

	`Anticipate and minimize potential disruptions to the community

	`Mitigate any negative impacts to local communities from our activities

	`Contribute to local employment growth by fostering training and transfer of skills and technology

	`Respect local cultures and be aware of local practices and traditions, legislation, and cultural factors that may impact 
behaviors and decisions

Our Code of Business Conduct also covers many sustainability issues, from fair employment practices and equal 
opportunity to Health, Safety, and Environment (“HSE”), human rights, and community involvement. We also have a 
Quality, Health, Safety, Environment and Security (“QHSES”) program aimed at preventing accidents and incidents, 
ensuring personal and corporate accountability, and simplifying practices and processes across our Company. Backed by 
our Foundational Beliefs, our HSE and QHSES teams create a culture of engagement to develop the leadership behaviors 
that deliver enhanced performance and business results. For example, the Company is a proud member of Building 
Responsibly — an industry-led collaborative initiative enabling construction and engineering companies to collaborate 
around their shared values, advance their compliance programs, and agree on common approaches regarding worker 
welfare and human rights. We are specifically advancing compliance in recruitment, working conditions, and supply 
chain practices. In addition, we have a specific Environmental Working Group (“EWG”) that reports to the Company’s 
Corporate HSE team and coordinates a network of environmental specialists from all of our business units. The EWG sets 
environmental programs, supports the enhancement of environmental performance, and develops global environmental 
initiatives involving all of our assets and projects.
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Supporting Communities

Supporting Communities is our first 
sustainability pillar. Our Code of Business 
Conduct encourages employees to engage 
with local communities where we live 
and work, to contribute to their social 
and economic self-sustainability, and to 
ensure that TechnipFMC is a responsible 
corporate citizen in our communities. It is the 
foundation of that responsibility that forges 
our commitment to local communities. 

Supporting Communities – Objectives 

TechnipFMC supports and encourages its employees to volunteer and support their community development 
programs in line with our Code of Business Conduct and our Supporting Communities pillar, whose objectives include 
the following: 

	`Go beyond our commercial 
obligations to create in-country 
value through initiatives in health, 
education, and local employment

	` Support and develop initiatives 
related to Science, Technology, 
Engineering, and Mathematics 
(“STEM”)

	`Enable employees to volunteer 
and support initiatives
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Go beyond our commercial obligations to create in-country value
Overall, in 2019, 346 initiatives were organized in 33 countries 
where TechnipFMC operates, which is a significant increase from 245 
initiatives in 27 countries in 2018. Employees spent approximately 
26,500 volunteer hours in 2019 creating in-country value through 
actions in health, education, STEM, local employment, environment, 
gender diversity, and other relevant and impactful local issues. 
Examples of initiatives launched or continued in 2019 in several 
countries are described below.
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Support and develop STEM initiatives
In 2019, we focused on topics related to STEM and 58 initiatives were 
organized in 17 countries, which was a significant increase from 14 
initiatives in eight countries in 2018.

Our target of having at least one STEM initiative in each Company 
entity with more than 300 employees will be achieved by the end of 
the first quarter 2020. Initiatives developed in 2019 could be grouped 
in three main areas: working with schools and/or organizations to 
promote STEM for children, promoting STEM careers for students and 
young professionals, and promoting STEM for employees’ children.
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Enable employees to volunteer and support initiatives
In 2019, we launched our global volunteering program, iVolunteer, 
that enables employees to support initiatives in the communities 
where they live and work. The key purpose is to have a positive, 
tangible, and collective impact on these communities.

iVolunteer allows entities and countries to develop volunteering 
initiatives to further engage employees. Globally, approximately 
12,650 of our employees participated in local initiatives and spent 
approximately 26,500 hours volunteering in 2019, which is over 
double the 10,000 hours volunteered in 2018.
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Below are some examples of our outreach in our communities in 2019:

United States We participate regularly in numerous events, including Women’s Initiative Day of Caring, 
Target Hunger Day of Caring, and the Veterans Program. Other initiatives include being part 
of the Houston Heart Walk, an annual fundraising event dedicated to spreading awareness 
about health, and being a sponsor for the Energy Day Festival to promote the STEM fields 
for thousands of local schoolchildren.

United Kingdom Our volunteers have raised funds for, and partner with, local and national charities chosen 
by employees, including the Scotland Animal Welfare Charity, Chest, Heart and Stroke 
Scotland, Charlie House, Kayleighs Wee Stars, and Alzheimer Scotland. We also support 
events and network with other organizations that promote health, welfare, education, and 
diversity.

France TechnipFMC in France supports the non-profit organization, Elles Bougent (Girls on the 
Move). Elles Bougent promotes gender diversity in STEM, as well as more accessibility to 
young female students in technical and industrial careers. We also arrange for the collection 
of clothes, books, and toys in Paris for donation to local charities for children, the homeless, 
and vulnerable families. TechnipFMC also makes donations to schools and associations in 
France to finance educational programs. Moreover, since 2018, our employees participated 
in the Enfants sans Cancer (Children without Cancer) city race to raise funds and awareness 
for this cause.

Brazil In Brazil, we engage in a series of social and environmental programs involving 
underprivileged children and young students from neighboring communities to help 
them become better citizens and have equal opportunities. Also, in 2019, our volunteers 
organized a beach cleaning activity in Rio de Janeiro where half a ton of garbage was 
collected.

Colombia In Colombia, we promote the respect of human rights of vulnerable populations through 
workshops, donations, and assistance, particularly the recyclers, street vendors, and 
homeless communities near our Bogota office.

Norway Since 2018, our employees in Norway have participated in city walks, as part of our 
iVolunteer program, to raise money for local charities of employees’ choice, including 
children’s support charities, mental health charities, local hospitals, and charitable sports 
organizations. 
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Italy TechnipFMC in Italy, in collaboration with Technical School Enrico Fermi based in Rome, is 
involved in the Alternanza Scuola-Lavoro (Education-Work Rotation) project. Our Rome 
Operating Center is committed to deliver 400 individual hours of on-the-job training to 11 
students on our premises. This collaboration enriches school programs with energy sector 
experience focused on oil and gas, enabling students to better understand the added value 
offered by working in our industry and at TechnipFMC.

India In India, our impact-driven sustainable initiative, Seed of Hope, benefitted more than 10,000 
lives by enabling STEM education for girls, skill development workshops for youth, and 
sponsoring school fees for underprivileged children. We have also installed 100 biogas units 
in a rural area and plastic recycling units to minimize our carbon footprint. Our commitment 
towards community well-being and UN Sustainable Development Goals has been recognized 
by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs with a National CSR Award 2019, conferred by the 
Honorable, President of India. 

Malaysia In Malaysia, we adopted four schools under the PINTAR School Adoption program, targeted 
at underprivileged schools with poor academic performance and students of lower 
socioeconomic status. Our TechnipFMC school adoption initiative dates back to 2011, and 
the initiative has helped approximately 500 students, equipping them with the necessary 
knowledge and skills through creative, innovative, and mentally stimulating teaching 
methods.

Indonesia Our “Share to Care” campaign in Indonesia included the adoption of a home that houses 
farmers’ children and abandoned kids. This long-term program aims to provide the 
program’s children with education, training, and internships to sustain themselves. Currently, 
one child is interning in our Jakarta office, while another is interning in our Cakung 
manufacturing plant.

Mozambique In March 2019, tropical cyclone Idai devastated Mozambique. Large parts of the country’s 
second largest city, Beira, were damaged, and entire villages and towns completely flooded. 
TechnipFMC donated $100,000 to assist disaster relief and recovery efforts. The funds 
helped with ongoing rescue efforts by the Red Cross and helped provide shelter and basic 
commodities for victims. Our employees also volunteered to work at the Maputo Bay to 
pack emergency relief kits that were sent to the communities impacted by the cyclone. 
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Advancing Gender Diversity

Advancing Gender Diversity is our second 
sustainability pillar, and we believe it is not 
only a matter of responsibility, but also a 
business imperative for our success. We do 
not tolerate unlawful discrimination related 
to employment, and our Code of Business 
Conduct requires that employment decisions 
related to recruitment, selection, evaluation, 
compensation, and development, among 
others, are not influenced by race, color, 
religion, gender, age, ethnic origin, nationality, 
sexual orientation, marital status, or disability. 
We also ensure that our suppliers, customers, 
and business partners are aware of our goal 
of creating a diverse and tolerant workforce.

In the first quarter of 2018, we developed 
a global framework and key performance 
indicators for 2018 and beyond to promote 
and accelerate the development of women in 
all functions of our global organization

Advancing Gender Diversity – Objectives

Our Advancing Gender Diversity objectives include the following:

	`Ensure gender pay equity 
everywhere we operate and review 
all jobs to ensure gender pay equity 
and monitor them through a full 
review every three years

	` Improve gender balance in 
the organization, across all 
functions and levels

	`Promote women fairly and 
equally through the career 
development process 
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Ensure gender pay equity
In 2018, we reviewed 100% of our Company job functions to ensure 
pay equity. We identified areas for improvement and completed all 
necessary salary adjustments in 2019 to ensure fair compensation 
for all of our employees. A job review and any necessary adjustments 
will be performed every three years to ensure that no pay gaps arise.
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0.0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.6

57.23%

of jobs reviewed to
ensure pay equity;
salary adjustments 
completed in 2019

100%

of executive
of�cers in 2019
were women 
(vs. 27% in 2018)

36%

of succession plans
include one woman
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22%
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(ERG) with ~1,800 members 

Top 2019 initiatives:

Improve gender balance

In 2019, to foster a diverse and inclusive culture, the Company 
launched its “Diversity & Inclusion — it Matters!” e-learning module 
with an aim to raise awareness of our differences and help our 
employees improve as people and professionals.

Our Company also fosters Employee Resource Groups (“ERGs”), which 
are voluntary, employee-led focus groups dedicated to a diverse 
and inclusive work environment. We currently have seven active 
ERGs with approximately 1,800 members in the United States, the 
United Kingdom, and Brazil, covering Diversity in STEM, Mothers 
Network, Black Organization for Leadership & Development, Young 
Professionals Group, Military Veterans & Friends Network, and 
Handicap Inclusion.

Our ambition is to encourage participation in ERGs throughout the 
whole Company. ERGs discuss and promote topics related to diversity 
and inclusion, develop and organize workshops internally and 
externally, support local initiatives, and propose actions to improve 
accessibility and inclusivity for all at the workplace. 
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As of December 31, 2019, TechnipFMC had the following number of employees: 

Male Employees Female
Employees

Total % of Female 
Employees

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

Executive officers 8 7 3 4 11 11 27% 36%

Senior managers 98 84 17 24 115 108 15% 22%

Employees on payroll 
(overall)

28,987 28,760 8,157 8,407 37,144 37,167 22% 23%
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Promote women fairly and equally
Continuous discussions around improving representation of women 
in the organization helps us promote women fairly and equally 
throughout their career development process within our Company. In 
2019, our People and Culture team reviewed all senior management 
succession plans to ensure that female candidates were considered 
and included. As a result, 70% of our succession plans in 2019 include 
at least one woman, which is a significant increase from 35% in 2018.
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Respecting the Environment

Respecting the Environment is the third of 
our three sustainability pillars. We believe 
our environmental responsibility requires 
us to operate in a manner that minimizes 
the impact of our operations on the 
environment, develop sustainable solutions 
to reduce carbon emissions within our overall 
environmental footprint, and avoid any 
environmental incidents in our operations 
and activities.

Respecting the Environment – Objectives

Our Respecting the Environment objectives include the following:

	`Reduce the carbon footprint of our 
facilities, products, and solutions and 
reduce our greenhouse gas emissions

	`Provide the carbon 
footprint of all our 
deliverables to clients

	`Establish an internal carbon price for 
the entire Company, including projects 
and operations, to inform and impact 
investment decisions
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Reduce our carbon footprint
TechnipFMC is committed to reducing carbon emissions and its 
overall environmental footprint by developing new, innovative, and 
sustainable solutions in the oil and gas market. In 2019, the Company 
adopted a Global Greenhouse Gas Management standard to enhance 
the Company’s capabilities in greenhouse gas (“GHG”) reduction in 
the Company’s business. In 2019, total GHG emissions decreased by 
27% from 643,469 tons of CO2 equivalent in 2018 to 469,955 tons of 
CO2 equivalent in 2019. The reduction is mainly linked to the closure 
of important engineering, procurement, and construction (“EPC”) 
projects that completed the energy consuming phases in the first 
quarter of 2019. 

In addition to our efforts in reducing our carbon emissions within our 
operations, TechnipFMC is also working to ensure our next generation 
of products are less carbon intensive. For example, our Subsea 2.0TM 
design included a lifecycle GHG analysis that demonstrated how 
our innovations for the production of trees may allow up to a 46% 
reduction in our carbon footprint as compared to the previous design.

Moreover, a comprehensive Carbon Footprint Training Program was 
also launched by the Company’s HSE department for all business 
levels and projects. As of December 31, 2019, over 30 training 
sessions for engineers and managers had been delivered in key 
Company locations. This program is focusing on extended knowledge 
transfer, from the lifecycle perspective, and carbon footprint concepts 
to empower engineers in the implementation of a complete GHG 
analysis for all business lines and to increase managers’ competencies 
on the reduction of our carbon footprint at any company level.
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Conceptual Studies

In 2019, work started for 
• Onshore/Offshore (Genesis): Ultra Front End Suite 
• Subsea: Subsea Studio (Front End) – Methodology on-going 

In 2020
A carbon footprint module will be implemented in both 
onshore/offshore and subsea conceptual studies.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions  

Internal Carbon Price 

A 4-phase study
� 1. Benchmarking analysis 
� 2. De�nition of the mechanism
� 3. Case study (TMOS: vessel - hybrid battery)
    4. Roadmap 

2020: Re­ne recommendations
• Price level, scope and boundaries
• Incorporation in �nancial analysis
• Governance rules.

Carbon Footprint Training
sessions in 2019 for 
engineers and managers

30+
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The annual quantity of GHG emissions measured in tons of CO2 equivalent resulting from activities for which the 
Company is responsible and has operational control, is described in the table below: 

2018 2019

Total GHG Emissions
(in metric tons CO2 equivalent)

Direct emissions
Scope 1

Indirect emissions
Scope 2

Direct emissions
Scope 1

Indirect emissions
Scope 2

Our Assets 254,535 60,401 283,545 39,932

 Industrial sites 10,968 40,778 9,701 21,375

 Fleet 242,117 21 272,292 0

 Offices 1,450 19,602 1,551 18,558

Our Projects 
including Construction sites and 
Yards/Bases:

319,523 9,010 132,572 13,906

 Onshore/Offshore 284,055 3,898 51,780 9,128

 Subsea 29,658 2,840 76,023 2,873

 Other 5,810 2,272 4,769 1,905

GHG Emissions by Scope 574,058 69,411 416,117 53,838

Total GHG Emissions 643,469 469,955

To ease yearly comparison and trend analysis, industrial sites, offices, and fleet are presented under Our Assets, 
being TechnipFMC’s permanent sites fully owned and operationally managed. Construction sites and Yards/Bases are 
aggregated under Our Projects and presented separately as they are usually temporary sites that are not owned by 
TechnipFMC but operationally managed during the construction phase. They are subject to important variations from one 
year to another, depending on the number and type of ongoing projects and the type of construction activities (e.g., early 
site work, civil work, construction, pre-commissioning, commissioning, or start-up).

Within our Assets, Scope 1, direct emissions (“Scope 1”), increased minimally, due to fleet activities compared to the same 
period in 2018, while Scope 2, indirect emissions (“Scope 2”), decreased by 34% compared to the same period in 2018. 
This reduction is associated with the Company’s asset energy transition in place in different countries where businesses 
are shifting towards certified renewables in offices and manufacturing plants. As part of the transition, 4,210 tons of CO2 
equivalent have been saved by renewable energy in use in offices and manufacturing areas. 

With respect to TechnipFMC projects, a 59% reduction of Scope 1 emissions was registered in 2019 compared to the 
same period in 2018 due to the closure of several EPC projects in the first part of 2019. Scope 2 emissions increased 
slightly due to the restart of activities in several yards for new projects starting in the second part of 2019.
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The annual quantity of emissions from the purchase of electricity, heat, steam, or cooling by the Company is described in 
the table below:

Total GHG Emissions from purchase of
(in metric tons CO2 equivalent)

2018 2019

Electricity 69,304 53,725

Heat 87 0

Steam 0 0

Cooling 20 113

Total Emissions 69,411 53,838

GHG Emissions Intensity
The Company’s GHG emissions’ intensity factor is calculated using both direct and indirect emissions (Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 emissions) as a numerator and the environmental hours worked (corresponding to sites that contributed to 
environmental data reporting)1 as a denominator. Hours worked has been acknowledged as being the information that is 
the most representative of the Company’s overall activity and is frequently used in HSE standards in the industry.

(in kg eq. CO2/hours worked) 2018 2019

Total GHG Emissions Intensity 4.07 2.99

Methodology
Environmental data is collected through our HSE reporting system, Synergi, a global, integrated software solution. Each 
of the Company’s reporting entities is required to consolidate and record its environmental data in Synergi on a monthly 
basis. This data reflects the environmental performance of entities involved in the offices, construction sites, yards 
and spoolbases, manufacturing, and fleet operations when we own or manage the site in question and when we are 
responsible for managing the work. 

Environmental data is aggregated for the analysis in Asset and Projects categories: industrial sites, fleet, and offices 
are consolidated as Our Assets since these three categories represent TechnipFMC’s permanent sites (owned or leased) 
under full operational control, while the EPC Construction sites and Yards/Bases are not all owned sites but are all under 
the operational control and responsibility of the Company for short- to medium-term periods (less than five years of 
activities). These definitions are set out in the Company’s guidelines on environmental reporting and are in line with our 
HSE principles and standards.

The reporting period is the 2019 calendar year. Figures for environmental indicators have been extracted from the 
Company reporting tool for the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. 

To calculate Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions, energy data registered by sites for electricity consumption and fuel 
consumption are converted using emission factors from the IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, 
2006, and from CAIT v8.0, 2011. Emission factors are different depending on the type of fuel, method of generating 
electricity, and country. They are then integrated into the reporting tool that calculates the resulting CO2 emissions.

(1) Environmental Coverage is defined as the ratio between Environmental Worked Hours in locations reporting environmental data and HSE worked 
hours in all Company locations. Environmental Coverage in 2019 was 93.8%, which was stable compared to 93.6% in 2018. In 2019, approximately 
234 locations, projects, and vessels reported environmental data compared to 213 locations, projects, and vessels in 2018.
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Provide the carbon footprint to our clients 
Our second Respecting the Environment objective aims to provide the 
carbon footprint of all our deliverables to clients through conceptual 
studies to help introduce our clients to new, low-carbon options in 
early stages of projects and highlight the carbon footprint differences 
between concepts as early as possible. In 2019, carbon footprint 
calculation modules were developed and are under implementation in 
both Onshore/Offshore and Subsea conceptual studies.

Carbon footprint studies
completed for subsea
products and 
eets

42
Mechanism applied to hybrid
battery on vessels

Internal carbon price 
Since 2019, TechnipFMC has been developing a mechanism to 
establish an internal carbon price for the Company, focused on our 
assets, which should be implemented as part of the future Company’s 
investment decisions for capital expenditures. We followed the 
highest international standards on this topic, and, in 2019, we formed 
a business integrated Internal Carbon Price Workgroup with the 
participation of our HSE, EWG, Strategy, Finance, and Sustainability 
experts. The purpose of the workgroup was to assess the potential 
impact of an internal carbon price on TechnipFMC’s capital 
expenditures. A case study was performed and several internal 
carbon price methodologies were applied. The case study emphasized 
the improvement of the Company’s cumulative cash flow, internal rate 
of return, and the reduction of the payback period, and valorized the 
most sustainable solutions in terms of carbon emissions reduction. 
As a result of the case study, we are further progressing the 
development of a global internal carbon price standard and guiding 
principles that will be implemented in the future.

Carbon footprint studies
completed for subsea
products and 
eets

42
Mechanism applied to hybrid
battery on vessels
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Environmental Certifications
Despite operating in a complex industry, we are committed to successfully 
managing our environmental impacts by effectively measuring our environmental 
performance. The Company is operated in a manner that minimizes the 
environmental impact of, and risks associated with, our activities through 
effective environmental management standards that are implemented in an 
extended lifecycle perspective.

The Company maintains a policy of seeking to implement environmental 
certification ISO 14001 where practicable. To meet this commitment,  
TechnipFMC has implemented an environmental management framework.  
As of December 31, 2019, 64 entities have completed the transition to the  
new ISO 14001:2015 standard, including all head offices and managed 
projects, industrial sites, and fleet. For each of these entities, the environmental 
management system was verified and certified by an independent third party.

entities 
ISO 14001:2015 
certi�ed in 2019

64

2019 Environmental Initiatives
TechnipFMC has also joined global initiatives for the protection of the oceans from plastic pollution. Plastic is a valuable 
resource that needs to be responsibly used. The Company is committed to reducing its use of single-use plastic in day-to-
day working activities. A Single-Use Plastic Elimination (“SUPE”) project was launched in 2018 in 52 locations, comprising 
28% of Company locations, and in the fleet with the aim of eliminating single-use plastic or substituting it with more 
sustainable and reusable items. In 2018, the SUPE project saved approximately 167,000 plastic bottles and 2.3 million 
plastic cups.

In 2019, the SUPE project has been extended to over 40 countries. Approximately 139 locations, comprising 76% of 
Company locations, and over 30 vessels and projects have completed the elimination of single-use plastic bottles and cups. 
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52

139

76%

28%

Of�ces, Facilities 
and Yards

130+

Vessels and Projects
30+

Best Practices on
Environment launched 
to eliminate/substitute 
single-use plastics

100+

For details on the principal environmental risks related to our operations and our management of those risks see the 
section entitled “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” of this Strategic Report.
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Employee and Social Matters
People and Culture are at the heart of our development strategy. People are our wealth and strength. We are committed 
to our employees, and our employee guidelines are specified in our Code of Business Conduct, which applies to all 
employees, regardless of their roles, and no matter where they work.

We believe that all of our employees are entitled to fair treatment, courtesy, and respect, wherever they work — in 
the office, on vessels, on industrial and construction sites, or in client offices. We do not tolerate any form of abuse or 
harassment, and we will not tolerate any action, conduct, or behavior that is humiliating, intimidating, or hostile.

Furthermore, our hiring and employee development decisions are fair and objective. Employment decisions are based 
only on relevant qualifications, performance, demonstrated skills, experience, and other job-related factors, with our goal 
of creating a diverse, tolerant, and inclusive workforce. 

Workforce Overview
Breakdown of total workforce per contract:

Achieved Performance December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019

Permanent employees 33,528 34,454

Temporary employees (fixed-term) 3,616 2,713

Employees on payroll 37,144 37,167

Contracted workforce 3,458 5,310

Total Workforce 40,602 42,477

Developing and Keeping Talent
Enabling our people to grow and develop is a significant priority. 

	` In October 2018, we launched a global learning hub as part of our global Human Resources (“HR”) portal. This hub is a 
learning experience platform with a modern and easy-to-use interface. Over 9,000 pieces of creative and innovative 
learning content and ongoing releases of new and meaningful courses are available to support skills development for 
our employees and enhance their performance in their job.

	` In 2019, we continued our journey to offer best-in-class development opportunities to our people by enhancing our 
processes and practices. 

	`We launched a new platform dedicated to continuous development feedback on behaviors, strengths, and 
development areas. The platform is open to all employees to receive and provide constructive feedback to/from 
their peers, colleagues, team members, and managers. This approach is in line with the continuous improvement 
mindset. This platform offers a fully mobile access to learning content anywhere, anytime, and from any device. This 
is a new key milestone in supporting our employees in realizing their potential by providing them with the tools, 
processes, and data to effectively manage their career development.

	`Our yearly performance appraisal process was kicked off for all TechnipFMC payroll employees in October 2019. 
This process, supported by our HR portal, was released in a more stream-lined version compared to 2018. A 
stronger focus was put on employees’ behaviors, as part of our core values framework, and the workflow for 
employees and managers was also simplified. 
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	`To support our talent acquisition efforts, we launched 
a new employer brand in 2019, reflecting what our 
people say about TechnipFMC: we work on breakthrough 
projects, in a global playground and, as a result, our 
people live inspiring experiences. This is the key message 
we want potential future employees to associate with 
TechnipFMC.

“We work on breakthrough 
projects, in a global playground 
and, as a result, our people live 
inspiring experiences”

Promoting Cultural and Ethnic Diversity
The Company focuses on our broad cultural and ethnic diversity, which we constantly promote and develop throughout 
the Company and our subsidiaries, through the internationalization of our teams, multicultural programs, and 
international mobility.

Advancing gender diversity is a strategic objective for the Company. Details are available in the section entitled “Diversity 
Policy” of the Corporate Governance Report.

Providing Employment to People with Disabilities
Three of the Company’s Foundational Beliefs — integrity, respect, and sustainability — are tangibly embedded in fair 
employment practices and equal opportunity. The Company’s policy is that our employment decisions related to 
recruitment, selection, evaluation, compensation, and development, among others, are not influenced by unlawful or 
unfair discrimination on the basis of race, religion, gender, age, ethnic origin, nationality, sexual orientation, gender or 
gender reassignment, marital status, or disability.

It is the Company’s policy to encourage and give full and fair consideration to applications for employment from disabled 
people, and to assist with their training and development in light of their aptitudes and abilities. If an existing employee 
becomes disabled, it is the Company’s policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under our 
usual terms and conditions, and to provide training, career development, and promotion opportunities to the disabled 
employee to the fullest extent possible.

Strengthening Social Dialogue
The Company has developed a culture that is based on the values of trust, mutual respect, and dialogue. In accordance 
with local legislation, regular meetings with trade union-appointed and/or works council representatives are organized 
for information and/or consultation.

The Company’s European Works Council (“EWC”) meets at least twice a year. All of our European entities were within the 
EWC by the end of 2019.

Internal Communication
The Company has a robust internal communications strategy and supports communication channels that ensure that 
all employees are communicated to within a timely and relevant way. The effectiveness of internal communication is 
continually monitored and adjusted based on a focus group feedback program that reaches multiple levels across the 
Company. Employees are regularly consulted and provided with information on changes and events that may affect 
them through channels such as regular meetings, employee representatives, and the Company’s intranet site. These 
consultations and meetings ensure that employees are kept informed of the financial and economic factors affecting the 
Company’s performance and matters of concern to them as employees. 
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Labor Relations and Collective Agreements
The Company seeks to maintain constructive relationships with works councils and trade unions, and to comply with 
relevant local laws and collective agreements in relation to collective or individual labor relations. The Company also 
operates through local subsidiaries in many countries, a number of which, including France, Germany, Norway, and Italy, 
have legal requirements for works councils, which include employee representatives. 

We send regular information to all employees to share information about business success, change to the organizational 
structure, and any major impact to the business or the company. The same approach of sharing information and 
maintaining a regular dialogue with employees exists at a local level through the action of the local communications 
teams and the managers. In countries where staff representatives or work councils are in place, the Company seeks to 
maintain an effective and regular dialogue. To get the direct feedback of employees, employees surveys are performed 
in some countries or business, such as Norway, the Surface Americas Business Unit, and the Asia Pacific region. Every 
quarter, all employees receive a direct communication from the Chairman and CEO about the financial results of the 
Company and main business information. While traveling to a Company center, the Executive Leadership Team members 
take this as an opportunity to engage with employees, either through town halls or informal meetings.
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Our Compliance Program
How TechnipFMC conducts its business across the world is as important as why TechnipFMC does business. We act 
in accordance with our core values and our Foundational Beliefs in all that we do. We aspire to develop business 
relationships with like-minded partners who are guided by a similar set of principles of business conduct. Integrity is one 
of the most critical cornerstones of the way we conduct business, and, at TechnipFMC, we hold ourselves to the highest 
moral and ethical principles that drive our compliance program. 

Our Code of Business Conduct is built on our Foundational Beliefs of safety, integrity, quality, respect, and sustainability, 
and gives us a common language and playbook for decisions and actions that help us live our core values. Available in 
13 languages, our Code of Business Conduct helps us recognize and address the ethical dimensions to our everyday 
decisions. In addition to our Code of Business Conduct, we maintain a world-class compliance program that is designed on 
a risk-based approach and focuses on the following priorities:

	`Human rights: The protection of human rights is an essential business principle we promote for our employees in the 
workplace and across our supply chain.

	` Trade controls and foreign boycotts: We implement policies and procedures pertaining to international trade laws and 
regulations imposed by applicable authorities.

	`Data privacy: We implement appropriate security and access measures to protect personal data stored in information 
systems.

	`Anti-bribery and corruption: Our standards and processes provide a clear and comprehensive framework for our 
business in all of the countries in which we operate, in compliance with all applicable laws.

Our compliance program is supported by a global team of professionals embedded across our organization, who 
are responsible for the provision of advice, counsel and training, and auditing of our program and its controls. This 
is designed to mitigate and monitor compliance risk in support of our operations. Our program is led by a Chief 
Compliance Officer, who reports dually to our Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer, and to the Chair of the 
Board of Directors’ Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Our Chief Compliance Officer regularly reports 
compliance matters to management and formally reports to the Committee quarterly. These reports include continuous 
enhancements to our compliance program and allegations regarding potential non-compliance with our Code of Business 
Conduct.

We believe it is up to all of us to uphold the principles in our Code of Business Conduct. We encourage employees and 
others to raise questions and concerns to ensure that we are leading by example. Suspected breaches of our Code 
of Business Conduct can be reported through various means, including through an independent third party via the 
dedicated reporting hotline. TechnipFMC has a zero-tolerance policy on retaliation against employees for reporting 
suspected violations of our policies or Code of Business Conduct.
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Human Rights
Respect is one of our Foundational Beliefs. It guides how we fundamentally do business and what we never compromise 
on, no matter the circumstances. We believe that everyone is entitled to honest, fair, and courteous treatment. We do not 
tolerate any form of modern slavery and do express a strong commitment for respecting human rights and against the 
use of child, forced, indentured, or involuntary labor, regardless of where we conduct business. 

Our Code of Business Conduct requires that all directors, officers, employees, and employees of subsidiaries and affiliates 
ensure our business partners and suppliers do not engage in inappropriate labor practices, including child or indentured 
labor.

TechnipFMC has published its statement on slavery and human trafficking for the financial year ending December 31, 
2018 in accordance with section 54 of the U.K. Modern Slavery Act 2015. This document is available on our website at 
www.TechnipFMC.com under the heading “About us > Ethics and Compliance > Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement”.

Our employees are encouraged and expected to report violations or suspected violations of our Code of Business 
Conduct. Various channels are available, including the option to report concerns to their managers, to anyone in the 
corporate compliance or legal department, the employee’s human resources representative, or an independent third 
party via a dedicated reporting helpline and website. 

We treat all reports of suspected violations of our Code of Business Conduct confidentially and will share the information 
only with those who have the responsibility and authority to investigate and properly resolve the issue. In addition, we 
have a zero-tolerance policy on retaliation against employees for reporting suspected violations of our policies or Code 
of Business Conduct or for cooperating with an investigation. We encourage employees and others to raise questions and 
concerns to ensure that we are leading by example. 

The Company endeavors to ensure compliance with human rights within the scope of our operations and in accordance 
with the following international human rights regulations and principles:

	` The United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights

	` The 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights

	` The International Labour Organization’s Fundamental Conventions regarding the freedom of association, the 
eradication of discrimination and forced labor and the abolition of child labor 

The Company also remains a member of the United Nations Global Compact.

In addition, the Company has become a member of Building Responsibly, a group of leading engineering and construction 
companies that are working together to promote the rights and welfare of workers across the industry, representing 
more than 573,000 employees and operating in about 100 countries. Together the membership is working on publication 
of ten guidance notes to provide minimum standards in human rights and worker welfare compliance, which forms 
the basis of our strategic approach. We continue to work on our human rights strategy to address human rights risks 
internally and in our supply chain, and enhance workers’ welfare. We have created an internal Human Rights Working 
Group bringing together our support functions and operations to foster and ensure a better working environment for 
our employees and our suppliers. The group is currently conducting an internal human rights risk assessment to assess 
our processes against human rights international standards, Building Responsibly principles, and our clients’ human rights 
expectations. We are also working on the standardization of our processes across the Company and on our human rights 
expectations towards our suppliers.
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Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery Compliance Controls
The Company is committed to conducting business across the world ethically, lawfully, and in accordance with our core 
values and our Foundational Beliefs. Therefore, all employees, as well as our business partners and supply chain, are 
expected to conduct their activities in an ethical and lawful manner on a day-to-day basis. 

All acts of fraud and corruption (including bribes, kickbacks, and self-dealing) are strictly forbidden. We compete fairly 
on the strength of our technology, service, and execution excellence. We do not tolerate corruption in any form and 
do not make or accept improper payments to obtain or retain business with those in government or the private sector 
or as a reward for awarding subcontractor or supplier contracts. We are committed to complying with all international 
and national legislation against illegal payments, including prohibitions on facilitation payments (to expedite routine and 
administrative government action) except in extraordinary circumstances where the safety or security of an employee is 
in immediate danger.

To ensure that our partners share our commitment to ethical business practices, and to ensure that our partners’ other 
relationships (including family relationships) do not create the appearance of a potential conflict of interest, we conduct 
detailed due diligence of all potential business partners before entering into a relationship. Our Code of Business Conduct 
highlights our commitment to integrity, and in conjunction with our standards and procedures, we have implemented a 
variety of anti-bribery and corruption-related operational standards that translate our general principles into concrete 
operating procedures. 

We have also developed an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Standard, which applies to all our directors, officers, employees, 
and contracted personnel, aimed at providing a clear and comprehensive operational framework for the conduct of our 
business in all of the countries in which we operate. The Anti-Bribery and Corruption Standard sets out the Company’s 
principles for strict compliance with applicable anti-bribery and corruption laws.

The Company pays particular attention to indicators that could cast doubt on the honesty and integrity of third parties 
involved in our business. We have developed a Business Partner Standard, which applies to all our directors, officers, 
employees, and contracted personnel, that establishes the due diligence requirements and procedures for third-party 
government intermediaries and joint ventures/consortia partners, and enables us to assess and manage bribery and 
corruption risks while conducting business globally.

We have a Gifts, Hospitality, and Travel Standard, which applies to all our directors, officers, employees, and contracted 
personnel, setting forth our rules related to the receipt or provision of gifts, hospitality, or travel, and establishing 
procedures for the approval, reporting, and accounting of such. The Gifts, Hospitality, and Travel Standard serves to assist 
employees in ensuring that gifts and hospitality, whether given or received as part of a usual courtesy of business, are 
not and cannot be considered as bribes.

We also have a Social Donations, Sponsorships, and Charitable Contributions Standard, which applies to all our directors, 
officers, employees, and contracted personnel, setting forth our rules related to the making of contributions to our 
communities. As a responsible corporate citizen, TechnipFMC believes in contributing to the communities where we conduct 
business around the world by supporting worthy causes, donations, and activities. Under appropriate circumstances, social 
donations, sponsorships, and charitable contributions provide an important way for TechnipFMC to play a constructive 
role in the societies and communities in which we live, work, and conduct business. This standard, which applies to all our 
directors, officers, employees, and contracted personnel, sets forth our rules associated with these activities to ensure our 
contributions are not misused for improper purposes, such as to disguise illegal payments to government officials.

Our Code of Business Conduct and its related standards are applicable to all employees, business partners, and supply 
chain members, as well as all of our business transactions, and all of our majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries. We 
will also use our best efforts to induce our joint venture and consortium members to adopt the standards or agree to 
abide by an equivalent set of standards. In sum, our compliance program is designed to effectively mitigate and monitor 
risks relevant to our enterprise to ensure we are preserving the interests of our stakeholders in accordance with our core 
values and Foundational Beliefs.
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Supply Chain and Customer Matters
In line with our aspiration to develop business relationships with like-minded clients, sub-contractors, suppliers, and 
business partners who are guided by a similar set of principles of business conduct, it is our policy that our Code of 
Business Conduct be shared and discussed with clients, suppliers, and our business partners to better explain our rules 
of conduct and reinforce our culture of accountability. We will do business only with those suppliers who respect human 
rights and uphold labor laws. In undertaking sourcing, we focus on sustainability and consider our impact on the planet, 
people, and communities in which we operate.  

Our Code of Business Conduct requires directors, officers, and employees to ensure that:

	`Our suppliers, customers, and business partners are aware of our commitment to creating a diverse and  
tolerant workforce.

	`Managers make contractors and suppliers aware of applicable Health, Safety, Environment, and Security (“HSES”) 
rules, procedures, and expected behaviors, and their role in HSES culture wherever we operate.

	`Our business partners and suppliers do not engage in inappropriate labor practices, including child or indentured labor.

	`Appropriate due diligence is conducted on all consultants, suppliers, business partners, and agents, and ensures that 
third parties understand TechnipFMC’s policy of zero tolerance for corruption.

	`We exercise appropriate due diligence on subcontractors, suppliers, and other vendors to prevent money laundering.

	`All payments to subcontractors, suppliers, consultants, and agents are made in accordance with our financial 
standards, including the requirement that payment be made in the country in which the work was performed.

We aspire to develop business relationships with like-minded clients, subcontractors, suppliers, and business partners 
who are guided by a similar set of principles of business conduct. Our goal is to build and sustain long-lasting 
relationships with governments, customers, partners, suppliers, and local communities where we have operations. 
Stakeholder considerations are embedded throughout our discussions and decisions, including in the discussions and 
decisions of our board of directors during the past financial year. The supply of goods and services is critical to our 
success as a business. We implement processes and procedures to enable us to manage our supply chain and supplier 
relationships effectively. As part of these processes and procedures we work to identify and engage suppliers who can 
meet the demands of our business at a competitive cost. 

Our local procurement teams are essential in this process and facilitate regular dialogue with our suppliers, while 
navigating local cultural, language, and time zone differences. 

We regularly assess the performance of our suppliers to ensure they meet our standards and expectations in the 
delivery, quality, and response to supply chain matters. We are committed to operating our business with a focus on 
safety, integrity, quality, respect, and sustainability and we aspire to work with suppliers who are guided by a similar 
set of principles of business conduct. We actively assess and monitor our suppliers’ compliance with rules, regulations, 
principles, and guidelines relating to modern slavery, sustainability, human rights, anti-bribery, tax evasion, and data 
protection, amongst others.
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Health and Safety
We manage Health, Safety, Environmental, and Security (“HSES”) as an integral part of our business, based on a genuine 
care and concern for the people and environment. Safety is one of our Foundational Beliefs and is at the heart of 
everything we do. We are all responsible for creating a safe and secure workplace.

We believe that all injuries are preventable. By fostering an incident-free environment, we drive our clients’ success 
without compromising safety, health, security, or environmental sustainability. We act responsibly and openly at every 
step, assuring our customers and partners of our competence and inspiring their trust.

Pulse Program
At the core of our HSES system, Pulse, our HSES culture and engagement program, is an enabler to create one common, 
strong HSES culture. Through this culture and engagement program, individuals learn leadership and communication skills 
to more effectively use existing HSES tools and techniques. We focus on three key behaviors to drive change throughout 
our organization, prevent incidents, and create leaders for HSES at all levels: Inspire, Interact, Intervene.

Safety Performance
In 2019 we continued to focus on assessing and lowering risks to prevent incidents in all the work we do. We continued 
to regularly evaluate the Company’s full HSES risk profile within the context of our operations, our contractors, 
subcontractors, and customer relationships. A standard risk matrix is used to evaluate our profile, followed by the 
application of mitigation measures based on a hierarchy of controls to proactively prevent an incident.

Serious Incident and Fatality Prevention (SIFP) Program
A proactive high Impact Risk Prevention Program has been developed and fully implemented. It aims to facilitate to 
shift the organization mindset from reactive to proactive risk reduction. The SIFP program is meant to identify potential 
hazards within our operations that has the potential to cause Catastrophic or Substantial Loss to people and/or the 
environment as defined by the Risk Matrix and provides a process for mitigation design, approval, and implementation. 
The objectives are to prevent Serious Injuries, to proactively de-risk our overall risk profile by putting mitigation 
strategies in place, and to bring visibility to critical issues requiring the support of leadership.

As a member of the International Association of Oil & Gas Producers (“IOGP”) TechnipFMC is fostering industry 
standardization and has adopted since 2018 the new set of the IOGP Life-Saving Rules and will continue working with the 
rest of industry to prevent serious incidents in the workplace.

In 2019, 167.1 million hours were worked at the Company’s facilities and project sites worldwide.

SAFETY PERFORMANCE 2017 2018 2019

Total Recordable Incident Rate (TRIR)1 0.28 0.26 0.17

Lost Time Injury Frequency (LTIF)1 0.05 0.06 0.04

Leadership & Management Walkthrough 
Frequency1

13.18 16.03 12.76

Fatal Accident Frequency1 0 0.0012 0.0012

(1)  The frequencies are calculated across 200,000 hours worked. Incidents as defined by the U.S. Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration standards are considered. The cut-off date is December 31, 2019. 
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Decision making and section 172 of the Companies Act
Our success depends on our ability to engage effectively with our stakeholders. Our Board considers, both individually 
and collectively, that they have acted in a way they consider in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success 
of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole, having regard to matters set out in section 172(1)(a) to (f) of 
the Companies Act in the decisions taken during the financial year ending December 31, 2019. In particular, we refer to:

	` Likely consequences of any decision in the long term: We operate a sophisticated, global business in a highly 
competitive industry that has been negatively impacted by low commodity prices. Enhancement of our performance 
and competitiveness is a key component of our strategy, and this is achieved through technology innovation and 
differentiation, seamless execution, and simplification that drives cost down. We are targeting profitable and sustainable 
growth, seizing market growth opportunities, expanding our range of services, and managing our assets efficiently to 
ensure that we are well-positioned to benefit from the opportunities we see in many of the segments we serve in order 
to deliver a long-term beneficial impact on the company and our clients. 

	` Interests of employees: Each of our more than 37,000 employees is critical to delivering the strategy and success of 
the company. We are committed to our employees, and our employee guidelines are specified in our Code of Business 
Conduct, which applies to all employees, regardless of their roles, and no matter where they work. Employee matters 
is one of our primary considerations in the way we do business (further details are set out in the paragraph entitled 
“Employee and Social Matters” of this Strategic Report).

	` Fostering relationships with suppliers, customers, and others: In line with our aspiration to develop business 
relationships with like-minded clients, sub-contractors, suppliers, and business partners who are guided by a similar 
set of principles of business conduct, it is our policy that our Code of Business Conduct be shared and discussed 
with clients, suppliers, and our business partners to better explain our rules of conduct and reinforce our culture 
of accountability. Our goal is to build and sustain long-lasting relationships with governments, customers, partners, 
suppliers, and local communities where we have operations (further details are set out in the paragraph entitled “Supply 
Chain and Customer Matters” of this Strategic Report).

	` Impact of operations on the community and the environment: Respecting the Environment is the first of our three 
Sustainability pillars. We believe our environmental responsibility requires us to operate in a manner that minimizes 
the impact of our operations on the environment, develop sustainable solutions to reduce carbon emissions within 
our overall environmental footprint, and avoid any environmental incidents in our operations and activities. We also 
support and encourage our employees to volunteer and support their community development programs in line with 
our Code of Business Conduct and our Supporting Communities pillar (further details are set out in the paragraphs 
entitled “Respecting the Environment” and “Supporting Communities” of this Strategic Report). 

	`Maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct: Our Code of Business Conduct is built on our 
Foundational Beliefs of safety, integrity, quality, respect, and sustainability, and gives us, including our directors and 
each and every employee, a common language and playbook for decisions and actions that help us live our core values. 
Available in 13 languages, our Code of Business Conduct helps us recognize and address the ethical dimensions to our 
everyday decisions (further details are set out in the paragraph entitled “Our Compliance Program” of this Strategic Report).

	` The need to act fairly as between shareholders of the company: To provide the opportunity to better understand 
shareholder views, our Board and executive team maintain a shareholder engagement program to solicit feedback 
across a number of shareholder matters. We believe this engagement is important as we seek to develop long-term 
relationships with our shareholders and ensure that they fully understand our strategy and the ways in which we seek 
to unlock value across our business portfolio. Our intention is to treat our shareholders fairly and equally. Our 2019 Off-
Season Shareholder Outreach Campaign involved our active outreach to 37 shareholders representing approximately 
59% of TechnipFMC’s ordinary shares in issue with respect to our board leadership and governance, executive 
compensation, and corporate responsibility and sustainability (further details are set out in the paragraph entitled 
“Shareholder Engagement” of the Remuneration Report).
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
Principal risks and uncertainties that could impact our ability to achieve our anticipated operating results and growth plan 
goals are presented below. The following principal risks and uncertainties should be read in conjunction with discussions 
of our business and the factors affecting our business located elsewhere in this U.K Annual Report and in our other public 
filings. 

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We operate in a highly competitive environment and unanticipated changes relating to competitive factors in our 
industry, including ongoing industry consolidation, may impact our results of operations.

We compete on the basis of a number of different factors, such as product offerings, project execution, customer service, 
and price. In order to compete effectively we must develop and implement innovative technologies and processes, 
and execute our clients’ projects effectively. We can give no assurances that we will continue to be able to compete 
effectively with the products and services or prices offered by our competitors.

Our industry, including our customers and competitors, has experienced unanticipated changes in recent years. Moreover, 
the industry is undergoing vertical and horizontal consolidation to create economies of scale and control the value chain, 
which may affect demand for our products and services because of price concessions for our competitors or decreased 
customer capital spending. This consolidation activity could impact our ability to maintain market share, maintain or 
increase pricing for our products and services or negotiate favorable contract terms with our customers and suppliers, 
which could have a significant negative impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. We are 
unable to predict what effect consolidations and other competitive factors in the industry may have on prices, capital 
spending by our customers, our selling strategies, our competitive position, our ability to retain customers or our ability 
to negotiate favorable agreements with our customers.

Demand for our products and services depends on oil and gas industry activity and expenditure levels, which are 
directly affected by trends in the demand for and price of crude oil and natural gas.

We are substantially dependent on conditions in the oil and gas industry, including (i) the level of exploration, 
development and production activity, (ii) capital spending, and (iii) the processing of oil and natural gas in refining units, 
petrochemical sites, and natural gas liquefaction plants by energy companies that are our customers. Any substantial or 
extended decline in these expenditures may result in the reduced pace of discovery and development of new reserves 
of oil and gas and the reduced exploration of existing wells, which could adversely affect demand for our products 
and services and, in certain instances, result in the cancellation, modification, or re-scheduling of existing orders in 
our backlog. These factors could have an adverse effect on our revenue and profitability. The level of exploration, 
development, and production activity is directly affected by trends in oil and natural gas prices, which historically have 
been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile in the future.

Factors affecting the prices of oil and natural gas include, but are not limited to, the following:

	`demand for hydrocarbons, which is affected by worldwide population growth, economic growth rates, and general 
economic and business conditions;

	` costs of exploring for, producing, and delivering oil and natural gas;

	`political and economic uncertainty, and socio-political unrest;

	` governmental laws, policies, regulations and subsidies related to or affecting the production, use, and exportation/
importation of oil and natural gas;
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	` available excess production capacity within the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and the level 
of oil production by non-OPEC countries;

	`oil refining and transportation capacity and shifts in end-customer preferences toward fuel efficiency and the use of 
natural gas;

	` technological advances affecting energy consumption;

	`development, exploitation, relative price, and availability of alternative sources of energy and our customers’ shift of 
capital to the development of these sources;

	`volatility in, and access to, capital and credit markets, which may affect our customers’ activity levels, and spending 
for our products and services; and

	`natural disasters.

The oil and gas industry has historically experienced periodic downturns, which have been characterized by diminished 
demand for oilfield services and downward pressure on the prices we charge. While oil and natural gas prices have 
partially rebounded from the downturn that began in 2014, the market remains quite volatile and the sustainability of the 
price recovery and business activity levels is dependent on variables beyond our control, such as geopolitical stability, 
OPEC’s actions to regulate its production capacity, changes in demand patterns, and international sanctions and tariffs. 
Continued volatility or any future reduction in demand for oilfield services could further adversely affect our financial 
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our success depends on our ability to develop, implement, and protect new technologies and services.

Our success depends on the ongoing development and implementation of new product designs, including the processes 
used by us to produce and market our products, and on our ability to protect and maintain critical intellectual property 
assets related to these developments. If we are not able to obtain patents, trade secrets or other protection of our 
intellectual property rights, if our patents are unenforceable or the claims allowed under our patents are not sufficient 
to protect our technology, or if we are not able to adequately protect our patents or trade secrets, we may not be able 
to continue to develop our services, products and related technologies. Additionally, our competitors may be able to 
independently develop technology that is similar to ours without infringing on our patents or gaining access to our trade 
secrets. If any of these events occurs, we may be unable to meet evolving industry requirements or do so at prices 
acceptable to our customers, which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

The industries in which we operate or have operated expose us to potential liabilities, including the installation or use 
of our products, which may not be covered by insurance or may be in excess of policy limits, or for which expected 
recoveries may not be realized.

We are subject to potential liabilities arising from, among other possibilities, equipment malfunctions, equipment misuse, 
personal injuries, and natural disasters, any of which may result in hazardous situations, including uncontrollable flows 
of gas or well fluids, fires, and explosions. Our insurance against these risks may not be adequate to cover our liabilities. 
Further, the insurance may not generally be available in the future or, if available, premiums may not be commercially 
justifiable. If we incur substantial liability and the damages are not covered by insurance or are in excess of policy limits, 
or if we were to incur liability at a time when we were not able to obtain liability insurance, such potential liabilities could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We may lose money on fixed-price contracts.

As customary for some of our projects, we often agree to provide products and services under fixed-price contracts. We 
are subject to material risks in connection with such fixed-price contracts. It is not possible to estimate with complete 
certainty the final cost or margin of a project at the time of bidding or during the early phases of its execution. Actual 
expenses incurred in executing these fixed-price contracts can vary substantially from those originally anticipated for 
several reasons including, but not limited to, the following:
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	`unforeseen additional costs related to the purchase of substantial equipment necessary for contract fulfillment or 
labor shortages in the markets where the contracts are performed;

	`mechanical failure of our production equipment and machinery;

	`delays caused by local weather conditions and/or natural disasters (including earthquakes and floods); and

	` a failure of suppliers, subcontractors, or joint venture partners to perform their contractual obligations.

The realization of any material risks and unforeseen circumstances could also lead to delays in the execution schedule of 
a project. We may be held liable to a customer should we fail to meet project milestones or deadlines or to comply with 
other contractual provisions. Additionally, delays in certain projects could lead to delays in subsequent projects that were 
scheduled to use equipment and machinery still being utilized on a delayed project.

Pursuant to the terms of fixed-price contracts, we are not always able to increase the price of the contract to reflect 
factors that were unforeseen at the time our bid was submitted, and this risk may be heightened for projects with longer 
terms. Depending on the size of a project, variations from estimated contract performance, or variations in multiple 
contracts, could have a significant impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

New capital asset construction projects for vessels and manufacturing facilities are subject to risks, including delays 
and cost overruns, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, or results of operations.

We regularly carry out capital asset construction projects to maintain, upgrade, and develop our asset base, and such 
projects are subject to risks of delay and cost overruns that are inherent in any large construction project, resulting from 
numerous factors including, but not limited to, the following:

	` shortages of key equipment, materials or skilled labor;

	`delays in the delivery of ordered materials and equipment;

	`design and engineering issues; and

	` shipyard delays and performance issues.

Failure to complete construction in time, or the inability to complete construction in accordance with design 
specifications, may result in the loss of revenue. Additionally, capital expenditures for construction projects could 
materially exceed the initially planned investments, or there could be delays in putting such assets into operation.

Our failure to timely deliver our backlog could affect future sales, profitability, and relationships with our customers.

Many of the contracts we enter into with our customers require long manufacturing lead times due to complex technical 
and logistical requirements. These contracts may contain clauses related to liquidated damages or financial incentives 
regarding on-time delivery, and a failure by us to deliver in accordance with customer expectations could subject us to 
liquidated damages or loss of financial incentives, reduce our margins on these contracts, or result in damage to existing 
customer relationships. The ability to meet customer delivery schedules for this backlog is dependent upon a number 
of factors, including, but not limited to, access to the raw materials required for production, an adequately trained and 
capable workforce, subcontractor performance, project engineering expertise and execution, sufficient manufacturing 
plant capacity, and appropriate planning and scheduling of manufacturing resources. Failure to deliver backlog in 
accordance with expectations could negatively impact our financial performance.

We face risks relating to our reliance on subcontractors, suppliers, and our joint venture partners.

We generally rely on subcontractors, suppliers, and our joint venture partners for the performance of our contracts. 
Although we are not dependent upon any single supplier, certain geographic areas of our business or a project or group 
of projects may depend heavily on certain suppliers for raw materials or semi-finished goods.
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Any difficulty in engaging suitable subcontractors or acquiring equipment and materials could compromise our ability to 
generate a significant margin on a project or to complete such project within the allocated time frame. If subcontractors, 
suppliers or joint venture partners refuse to adhere to their contractual obligations with us or are unable to do so due 
to a deterioration of their financial condition, we may be unable to find a suitable replacement at a comparable price, or 
at all. Moreover, the failure of one of our joint venture partners to perform their obligations in a timely and satisfactory 
manner could lead to additional obligations and costs being imposed on us as we may be obligated to assume our 
defaulting partner’s obligations or compensate our customers.

Any delay, failure to meet contractual obligations, or other event beyond our control or not foreseeable by us, that 
is attributable to a subcontractor, supplier or joint venture partner, could lead to delays in the overall progress of the 
project and/or generate significant extra costs. Even if we are entitled to make a claim for these extra costs against the 
defaulting supplier, subcontractor or joint venture partner, we may be unable to recover the entirety of these costs and 
this could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our businesses are dependent on the continuing services of certain of our key managers and employees.

We depend on key personnel. The loss of any key personnel could adversely impact our business if we are unable 
to implement key strategies or transactions in their absence. The loss of qualified employees or failure to retain and 
motivate additional highly-skilled employees required for the operation and expansion of our business could hinder our 
ability to successfully conduct research activities and develop marketable products and services.

Seasonal and weather conditions could adversely affect demand for our services and operations.

Our business may be materially affected by variation from normal weather patterns, such as cooler or warmer summers 
and winters. Adverse weather conditions, such as hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico or extreme winter conditions in 
Canada, Russia, and the North Sea, may interrupt or curtail our operations, or our customers’ operations, cause supply 
disruptions or loss of productivity, and may result in a loss of revenue or damage to our equipment and facilities, which 
may or may not be insured. Any of these events or outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations.

Due to the types of contracts we enter into and the markets in which we operate, the cumulative loss of several major 
contracts, customers, or alliances may have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

We often enter into large, long-term contracts that, collectively, represent a significant portion of our revenue. These 
agreements, if terminated or breached, may have a larger impact on our operating results or our financial condition 
than shorter-term contracts due to the value at risk. Moreover, the global market for the production, transportation, 
and transformation of hydrocarbons and by-products, as well as the other industrial markets in which we operate, is 
dominated by a small number of companies. As a result, our business relies on a limited number of customers. If we 
were to lose several key contracts, customers, or alliances over a relatively short period of time, we could experience a 
significant adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our operations require us to comply with numerous regulations, violations of which could have a material adverse 
effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our operations and manufacturing activities are governed by international, regional, transnational, and national laws and 
regulations in every place where we operate relating to matters such as environmental protection, health and safety, 
labor and employment, import/export controls, currency exchange, bribery and corruption, and taxation. These laws 
and regulations are complex, frequently change, and have tended to become more stringent over time. In the event the 
scope of these laws and regulations expand in the future, the incremental cost of compliance could adversely impact our 
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our international operations are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices 
Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010 (the “Bribery Act”), the anti-corruption provisions of French law n° 2016-1691 
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dated December 9, 2016 relating to Transparency, Anti-corruption and Modernization of the Business Practice (“Sapin II 
Law”), the Brazilian Anti-Bribery Act (also known as the Brazilian Clean Company Act), and economic and trade sanctions, 
including those administered by the United Nations, the European Union, the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. 
Department of the Treasury (“U.S. Treasury”), and the U.S. Department of State. The FCPA prohibits corruptly providing 
anything of value to foreign officials for the purposes of obtaining or retaining business or securing any improper 
business advantage. We may deal with both governments and state-owned business enterprises, the employees of which 
are considered foreign officials for purposes of the FCPA. The provisions of the Bribery Act extend beyond bribery of 
foreign public officials and are more onerous than the FCPA in a number of other respects, including jurisdiction, non-
exemption of facilitation payments, and penalties. Economic and trade sanctions restrict our transactions or dealings with 
certain sanctioned countries, territories, and designated persons.

As a result of doing business in foreign countries, including through partners and agents, we are exposed to a risk of 
violating anti-corruption laws and sanctions regulations. Some of the international locations in which we currently 
operate or may, in the future, operate, have developing legal systems and may have higher levels of corruption than 
more developed nations. Our continued expansion and worldwide operations, including in developing countries, our 
development of joint venture relationships worldwide, and the employment of local agents in the countries in which we 
operate increases the risk of violations of anti-corruption laws and economic and trade sanctions. Violations of anti-
corruption laws and economic and trade sanctions are punishable by civil penalties, including fines, denial of export 
privileges, injunctions, asset seizures, debarment from government contracts (and termination of existing contracts), and 
revocations or restrictions of licenses, as well as criminal fines and imprisonment. In addition, any major violations could 
have a significant impact on our reputation and consequently on our ability to win future business.

We have implemented internal controls designed to minimize and detect potential violations of laws and regulations in 
a timely manner but we can provide no assurance that such policies and procedures will be followed at all times or will 
effectively detect and prevent violations of the applicable laws by one or more of our employees, consultants, agents, or 
partners. The occurrence of any such violation could subject us to penalties and material adverse consequences on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Compliance with environmental and climate change-related laws and regulations may adversely affect our business 
and results of operations.

Environmental laws and regulations in various countries affect the equipment, systems, and services we design, 
market, and sell, as well as the facilities where we manufacture our equipment and systems, and any other operations 
we undertake. We are required to invest financial and managerial resources to comply with environmental laws 
and regulations, and believe that we will continue to be required to do so in the future. Failure to comply with these 
laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil, and criminal penalties, the imposition of 
remedial obligations, the issuance of orders enjoining our operations, or other claims and complaints. Additionally, our 
insurance and compliance costs may increase as a result of changes in environmental laws and regulations or changes in 
enforcement. These laws and regulations, as well as any new laws and regulations affecting exploration and development 
of drilling for crude oil and natural gas, are becoming increasingly strict and could adversely affect our business and 
operating results by increasing our costs, limiting the demand for our products and services, or restricting our operations.

Existing or future laws and regulations relating to greenhouse gas emissions and climate change may adversely affect 
our business.

Climate change continues to attract considerable public and scientific attention. As a result, numerous laws, regulations, 
and proposals have been made and are likely to continue to be made at the international, national, regional, and state 
levels of government to monitor and limit emissions of carbon dioxide, methane, and other “greenhouse gases” (“GHGs”). 
These efforts have included cap-and-trade programs, carbon taxes, GHG reporting and tracking programs and regulations 
that directly limit GHG emissions from certain sources. Such existing or future laws, regulations, and proposals concerning 
the release of GHGs or that concern climate change (including laws, regulations, and proposals that seek to mitigate the 
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effects of climate change) may adversely impact demand for the equipment, systems and services we design, market and 
sell. For example, oil and natural gas exploration and production may decline as a result of such laws, regulations, and 
proposals, and as a consequence, demand for our equipment, systems and services may also decline. In addition, such 
laws, regulations, and proposals may also result in more onerous obligations with respect to our operations, including the 
facilities where we manufacture our equipment and systems. Such decline in demand for our equipment, systems and 
services and such onerous obligations in respect of our operations may adversely affect our financial condition, results of 
operations, or cash flows.

Disruptions in the political, regulatory, economic, and social conditions of the countries in which we conduct business 
could adversely affect our business or results of operations.

We operate in various countries across the world. Instability and unforeseen changes in any of the markets in which we 
conduct business, including economically and politically volatile areas could have an adverse effect on the demand for 
our services and products, our financial condition, or our results of operations. These factors include, but are not limited 
to, the following:

	`nationalization and expropriation;

	`potentially burdensome taxation;

	` inflationary and recessionary markets, including capital and equity markets;

	` civil unrest, labor issues, political instability, disease outbreaks, terrorist attacks, cyber terrorism, military activity, and 
wars;

	` supply disruptions in key oil producing countries;

	` the ability of OPEC to set and maintain production levels and pricing;

	` trade restrictions, trade protection measures, price controls, or trade disputes;

	` sanctions, such as prohibitions or restrictions by the United States against countries that are the targets of economic 
sanctions, or are designated as state sponsors of terrorism;

	` foreign ownership restrictions;

	` import or export licensing requirements;

	` restrictions on operations, trade practices, trade partners, and investment decisions resulting from domestic and 
foreign laws, and regulations;

	` regime changes; 

	` changes in, and the administration of, treaties, laws, and regulations including in response to public health issues;

	` inability to repatriate income or capital;

	` reductions in the availability of qualified personnel;

	` foreign currency fluctuations or currency restrictions; and

	`fluctuations in the interest rate component of forward foreign currency rates. 

DTC and Euroclear may cease to act as depository and clearing agencies for our shares.

Our shares were issued into the facilities of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) with respect to shares listed on 
the NYSE and Euroclear with respect to shares listed on Euronext Paris (DTC and Euroclear being referred to as the 
“Clearance Services”). The Clearance Services are widely used mechanisms that allow for rapid electronic transfers of 
securities between the participants in their respective systems, which include many large banks and brokerage firms. The 
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Clearance Services have general discretion to cease to act as a depository and clearing agencies for our shares. If either 
of the Clearance Services determine at any time that our shares are not eligible for continued deposit and clearance 
within its facilities, then we believe that our shares would not be eligible for continued listing on the NYSE or Euronext 
Paris, as applicable, and trading in our shares would be disrupted. Any such disruption could have a material adverse 
effect on the trading price of our shares.

The United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union may have a negative effect on global economic conditions, 
financial markets, and our business.

We are based in the United Kingdom and have operational headquarters in Paris, France; Houston, Texas, United States; 
and in London, United Kingdom, with worldwide operations, including material business operations in Europe. The United 
Kingdom formally withdrew from the European Union on January 31, 2020 and entered into a transition period, which 
will end on or after December 31, 2020. During the transition period, the United Kingdom and the European Union will 
continue to negotiate their future customs and trading arrangements, and other aspects of their relationship. Political and 
economic uncertainty remains about whether the terms of the relationship will differ materially from the terms before 
withdrawal, as well as the possibility that a so-called “no deal” separation will occur if negotiations are not completed by 
the end of the transition period.

These developments could have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of the global 
financial markets and could significantly reduce global market liquidity and restrict the ability of key market participants 
to operate in certain financial markets. Asset valuations, currency exchange rates, and credit ratings may be especially 
subject to increased market volatility. In addition, a lack of clarity about the future relationship between the United 
Kingdom and the European Union, and their respective laws and regulations, including financial laws and regulations, 
tax and free trade agreements, intellectual property rights, supply chain logistics, environmental, health and safety 
laws and regulations, immigration laws, employment laws, and other rules that would apply to us and our subsidiaries, 
could increase our costs, restrict our access to capital within the United Kingdom and the European Union, depress 
economic activity, and further decrease foreign direct investment in the United Kingdom. For example, withdrawal from 
the European Union could, depending on the negotiated terms of such withdrawal, eliminate the benefit of certain tax-
related E.U. directives currently applicable to U.K. companies such as us, including the Parent-Subsidiary Directive and the 
Interest and Royalties Directive, which could, subject to any relief under an available tax treaty, raise our tax costs.

Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

As an English public limited company, we must meet certain additional financial requirements before we may declare 
dividends or repurchase shares and certain capital structure decisions may require stockholder approval which may 
limit our flexibility to manage our capital structure. We may not be able to pay dividends or repurchase shares of our 
ordinary shares in accordance with our announced intent, or at all.

Under English law, we will only be able to declare dividends, make distributions, or repurchase shares (other than out 
of the proceeds of a new issuance of shares for that purpose) out of “distributable profits.” Distributable profits are a 
company’s accumulated, realized profits, to the extent that they have not been previously utilized by distribution or 
capitalization, less its accumulated, realized losses, to the extent that they have not been previously written off in a 
reduction or reorganization of capital duly made. In addition, as a public limited company incorporated in England and 
Wales, we may only make a distribution if the amount of our net assets is not less than the aggregate of our called-up 
share capital and non-distributable reserves and to the extent that the distribution does not reduce the amount of those 
assets to less than that aggregate.

Following the Merger, we implemented a court-approved reduction of our capital, which was completed on June 29, 2017, 
in order to create distributable profits to support the payment of possible future dividends or future share repurchases. 
Our articles of association permit us by ordinary resolution of the stockholders to declare dividends, provided that the 
directors have made a recommendation as to its amount. The dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended by the 
Board of Directors. The directors may also decide to pay interim dividends if it appears to them that the profits available 
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for distribution justify the payment. When recommending or declaring payment of a dividend, the directors are required 
under English law to comply with their duties, including considering our future financial requirements.

In addition, the Board of Directors’ determinations regarding dividends and share repurchases will depend on a variety 
of other factors, including our net income, cash flow generated from operations or other sources, liquidity position, and 
potential alternative uses of cash, such as acquisitions, as well as economic conditions and expected future financial 
results. Our ability to declare and pay future dividends and make future share repurchases will depend on our future 
financial performance, which in turn depends on the successful implementation of our strategy and on financial, 
competitive, regulatory, technical, general economic conditions, demand and selling prices for our products and services, 
and other factors specific to our industry or specific projects, many of which are beyond our control. Therefore, our 
ability to generate cash depends on the performance of our operations and could be limited by decreases in our 
profitability or increases in costs, regulatory changes, capital expenditures, or debt servicing requirements.

Any failure to pay dividends or repurchase shares of our ordinary shares could negatively impact our reputation, harm 
investor confidence in us, and cause the market price of our ordinary shares to decline.

Our existing and future debt may limit cash flow available to invest in the ongoing needs of our business and could 
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under our outstanding debt.

We have substantial existing debt. As of December 31, 2019, our total debt is $4.5 billion. We also have the capacity 
under our $2.5 billion credit facility, in addition to our bilateral facility, to incur substantial additional debt. Our level of 
debt could have important consequences. For example, it could:

	`make it more difficult for us to make payments on our debt;

	` require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of debt service, reducing 
the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, distributions, and other 
general partnership purposes;

	` increase our vulnerability to adverse economic or industry conditions;

	` limit our ability to obtain additional financing to react to changes in our business; or

	`place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to businesses in our industry that have less debt.

Additionally, any failure to meet required payments on our debt or to comply with any covenants in the instruments 
governing our debt, could result in an event of default under the terms of those instruments. In the event of such default, 
the holders of such debt could elect to declare all the amounts outstanding under such instruments to be due and 
payable.

The London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and certain other interest “benchmarks” may be subject to regulatory 
guidance and/or reform that could cause interest rates under our current or future debt agreements to perform 
differently than in the past or cause other unanticipated consequences. The United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct 
Authority, which regulates LIBOR, has announced that it intends to stop encouraging or requiring banks to submit LIBOR 
rates after 2021, and it is unclear if LIBOR will cease to exist or if new methods of calculating LIBOR will evolve. If LIBOR 
ceases to exist or if the methods of calculating LIBOR change from their current form, interest rates on our current or 
future debt obligations may be adversely affected.

A downgrade in our debt rating could restrict our ability to access the capital markets.

The terms of our financing are, in part, dependent on the credit ratings assigned to our debt by independent credit 
rating agencies. We cannot provide assurance that any of our current credit ratings will remain in effect for any given 
period of time or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency. Factors that may impact 
our credit ratings include debt levels, capital structure, planned asset purchases or sales, near- and long-term production 
growth opportunities, market position, liquidity, asset quality, cost structure, product mix, customer and geographic 

72    TechnipFMC

U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 2019



diversification, and commodity price levels. A downgrade in our credit ratings, particularly to non-investment grade 
levels, could limit our ability to access the debt capital markets or refinance our existing debt or cause us to refinance 
or issue debt with less favorable terms and conditions. Moreover, our revolving credit agreement includes an increase 
in interest rates if the ratings for our debt are downgraded, which could have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations. An increase in the level of our indebtedness and related interest costs may increase our vulnerability to 
adverse general economic and industry conditions and may affect our ability to obtain additional financing, as well as 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Uninsured claims and litigation against us, including intellectual property litigation, could adversely impact our financial 
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

We could be impacted by the outcome of pending litigation, as well as unexpected litigation or proceedings. We have 
insurance coverage against operating hazards, including product liability claims and personal injury claims related to our 
products or operating environments in which our employees operate, to the extent deemed prudent by our management 
and to the extent insurance is available. However, our insurance policies are subject to exclusions, limitations, and other 
conditions and may not apply in all cases, for example where willful wrongdoing on our part is alleged. Additionally, 
the nature and amount of that insurance may not be sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabilities arising out of 
pending and future claims and litigation. Additionally, in individual circumstances, certain proceedings or cases may 
also lead to our formal or informal exclusion from tenders or the revocation or loss of business licenses or permits. Our 
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be adversely affected by unexpected claims not covered by 
insurance.

In addition, the tools, techniques, methodologies, programs, and components we use to provide our services may infringe 
upon the intellectual property rights of others. Infringement claims generally result in significant legal and other costs. 
The resolution of these claims could require us to enter into license agreements or develop alternative technologies. 
The development of these technologies or the payment of royalties under licenses from third parties, if available, would 
increase our costs. If a license were not available, or we are not able to develop alternative technologies, we might not be 
able to continue providing a particular service or product, which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of 
operations, or cash flows.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

We conduct operations around the world in many different currencies. Because a significant portion of our revenue is 
denominated in currencies other than our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, changes in exchange rates will produce 
fluctuations in our revenue, costs, and earnings, and may also affect the book value of our assets and liabilities and 
related equity. We hedge transaction impacts on margins and earnings where a transaction is not in the functional 
currency of the business unit, but we do not hedge translation impacts on earnings. Our efforts to minimize our currency 
exposure through such hedging transactions may not be successful depending on market and business conditions. 
Moreover, certain currencies in which we conduct operations, specifically currencies in countries such as Angola and 
Nigeria, do not actively trade in the global foreign exchange markets and may subject us to increased foreign currency 
exposures. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may adversely affect our financial condition, 
results of operations, or cash flows.

Our acquisition and divestiture activities involve substantial risks.

We have made and expect to continue to pursue acquisitions, dispositions, or other investments that may strategically fit 
our business and/or growth objectives. We cannot provide assurances that we will be able to locate suitable acquisitions, 
dispositions, or investments, or that we will be able to consummate any such transactions on terms and conditions 
acceptable to us. Even if we do successfully execute such transactions, they may not result in anticipated benefits, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. If we are unable to successfully integrate and develop 
acquired businesses, we could fail to achieve anticipated synergies and cost savings, including any expected increases in 
revenues and operating results. We may not be able to successfully cause a buyer of a divested business to assume the 
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liabilities of that business or, even if such liabilities are assumed, we may have difficulties enforcing our rights, contractual 
or otherwise, against the buyer. We may invest in companies or businesses that fail, causing a loss of all or part of our 
investment. In addition, if we determine that an other-than-temporary decline in the fair value exists for a company in 
which we have invested, we may have to write down that investment to its fair value and recognize the related write-
down as an investment loss.

A failure of our IT infrastructure, including as a result of cyber attacks, could adversely impact our business and results 
of operations.

The efficient operation of our business is dependent on our IT systems. Accordingly, we rely upon the capacity, reliability, 
and security of our IT hardware and software infrastructure and our ability to expand and update this infrastructure 
in response to changing needs. We have been subject to cyber attacks in the past, including phishing, malware, and 
ransomware. No such attack has had a material adverse effect on our business, however this may not be the case with 
future attacks. Our systems may be vulnerable to damages from such attacks, as well as from natural disasters, failures in 
hardware or software, power fluctuations, unauthorized access to data and systems, loss or destruction of data (including 
confidential customer information), human error, and other similar disruptions, and we cannot give assurance that any 
security measures we have implemented or may in the future implement will be sufficient to identify and prevent or 
mitigate such disruptions.

We rely on third parties to support the operation of our IT hardware, software infrastructure, and cloud services, and 
in certain instances, utilize web-based and software-as-a-service applications. The security and privacy measures 
implemented by such third parties, as well as the measures implemented by any entities we acquire or with whom we do 
business, may not be sufficient to identify or prevent cyber attacks, and any such attacks may have a material adverse 
effect on our business. While our IT vendor agreements typically contain provisions that seek to eliminate or limit our 
exposure to liability for damages from a cyber attack, we cannot ensure such provisions will withstand legal challenges or 
cover all or any such damages.

Threats to our IT systems arise from numerous sources, not all of which are within our control, including fraud or malice 
on the part of third parties, accidental technological failure, electrical or telecommunication outages, failures of computer 
servers or other damage to our property or assets, outbreaks of hostilities, or terrorist acts. The failure of our IT systems 
or those of our vendors to perform as anticipated for any reason or any significant breach of security could disrupt our 
business and result in numerous adverse consequences, including reduced effectiveness and efficiency of operations, 
inappropriate disclosure of confidential and proprietary information, reputational harm, increased overhead costs, and 
loss of important information, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In 
addition, we may be required to incur significant costs to protect against damage caused by these disruptions or security 
breaches in the future. Our insurance coverage may not cover all of the costs and liabilities we incur as the result of any 
disruptions or security breaches, and if our business continuity and/or disaster recovery plans do not effectively and 
timely resolve issues resulting from a cyber attack, we may suffer material adverse effects on our business.

We are subject to governmental regulation and other legal obligations related to privacy, data protection, and data 
security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business.

We are subject to international data protection laws, such as the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, in the 
European Economic Area, or EEA. The GDPR imposes several stringent requirements for controllers and processors 
of personal data which have increased our obligations, including, for example, by requiring more robust disclosures to 
individuals, notifications, in some cases, of data breaches to regulators and data subjects, and a record of processing 
and other policies and procedures to be maintained to adhere to the accountability principle. In addition, we are subject 
to the GDPR’s rules on transferring personal data outside of the EEA (including to the United States), and some of these 
rules are currently being challenged in the courts. Failure to comply with the requirements of GDPR and the local laws 
implementing or supplementing the GDPR could result in fines of up to €20,000,000 or up to 4% of the total worldwide 
annual turnover of the preceding financial year, whichever is higher, as well as other administrative penalties. We are 
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likely to be required to expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing compliance with the GDPR and 
other applicable data protection legislation, and we may be required to put in place additional control mechanisms which 
could be onerous and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

The IRS may not agree that we should be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes and may seek to 
impose an excise tax on gains recognized by certain individuals.

Although we are incorporated in the United Kingdom, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) may assert that 
we should be treated as a U.S. “domestic” corporation (and, therefore, a U.S. tax resident) for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes pursuant to Section 7874 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). For U.S. federal 
income tax purposes, a corporation (i) is generally considered a “domestic” corporation (or U.S. tax resident) if it is 
organized in the United States or of any state or political subdivision therein, and (ii) is generally considered a “foreign” 
corporation (or non-U.S. tax resident) if it is not considered a domestic corporation. Because we are a U.K. incorporated 
entity, we would be considered a foreign corporation (and, therefore, a non-U.S. tax resident) under these rules. Section 
7874 of the Code (“Section 7874”) provides an exception under which a foreign incorporated entity may, in certain 
circumstances, be treated as a domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We do not believe this exception applies. However, the Section 7874 rules are complex and subject to detailed 
regulations, the application of which is uncertain in various respects. It is possible that the IRS will not agree with our 
position. Should the IRS successfully challenge our position, it is also possible that an excise tax under Section 4985 of the 
Code (the “Section 4985 Excise Tax”) may be assessed against certain “disqualified individuals” (including former officers 
and directors of FMC Technologies, Inc.) on certain stock-based compensation held thereby. We may, if we determine that 
it is appropriate, provide disqualified individuals with a payment with respect to the Section 4985 Excise Tax, so that, on 
a net after-tax basis, they would be in the same position as if no such Section 4985 Excise Tax had been applied.

In addition, there can be no assurance that there will not be a change in law or interpretation, including with retroactive 
effect, that might cause us to be treated as a domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

U.S. tax laws and/or guidance could affect our ability to engage in certain acquisition strategies and certain internal 
restructurings.

Even if we are treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Section 7874, U.S. Treasury 
regulations, and other guidance promulgated thereunder may adversely affect our ability to engage in certain future 
acquisitions of U.S. businesses or to restructure the non-U.S. members of our group. These limitations, if applicable, may 
affect the tax efficiencies that otherwise might be achieved in such potential future transactions or restructurings.

In addition, the IRS and the U.S. Treasury have issued final and temporary regulations providing that, even if we are 
treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, certain intercompany debt instruments issued on 
or after April 4, 2016 will be treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, therefore limiting U.S. tax benefits 
and resulting in possible U.S. withholding taxes. Although recent guidance from the U.S. Treasury removes certain 
documentation requirements that would otherwise be imposed with respect to covered debt instruments, announces an 
intention to further modify and possibly withdraw certain classification rules relating to covered debt instruments, and 
further indicates that these rules generally are the subject of continuing study and may be further materially modified, 
the current regulations may adversely affect our future effective tax rate and could also impact our ability to engage in 
future restructurings if such transactions cause an existing intercompany debt instrument to be treated as reissued for 
U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We are subject to the tax laws of numerous jurisdictions; challenges to the interpretation of, or future changes to, such 
laws could adversely affect us.

We and our subsidiaries are subject to tax laws and regulations in the United Kingdom, the United States, France, and 
numerous other jurisdictions in which we and our subsidiaries operate. These laws and regulations are inherently 
complex, and we are, and will continue to be, obligated to make judgments and interpretations about the application 
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of these laws and regulations to our operations and businesses. The interpretation and application of these laws and 
regulations could be challenged by the relevant governmental authorities, which could result in administrative or judicial 
procedures, actions, or sanctions, which could be material.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law in the United States, which made extensive 
changes to the U.S. taxation of multinational companies, and is subject to future regulatory and possible legislative 
changes. In addition, the U.S. Congress, the U.K. Government, the European Union, the Organization for Economic Co-
operation and Development (the “OECD”), and other government agencies in jurisdictions where we and our affiliates do 
business have had an extended focus on issues related to the taxation of multinational corporations. New tax initiatives, 
directives, and rules, such as the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the OECD’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting initiative, and the 
European Union’s Anti-Tax Avoidance Directives, may increase our tax burden and require additional compliance-related 
expenditures. As a result, our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows may be adversely affected. Further 
changes, including with retroactive effect, in the tax laws of the United States, the United Kingdom, the European Union, 
or other countries in which we and our affiliates do business could also adversely affect us.

We may not qualify for benefits under tax treaties entered into between the United Kingdom and other countries.

We operate in a manner such that we believe we are eligible for benefits under tax treaties between the United Kingdom 
and other countries. However, our ability to qualify for such benefits will depend on whether we are treated as a U.K. 
tax resident, the requirements contained in each treaty and applicable domestic laws, on the facts and circumstances 
surrounding our operations and management, and on the relevant interpretation of the tax authorities and courts. For 
example, because of Brexit, we may lose some or all of the benefits of tax treaties between the United States and the 
remaining members of the European Union, and face higher tax liabilities, which may be significant. Another example 
is the Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting 
(the “MLI”), which entered into force for participating jurisdictions on July 1, 2018. The MLI recommends that countries 
adopt a “limitation-on-benefit” rule and/or a “principle purposes test” rule with regards to their tax treaties. The scope 
and interpretation of these rules as adopted pursuant to the MLI are presently under development, but the application of 
either rule might deny us tax treaty benefits that were previously available.

The failure by us or our subsidiaries to qualify for benefits under tax treaties entered into between the United Kingdom 
and other countries could result in adverse tax consequences to us (including an increased tax burden and increased 
filing obligations) and could result in certain tax consequences of owning and disposing of our shares.

We intend to be treated exclusively as a resident of the United Kingdom for tax purposes, but French or other tax 
authorities may seek to treat us as a tax resident of another jurisdiction.

We are incorporated in the United Kingdom. English law currently provides that we will be regarded as a U.K. resident 
for tax purposes from incorporation and shall remain so unless (i) we are concurrently a resident in another jurisdiction 
(applying the tax residence rules of that jurisdiction) that has a double tax treaty with the United Kingdom and (ii) there is 
a tiebreaker provision in that tax treaty which allocates exclusive residence to that other jurisdiction.

In this regard, we have a permanent establishment in France to satisfy certain French tax requirements imposed by 
the French Tax Code with respect to the Merger. Although it is intended that we will be treated as having our exclusive 
place of tax residence in the United Kingdom, the French tax authorities may claim that we are a tax resident of France 
if we were to fail to maintain our “place of effective management” in the United Kingdom. Any such claim would be 
settled between the French and U.K. tax authorities pursuant to the mutual assistance procedure provided for by the tax 
treaty concluded between France and the United Kingdom. There is no assurance that these authorities would reach an 
agreement that we will remain exclusively a U.K. tax resident; an adverse determination could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. A failure to maintain exclusive tax residency 
in the United Kingdom could result in adverse tax consequences to us and our subsidiaries and could result in certain 
adverse changes in the tax consequences of owning and disposing of our shares.
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Pirates endanger our maritime employees and assets.

We face material piracy risks in the Gulf of Guinea, the Somali Basin, and the Gulf of Aden, and, to a lesser extent, in 
Southeast Asia, Malacca, and the Singapore Straits. Piracy represents a risk for both our projects and our vessels, which 
operate and transport through sensitive maritime areas. Such risks have the potential to significantly harm our crews 
and to negatively impact the execution schedule for our projects. If our maritime employees or assets are endangered, 
additional time may be required to find an alternative solution, which may delay project realization and negatively impact 
our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Risks Related to the Proposed Separation Transaction

The proposed separation transaction announced on August 26, 2019 is contingent upon the satisfaction of a number of 
conditions, may require significant time and attention of our management, and may not achieve the intended results.

As previously disclosed, our Board of Directors unanimously approved a plan to separate into two independent, publicly 
traded companies. For more information, please refer to Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements of this U.K. 
Annual Report. The completion of the transaction, which is expected to be structured as a separation of our Onshore/
Offshore segment including Genesis, a leader in front-end engineering and design, as well as Loading Systems, a leader 
in cryogenic material transfer products, and Cybernetix, a technology leader in process automation, is contingent upon 
the final approval of our Board of Directors as well as market conditions and the receipt of regulatory approvals, which 
are beyond our control, as well as consultation of employee representatives, where applicable. We may also choose to 
abandon the separation at any time. For these and other reasons, the separation may not be completed in the expected 
timeframe or at all. Additionally, the execution of the proposed separation will likely continue to require significant time 
and attention of our management, which could impact other strategic initiatives. Our employees may also be uncertain 
about their future roles within the separate companies pending the completion of the separation, which could lead to 
departures.

Also, in connection with the separation, we will indemnify Technip Energies for certain liabilities and Technip Energies 
will indemnify us for certain liabilities. If we are required to act on these indemnities to Technip Energies, our financial 
results could be negatively impacted. Additionally, any indemnity from Technip Energies may not be sufficient to insure 
us against the full amount of liabilities for which we are responsible and Technip Energies may not be able to satisfy its 
indemnification obligations in the future.

Any such difficulties could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations, and cause 
the combined market value of us and Technip Energies after the separation to fall short of the market value of our shares 
prior to the separation. Substantial sales of our shares may also occur in connection with the separation, which could 
cause our share price to decline.

On behalf of the Board

Douglas J. Pferdehirt

Chairman and CEO

March 13, 2020
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Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) presents its report together with the audited financial statements of the Company 
and our consolidated subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The Corporate Governance statement as required by Rule 7.2.1 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules 
(the “DTRs”) of the U.K.’s Financial Conduct Authority is satisfied by the Corporate Governance Report set out in this 
U.K. Annual Report. All information detailed in the Corporate Governance Report is incorporated by reference into this 
Directors’ Report and is deemed to form part of this Directors’ Report.

For the purposes of DTR 4.1.5R(2) and DTR 4.1.8, this Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report comprise the 
Management Report.

Directors
The directors of the Company who held office during the year ended December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Executive Directors

 Executive Chairman Chairman and CEO 

 Thierry Pilenko Douglas J. Pferdehirt
 (until May 1, 2019) (Chairman from May 1, 2019)

Non-Executive Directors

 Eleazar de Carvalho Filho  John O’Leary 

 Arnaud Caudoux Olivier Piou

 Pascal Colombani Kay G. Priestly

 Marie-Ange Debon Joseph Rinaldi

 Claire S. Farley James M. Ringler

 Didier Houssin John Yearwood

 Peter Mellbye  

The appointment and replacement of the directors is governed by the Companies Act and the Company’s articles of 
association (the “Articles of Association”). 

The Board is responsible for promoting the long-term success of the Company. The Board is responsible for 
implementation, understanding, and pursuit of a sound strategy for the success of the Company, relying upon a 
framework of corporate governance and internal controls that are designed to protect the Company’s assets. The day-to-
day management of the business is delegated to the executive leadership team apart from matters specifically reserved 
for the Board’s decision. The Board delegates some of its duties and powers to Board committees, each of which has a 
written charter, available on the Company’s website.

The current directors of the Company have been appointed pursuant to the Articles of Association. Subject to the Articles 
of Association and the Companies Act, a director may be appointed by an ordinary resolution at an annual meeting of 
shareholders or by a decision of the Board. 
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Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Articles of Association, the business of the Company is managed by 
the Board, which may exercise all the powers of the Company whether relating to the management of the business of the 
Company or not. The Board may delegate authorities to committees, and may delegate the day-to-day management and 
decision making to the Chief Executive Officer. 

Share Capital and Articles of Association  
of the Company
As at the close of business on February 28, 2020, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this 
Directors’ Report, the issued and fully paid share capital of the Company was as follows: 

Class of shares Number of shares Nominal value

Ordinary 447,446,836 $447,446,836

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding or on the transfer of shares. No person has any special rights of 
control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid. The Board is not aware of any agreements 
between holders of the Company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting rights.

Following the Merger, the reserves arising out of the Merger were capitalized by the allotment and issuance by 
TechnipFMC of a bonus share, which was paid up using such reserves, such that the amount of reserves so applied, 
less the nominal value of the bonus share, applied as share premium and accrued to our share premium account. We 
implemented a court-approved reduction of our capital by way of a cancellation of the bonus share and share premium 
account which completed on June 29, 2017, to create distributable profits to support the payment of future dividends 
or future share repurchases. On November 27, 2019, the Company redeemed 50,000 redeemable shares of £1 each and 
cancelled one deferred ordinary share of £1 in the capital of the Company.

Specific powers relating to the allotment, issuance and the ability of the Company to repurchase ordinary shares are 
included within the Articles of Association. Under the Articles of Association, the Directors have the authority to allot 
shares up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount representing 20% of the shares in the capital of the Company in 
issue on January 16, 2017 with a five-year validity period. This is in addition to an authority to allot shares in accordance 
with the provisions of section 570 of the Companies Act, as if section 561(1) of that Act did not apply, pursuant to a 
shareholders’ resolution dated January 11, 2017 with a five-year validity period. 

Shareholders shall not be entitled to vote at any shareholders’ meetings or at a separate meeting of the holders of any 
class of shares, either in person or by representative or proxy, in respect of any share held by them unless all amounts 
presently payable by them in respect of that share have been paid.

Subject to the Articles of Association and the Companies Act, a shareholder (or any person appearing to be interested 
in any such shareholder’s shares) may be served with a notice under section 793 of the Companies Act. If the Board 
is satisfied that such shareholder or person has failed to supply to the Company the required information for the 
prescribed period, or in purported compliance with the section 793 notice, has made a statement that is materially 
false or inadequate, the Board may direct that the shareholder shall not be entitled to attend or vote in respect of these 
shares.

The Company operates a TechnipFMC Incentive Award Plan for which certain employees are eligible. Details are 
set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this U.K. Annual Report, and in the Proxy 
Statement available on our website at www.TechnipFMC.com under the heading “Investors > Events and presentations > 
Shareholders’ meeting”.

The process of amending the Articles of Association is subject to the procedure outlined in the Companies Act.
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Share Repurchases 
A share repurchase program authorization was granted by our then shareholder on January 11, 2017 with a five-year 
validity period from that date. In April 2017, our Board authorized the repurchase of up to $500 million of ordinary 
shares. The Company implemented the share repurchase program in September 2017, and it was completed on 
December 18, 2018. In December 2018, our Board authorized an additional share repurchase program to repurchase up 
to $300 million of ordinary shares through open market purchases, granted under the same shareholder authority. The 
Company terminated its share repurchase program on July 3, 2019.

In 2019, the Company purchased a total of 4,012,752 of our own ordinary shares with a nominal value of $1.00 each, 
representing almost 0.9% of the issued share capital on December 31, 2019 for a total amount of $68,740,031.25 and 
€20,848,802.55 on the NYSE and on Euronext Paris, respectively. All weekly reports on share repurchases can be found 
at: https://investors.TechnipFMC.com/stock-information/share-repurchase-program.

The Company does not currently hold any treasury shares and all ordinary shares repurchased under the share 
repurchase program are cancelled and not held as treasury shares. The objective of the share repurchase program is 
to reduce the Company’s issued share capital. Purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares under the share repurchase 
program are carried out on the NYSE and Euronext Paris. 

The Company established our Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT”), an offshore discretionary employee benefit trust, in 2017, 
for the purposes of administering the Company’s share-based awards granted under shareholder approved incentive 
plans. As at the close of business on February 28, 2020, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this 
Directors’ Report, the EBT held 140 ordinary shares of the Company.
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Significant Shareholdings
As at the close of business on February 28, 2020, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this 
Directors’ Report, the Company’s significant shareholders who had notified the Company in accordance with the DTRs 
that they hold 3% or more of the Company’s ordinary shares were as follows:

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Shares Percent of Class1

Invesco Ltd. 
1555 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 1800 
Atlanta, Georgia 30309

34,142,7712 7.63%

First Eagle Investment Management, LLC 
1345 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10105

32,271,8923 7.21%

The Vanguard Group, Inc. 
100 Vanguard Boulevard 
Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355

29,406,2244 6.57%

Bpifrance Participations S.A. 
27–31, avenue du Général Leclerc 
94710 Maisons-Alfort Cedex 
France

24,688,6915 5.51%

BlackRock, Inc. 
55 East 52nd Street 
New York, New York 10055

22,701,6326 5.07%

State Street Corporation 
One Lincoln Street 
Boston, Massachusetts 02111

21,353,0297 4.77%

(1) The calculation of percentage of ownership of each listed beneficial owner is based on 447,446,836 Ordinary Shares outstanding on February 28, 
2020.

(2) Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020, Invesco Ltd. has sole voting power over 32,768,781 Ordinary Shares and 
sole dispositive power over 34,142,596 Ordinary Shares. Invesco Ltd., in its capacity as a parent holding company to its investment advisers, 
may be deemed to beneficially own 34,142,771 Ordinary Shares. However, no one individual has greater than 5% economic ownership. The 
shareholders of the Fund have the right to receive or the power to direct the receipt of dividends and proceeds from the sale of securities. 

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 10, 2020, First Eagle Investment Management, LLC (“FEIM”) has sole voting power 
over 30,730,041 Ordinary Shares and sole dispositive power over 32,271,892 Ordinary Shares. FEIM, an investment adviser registered under 
Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, is deemed to be the beneficial owner of 32,271,892 Ordinary Shares as a result of acting as 
investment adviser to various clients. Clients of FEIM have the right to receive and the ultimate power to direct the receipt of dividends from, or 
the proceeds of the sale of, such securities.

(4) Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020, The Vanguard Group, Inc. has sole voting power over 748,097 Ordinary 
Shares, shared voting power over 129,243 Ordinary Shares, sole dispositive power over 28,553,856 Ordinary Shares, and shared dispositive 
power over 852,368 Ordinary Shares. Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group, Inc., is the 
beneficial owner of 610,922 Ordinary Shares as a result of its serving as investment manager of collective trust accounts. Vanguard Investments 
Australia, Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group, Inc., is the beneficial owner of 370,927 Ordinary Shares as a result of its 
serving as investment manager of Australian investment offerings.

(5) Based on a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on May 30, 2017, Bpifrance Participations S.A., jointly with Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations, 
EPIC Bpifrance, and Bpifrance S.A., have shared voting power over 24,688,691 Ordinary Shares and shared dispositive power over 24,688,691 
Ordinary Shares.

(6) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020, BlackRock, Inc. has sole voting power over 19,747,763 Ordinary Shares and sole 
dispositive power over 22,701,632 Ordinary Shares. BlackRock, Inc. reports that various persons have the right to receive or the power to direct 
the receipt of dividends from, or the proceeds from, the sale of Ordinary Shares, and no one person’s interest in the Company is more than 5% of 
the total outstanding Ordinary Shares.

(7) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 13, 2020, State Street Corporation and its direct or indirect subsidiaries have shared 
voting power over 18,454,907 Ordinary Shares and shared dispositive power over 21,350,343 Ordinary Shares.
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Directors’ Indemnities
Each of our directors is covered by appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, and there are also deeds of 
indemnity in place between the Company and each director. These were executed in 2017 upon the closing of the Merger 
and provide for the Company to indemnify the directors in respect of any proceedings brought by third parties against 
them personally in their capacity as directors of the Company. The Company would also fund ongoing costs in defending 
a legal action as they are incurred rather than after judgment has been given. In the event of an unsuccessful defense in 
an action against directors in a criminal or civil action, individual directors would be liable to repay defense costs to the 
extent funded by the Company. 

Company Details and Branches Outside the 
United Kingdom
The Company is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 09909709, and 
with our registered office at One St. Paul’s Churchyard, London EC4M 8AP.

The Company has one branch outside of the United Kingdom, which is located in Paris, France.

Dividend
For each quarter in the year ended December 31, 2019, the Board declared an interim quarterly dividend of $0.13 per 
share. 

Employee Engagement and Business Relationships
Further information on our work on strengthening social dialogue and internal communication, as part of our labor 
relations along with information on how we promote cultural and ethnic diversity, including the provision of employment 
to people with disabilities, is described in the section entitled “Employee and Social Matters” of the Strategic Report. 
Advancing gender diversity is a strategic objective for the Company. More information can be found in the section 
entitled “Advancing Gender Diversity” of the Strategic Report as well as in the section entitled “Diversity Policy” of the 
Corporate Governance Report. More information on how we take into consideration the need to engage with our 
employees and foster business relationships, can be found in the section entitled “Decision making and section 172 of the 
Companies Act” of the Strategic Report.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions
The annual quantity of GHG emissions measured in tons of CO2 equivalent resulting from activities for which the 
Company is responsible and has operational control, is described in the section entitled “Respecting the Environment” of 
the Strategic Report.

Events since December 31, 2019
No significant events since December 31, 2019 are reported.

Future Developments
Expected future developments of the Company and our subsidiaries are set out in the Strategic Report.

Change in Control
The Companies Act requires the Company to identify (i) those significant arrangements to which the Company is party 
that take effect, alter, or terminate upon a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid, (ii) the effects of 
any such agreements, and (iii) any agreements with the Company and our directors or employees for compensation for 
loss of office or employment that occurs because of a takeover bid.

Provisions under executive severance agreements entered into by each of the Company’s executives, except for our 
Executive Chairman, may be triggered in the event of a change of control if certain conditions are met. 

The impact of a change in control on the remuneration of the directors of the Company is set out in the paragraph 
entitled “Potential Payments upon Change in Control” of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. 

Political Donations
The Company has not made any political donations or incurred any political expenditure during the year ended 
December 31, 2019. In addition, the Company has not made any contributions to a non-E.U. political party during the 
year ended December 31, 2019.

Financial Risk Management Objectives/Policies and 
Hedging Arrangements
Please refer to the paragraph entitled “Risk Management of Financial Reporting” of the Corporate Governance report and 
Note 29 of the consolidated financial statements contained in this U.K. Annual Report for information on the Company’s 
financial risk management objectives/policies and hedging arrangements.

Research and Development
Please refer to the paragraph entitled “Research and Development” of the Strategic Report.
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Directors’ Responsibility Statements
The directors are responsible for our U.K. Annual Report, containing the Strategic Report, this Directors’ Report, the 
Corporate Governance Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report, and the financial statements contained herein, 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. The Companies Act requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with international financial reporting standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board and as adopted by the European Union and Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure 
Framework”, and applicable law). 

Under the Companies Act, the directors must not approve financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and of the profit or loss of the 
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

	` Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

	`Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

	` State whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European Union have been followed for the consolidated financial 
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed for the Company 
financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements

	`Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company 
and its consolidated subsidiaries will continue in business

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the Company’s and its consolidated subsidiaries’ transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements and the U.K. Annual Report comply with the Companies Act and, as regards the consolidated 
financial statements, Article 4 of the E.U. IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement as to the U.K. Annual Report
The directors consider that this U.K. Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced, and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s and its consolidated 
subsidiaries’ performance, business model, and strategy.

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in the section entitled “Directors” of this Report, confirms 
that to the best of his/her knowledge:

	` The financial statements, prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole.

	` The Directors’ Report and Strategic Report include a fair review of the development or performance of the business 
and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.
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Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors
The directors confirm that:

	` So far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s and its consolidated 
subsidiaries’ auditor is unaware.

	` They have each taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s and its consolidated subsidiaries’ auditor is aware of 
that information.

On behalf of the Board

 

Douglas J. Pferdehirt

Chairman and CEO

March 13, 2020
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Corporate Governance Report
The Board believes that the purpose of corporate governance is to facilitate effective oversight and management of 
the Company to maximize shareholder value in a manner consistent with our vision statement, purpose, core values, 
Foundational Beliefs, Code of Business Conduct, and all applicable legal requirements. 

The Board provides accountability, objectivity, perspective, judgment, and, in some cases, specific industry or technical 
knowledge or experience. In carrying out its responsibilities to our shareholders, the fundamental role of the Board is to 
ensure continuity of leadership; the implementation, understanding, and pursuit of a sound strategy for the success of 
our Company; and the availability of financial and management resources and the implementation of control systems to 
carry out that strategy.

Board Composition and Independence
The Company’s current Board consists of 14 members, 13 of whom are independent under the rules of the NYSE. 
Directors’ biographies can be found at https://www.TechnipFMC.com/en/who-we-are/board-of-directors.

Criteria for Board Membership in Governance Guidelines
Our Governance Guidelines state that candidates for our Board, in order to be nominated by our Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee (or a subcommittee thereof), must be qualified and eligible to serve under applicable 
law, our articles of association (“Articles”), and the NYSE and Euronext rules, and should have:

	`A high level of personal and professional integrity

	` Strong ethics and values 

	` The ability to make mature business judgments

In addition, the Governance Guidelines provide that the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, or relevant 
subcommittee, may consider additional factors when determining whether a candidate is qualified to serve on our Board, 
including the candidate’s: 

	`Experience in corporate management, as a board member of another publicly held company, and in finance and 
accounting and/or compensation practices

	`Professional and academic experience relevant to our industry 

	` Leadership skills

	`Cultural perspective and diversity of thought 

	`Ability to commit the time required for service on our Board
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Board Composition, Refreshment, and Succession Planning 
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee regularly evaluates the composition of our Board and considers 
whether the Board has the right set of backgrounds, experience, skills, diversity, and qualifications to effectively oversee 
our Company’s strategy and our executives’ execution of that strategy. One of the key goals of our Board composition is 
to ensure we have the right skills and experience on our Board to execute our strategic goals successfully and efficiently. 
Our current directors possess a diversity of skills, experience, and expertise that are relevant to our business, such as 
experience in the following:

	`Executive leadership

	` Industry experience

	`Corporate governance and legal

	` Strategy and risk management

	`Cultural and gender diversity

	` Sustainability and emerging technologies

	`Outside public company board service

	` Finance and audit

	`Acquisition, divestment, and investment portfolio management

In 2019, two of our directors, Messrs. Thierry Pilenko and Richard Pattarozzi, retired at our 2019 Annual Meeting. Our 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, with the assistance of Spencer Stuart, a nationally recognized director 
search firm, identified, screened, and assessed the capabilities of potential new director candidates. This rigor assisted 
the Company in identifying and retaining two new Board members in 2019, Messrs. Olivier Piou and John Yearwood, as 
part of our ongoing Board refreshment focus.

In addition to evaluating directors’ skills and experience that tie directly to our business strategy, the Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee also regularly considers any changes in the professional status, independence, outside 
commitments, and other public company directorships of our directors to assess the potential impact of these changes on 
the Board’s effectiveness.

As further described in our Governance Guidelines, a non-executive director whose birth date occurs prior to July 
1st must retire at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company during the year of such director’s 72nd 
birthday, and a non-executive director whose birth date occurs on or after July 1st must retire at the annual general 
meeting of shareholders of the Company the year following such director’s 72nd birthday. Our Board may waive this 
policy on a case-by-case basis on the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee if it 
deems a waiver to be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 
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Enterprise Risk Management
Executive management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the risks the Company faces, while our Board, 
as a whole and through its various committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management for the Company. 
The Company has an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) process and framework to identify and evaluate varying 
levels of risk and their potential impact on the Company, as well as steps to further mitigate those risks. As part of the 
ERM framework, our senior management, led by our CEO, undertakes a process that identifies, categorizes, and analyzes 
the relative severity and likelihood of the various risks to which the Company is or may be subject. In addition, our Board 
and its committees receive periodic reports from senior management that identify and assess significant enterprise-
related risks and address mitigation strategies and plans implemented or proposed for each key risk. In 2019, the 
Company retained external consultants to review our ERM program and benchmark our risk identification and mitigation 
processes against best practices within the industry.

In addition, while the Board has ultimate responsibility for overall risk management oversight, it has designated each of 
its four Board committees with oversight of certain risks within their own areas of responsibility, as indicated in the table 
below.

Audit Compensation
Nominating and  
Corporate Governance

Strategy

	` Financial reporting

	` Liquidity

	`Contract management

	`Cybersecurity

	` Legal and regulatory 
compliance related to 
financial statements and 
disclosures

	` Information-related 
risks, such as 
cybersecurity, taxes, 
and foreign exchange

	` Insurance

	`Compensation policies 
and practices (including 
employee benefit plans 
and administration of 
equity plans)

	` Legal and regulatory 
corporate governance 
compliance

	`Director succession

	`Crisis management 
preparedness

	`Emergency procedures 
for management 
succession

	`Environmental, 
sustainability, 
and governance

	`Global strategy 
related to emerging or 
evolving competitive 
activity, governmental 
or legislative 
developments, and 
global economic 
conditions
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Committees of the Board
Our Board has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and 
a Strategy Committee, each of which comprises at least four directors, selected by the Board upon the recommendation 
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Each member of our Audit Committee, Compensation 
Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee meets the heightened independence standards as 
defined under the NYSE’s listing standards and SEC rules, as applicable, to which we are subject as a result of our listing 
on the NYSE. Additionally, each member of our Audit Committee qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as 
defined by SEC rules. 

Following our announced spin-off transaction, TechnipFMC and Technip Energies will each have an Environmental, 
Sustainability, and Governance Committee to better reflect our focus on these critical areas. For TechnipFMC, this 
committee will replace its current Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 

The Board receives regular updates from its committees on individual categories of risk, including strategy, financial/
operations, cybersecurity, people, technology, investment, legal/compliance, political/legislative/regulatory, and corporate 
responsibility and sustainability. Each of these committees operates pursuant to a written charter setting out the 
functions and responsibilities of the committee, which is reviewed annually, and may be viewed on our website at  
www.TechnipFMC.com under the heading “About us > Governance.” 

Audit Committee

2019 Meetings: 5

Members Primary Responsibilities

Marie-Ange Debon 
(Chair)

Eleazar de Carvalho 
Filho

Arnaud Caudoux

Kay G. Priestly

Joseph Rinaldi

	`Oversight of the financial management and control of the Company, as well as oversight of 
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm

	`Monitoring the Company’s financial reporting process

	`Reviewing the Company’s consolidated financial statements and internal controls with 
management and the independent auditor

	`Monitoring the Company’s compliance with its internal accounting and control policies, 
as well as legal and regulatory requirements to the extent such compliance relates to the 
consolidated financial statements and financial disclosures

	` Selecting, subject to shareholder approval, the Company’s independent auditor, and 
reviewing the qualifications, independence, performance, and remuneration of such 
independent auditor

	`Reviewing the effectiveness and performance of the Company’s internal audit function

	`Considers risks relating to cybersecurity and receives regular reports on the Company’s 
cyber readiness, adversary assessment, risk profile status, and any countermeasures 
being undertaken or considered by the Company

	`Reviewing the effectiveness of processes for reviewing and escalating financial-related 
allegations reported through the Company’s allegation hotline
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Compensation Committee

2019 Meetings: 5

Members Primary Responsibilities

James M. Ringler 
(Chair)

Claire S. Farley

John O’Leary

Joseph Rinaldi

John Yearwood 

	`Reviewing, evaluating, and approving the agreements, plans, policies, and programs of 
the Company to compensate its independent directors, the Chairman and CEO, and other 
officers 

	`Consistent with equity plans approved by the Company’s shareholders, reviewing, 
evaluating, and approving all equity awards by the Company to executive officers and 
approving the number of equity securities or equity derivatives that the CEO is authorized 
to allocate to all other employees at his discretion 

	`Reviewing the compensation disclosures in the Company’s U.K. annual report and proxy 
statement for the Company’s annual general meeting of shareholders

	`Producing the Compensation Committee Report to be included in the Company’s proxy 
statement

	`Reviewing, evaluating, and approving the directors’ remuneration policy and the directors’ 
remuneration report

	`Otherwise discharging the Board’s responsibilities related to compensation of the 
Company’s executive officers and directors

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

2019 Meetings: 6

Members Primary Responsibilities

Peter Mellbye (Chair)

Pascal Colombani

Didier Houssin

Olivier Piou

John Yearwood

	`Advising and making recommendations to the Board regarding appropriate corporate 
governance practices and assisting the Board in implementing those practices

	`Monitoring the development and implementation of the Company’s compliance program 
(including procedures for allegation reporting, investigation, and remediation) to ensure 
that the Company operates in compliance with the principles of ethical conduct and good 
governance

	`Reviewing the Company’s corporate responsibility and sustainability program and key 
performance indicators

	`Reviewing the Company’s succession plans for the Chairman and CEO, and other executive 
officers

	` Identifying individuals qualified to become members of the Board and recommending 
director nominees for election at the annual general meeting of shareholders or for 
appointment to fill vacancies on the Board

	`Recommending directors to serve on each committee of the Board and recommending the 
Lead Independent Director

	` Leading the Board in the annual performance evaluation of the Board and its committees
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Strategy Committee

2019 Meetings: 5

Members Primary Responsibilities

Douglas J. Pferdehirt 
(Chair)

Pascal Colombani

Claire S. Farley

Didier Houssin

Peter Mellbye

Olivier Piou

	`Reviewing the development and implementation of the Company’s long-term global 
strategy, risks, and opportunities relating to such strategy

	`Reviewing strategic decisions regarding major asset acquisitions, divestitures, joint 
ventures, and strategic alliances by the Company

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. It is one of the 
responsibilities that has been delegated to the Audit Committee. As set out in the paragraph entitled “Committees of the 
Board” above, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Company’s internal controls (including reporting 
structures), monitoring compliance with its internal accounting and control policies, and the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal audit function. 

As part of its role, the Audit Committee is required to review, at least annually, the budget and current and future 
programs of the Company’s internal audit department to assure it contains resources necessary to complete the annual 
audit plan in accordance with appropriate professional standards for internal auditors and review summaries of formal 
audit reports issued by the internal audit department. 

In addition, each quarter, under the direction of the CEO and Chief Financial Officer, the Company is required to evaluate 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the United 
States Securities Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2019, and under the direction of our CEO and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness 
of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based upon this 
evaluation, our CEO and Chief Financial Officer concluded as of December 31, 2019, that our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined 
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act.

Management evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 based 
on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission. As a result of this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over 
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financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included herein.

Remediation Activities of Previously Disclosed Material Weaknesses
As of December 31, 2018, our management concluded that we had not maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting in the following areas:

i. period-end financial reporting

ii. accounting for income taxes.

Both material weaknesses were remediated as of December 31, 2019, as noted below. 
 
Period-end Financial Reporting - Remediated as of December 31, 2019

We previously reported that in certain locations, we did not design and maintain effective controls over the period-
end financial reporting process. We had ineffective controls over the documentation, authorization, and review of 
adjustments to and reconciliations of financial information.

These deficiencies did not result in a material misstatement of the financial statements; however, the deficiencies, when 
aggregated, could have resulted in material misstatements of the consolidated financial statements and disclosures that 
would not have been prevented or detected. Accordingly, our management determined that these deficiencies, in the 
aggregate, constituted a material weakness.

Management took the following corrective actions to address this material weakness:

	`Provided additional training and continuous guidance to finance team members on the requirements around control 
processes;

	` Improved the timeliness and effectiveness of our review and approval procedures; and

	` Improved the control activities and execution thereof related to the review of adjustments to and reconciliations of 
financial information.

As a result of these remediation activities and based on testing of the new and modified controls for operating 
effectiveness, our management concluded that we remediated the material weakness related to period-end financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2019.

Accounting for income taxes - Remediated as of December 31, 2019
We previously reported that we did not design and maintain effective controls over the completeness, accuracy, and 
presentation of our accounting for income taxes, including the income tax provision and related income tax assets and 
liabilities.

These deficiencies did not result in a material misstatement of the financial statements; however, the deficiencies, when 
aggregated, could have resulted in material misstatements of the consolidated financial statements and disclosures that 
would not have been prevented or detected. Accordingly, our management determined that these deficiencies, in the 
aggregate, constituted a material weakness.

Management took the following corrective actions to address this material weakness:

	`Reinforced the proper usage of the Company’s global taxation tool, implemented in 2018, by issuing detailed 
instructions and application descriptions; 

	`Provided additional training to finance team members on the appropriate use of the global taxation tool;
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	` Improved the timeliness and effectiveness of our review and approval procedures; and

	` Improved the control activities and execution thereof related to our accounting for income taxes.

As a result of these remediation activities and based on testing of the new and modified controls for operating 
effectiveness, our management concluded that we remediated the material weakness related to accounting for income 
taxes as of December 31, 2019.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Other than steps taken in connection with the completion of the remediation activities described above, there were no 
changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2019 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Risk Management of Financial Reporting
The Board believes that one of its most important roles is the oversight of the Company’s management of risk, which 
the Board accomplishes through its Enterprise Risk Management program. Management presents to the Board the 
risk areas that it believes to be the most significant and the plan for the assessment, monitoring and management of 
those risks. The Board has ultimate responsibility for overall risk management oversight; however, it has designated the 
Audit Committee with oversight of financial risk. The Audit Committee discusses with management on a regular basis 
financial reporting, liquidity, contract management, legal and regulatory compliance, information-related risks, including 
cybersecurity, taxes, and foreign exchange. The Audit Committee reviews the potential financial impacts of these risks, 
the steps the Company takes to ensure that appropriate processes are in place to identify, manage, and control financial 
and business risks and that the Company has adequate insurance coverage to mitigate these risks. In cases where a 
practice or procedure is identified, or an operational incident occurs that could heighten the possibility of a negative 
impact on our operations or financial results, our management reports to the Board the steps to be taken to ensure that 
the risk is appropriately managed. 

Code of Business Conduct
Our Code of Business Conduct is built on our Foundational Beliefs and gives our directors, officers, and employees 
a common language and playbook for decisions and actions that help us live our core values. We are committed to 
establishing and maintaining an effective compliance program that is intended to increase the likelihood of preventing, 
detecting, and correcting violations of Company policy and the law. Moreover, we have a hotline in place for employees, 
officers, directors, and external parties to anonymously report violations of our Code of Business Conduct or complaints 
regarding accounting and auditing practices. Reports of possible violations of financial or accounting policies are reported 
to our Audit Committee.

We will disclose amendments to, or waivers of, our Code of Business Conduct that are required to be disclosed under 
SEC and NYSE rules or any other applicable laws, rules, and regulations. Any waiver of our Code of Business Conduct for 
our officers and directors must be approved by the Board or a relevant Board committee. We have not made any such 
waivers and do not anticipate making any such waiver.

The Code of Business Conduct can be found on our website at www.TechnipFMC.com under the heading “About us > 
Governance”.
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Diversity Policy
The Code of Business Conduct focuses on fair employment practices and equal opportunity, requiring decisions not 
influenced by race, color, religion, gender, age, ethnic origin, nationality, sexual orientation, marital status, or disability. 
More details are set out in the section entitled “Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability–Non-financial Information 
Statement” of the Strategic Report.

Significant Shareholdings
Details of the significant shareholdings of the Company are set out above in the section entitled “Significant Shareholdings” 
of the Directors’ Report. 

On behalf of the Board 

Douglas J. Pferdehirt

Chairman and CEO

March 13, 2020
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Directors’ Remuneration 
Report
Introduction and Compliance Statement
The purpose of this Directors’ Remuneration Report is to inform shareholders of the remuneration of the directors of 
TechnipFMC for the period ended December 31, 2019. This report is divided into two sections:

i. The letter from the Chair of the Compensation Committee

ii. The Annual Report on Remuneration for 2019 including an upfront “At-a-Glance” section to highlight the key aspects 
of remuneration policy

Note that the Remuneration Policy is not required in this year’s report following shareholder acceptance on June 14, 
2018. Our Remuneration Policy is set out in this U.K. Annual Report after this Directors’ Remuneration Report to enable 
you to easily review our report in the context of the policy to which it applies. 

Pursuant to English law, the Directors’ Remuneration Report forms part of the statutory annual report of the Company 
for the year ended December 31, 2019 and has been prepared by the Compensation Committee on behalf of the Board 
in accordance with the laws, rules, and regulations applicable to the Company. 

The Annual Report on Remuneration (elements of which are audited) describes the directors’ fixed and variable pay, 
share awards, benefits, and pension arrangements, as required by Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (the “U.K. Regulations”). The Annual Report on Remuneration will 
be subject to a non-binding advisory shareholder vote at the 2020 Annual Meeting on April 24, 2020. 
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Letter from the Chairman of the 
Compensation Committee
Dear Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report of the Company, covering the period 
from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. This is our third report since TechnipFMC was formed and the year has 
proven to be transformative with our announced separation into two diversified, pure-play market leaders — TechnipFMC 
and Technip Energies — planned to be completed in the second quarter of 2020, contingent upon the final approval of 
our Board of Directors as well as market conditions and the receipt of regulatory approvals. The separation will enable 
both companies to benefit from distinct and compelling market opportunities across the energy value chain; dedicated 
focus of management; resources and capital; and unique value propositions with differentiated investment appeal.

The year was also marked by the retirement of Thierry Pilenko as Executive Chair at our AGM on May 1, 2019, with 
Douglas Pferdehirt assuming the combined role of Chairman and CEO from May 1, 2019.

This means that Douglas Pferdehirt is now our sole Executive Director, a structure whilst relatively uncommon in the 
United Kingdom is typical of U.S.-listed corporations. Details of Mr. Pilenko’s departure provisions and Mr. Pferdehirt’s 
remuneration are provided in our Annual Report on Remuneration and summarized in the section below.

Notwithstanding these changes the executive leadership of TechnipFMC remained focussed on execution of strategy 
during 2019, the key highlights of which are summarized below as they relate to compensation outcomes. 

Our Compensation Philosophy and How that Informs Decision Making
We are a global leader in oil and gas projects, technologies, systems, and services and provide our clients with deep 
expertise across subsea, onshore/offshore, and surface projects. Our vision to enhance performance of the world’s 
energy industry is supported by the relentless drive of every individual at TechnipFMC. We are united by one single 
purpose: to bring together the scope, knowledge, and determination to transform our clients’ project economics. Our 
executive compensation is designed to help us achieve our vision by:

	`Motivating our executive officers to achieve and exceed our short-term and long-term goals and objectives

	`Aligning the interest of our executive officers with the interests of our shareholders by focusing our executive 
compensation program on drivers of sustainable shareholder value and by ensuring a majority of executive 
compensation is at-risk

	`Providing market competitive levels of compensation to help us retain and attract exceptionally talented individuals 
who can deliver on our vision

Remuneration Arrangements in 2019
With the departure of Mr. Pilenko and appointment of Mr. Pferdehirt as combined Chairman and CEO during the year, 
the Committee reviewed and approved both the retirement payments and compensation package for each executive, 
respectively. All payments were in line with our shareholder approved Remuneration Policy.

Mr. Pilenko left the Board of Directors effective May 1, 2019. In accordance with his service agreement, the Committee 
determined that Mr. Pilenko would be entitled to receive a pro-rata annual cash incentive target of 120% of his annual 
base salary, based on his service from January 1, 2019 to May 1, 2019, in addition to those payments due to him. 
Further information can be found in the paragraph entitled “Payments for Loss of Office”.
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Shareholder Engagement
Our Compensation Committee takes shareholder input seriously, carefully reflecting on the results of shareholder 
advisory votes and feedback received during shareholder engagement. At our 2019 annual general meeting of 
shareholders, 79.9% of votes cast approved our 2018 Remuneration Report with 20.1% voting against the report. 
While this represented majority support, the Compensation Committee wanted to better understand the reasons some 
shareholders voted against our 2018 executive compensation.

Through our shareholder engagement efforts, our Board and executive leadership team solicited feedback specifically 
on our 2018 executive compensation program and considered shareholders’ input within the context of our pay-for-
performance philosophy, business, and strategies. 

In response to shareholder feedback received in 2019, we took the following actions:

	`Eliminated the role of Executive Chairman following completion of post-Merger integration and reduced to a single, 
CEO-level compensation structure.

	`Discontinued the use of stock options so that performance-based equity will represent 70% of all annual equity 
awards beginning in 2020, and annual equity awards will comprise only performance stock units (“PSUs”) (70%) and 
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) (30%).

	`Retained the metric, EBITDA as a Percentage of Revenue, under our annual incentive plan to reinforce the link 
between annual incentive metrics and business strategy.

	`Continued the use of Return on Invested Capital (“ROIC”) in our long-term equity incentive plan, in addition to 
relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”). ROIC is an absolute financial metric that measures management’s ability 
to efficiently allocate capital, and performance for ROIC is measured against an internal target. The relative TSR 
metric is based on share price performance relative to an external peer group. Due to the cyclical nature of the oil 
and gas industry, shareholders have supported inclusion of both internal and external metrics in long-term equity 
incentive plans.

	`Based a portion of our Chairman and CEO’s annual cash incentive bonus on certain sustainability measures to further 
reinforce the Company’s commitment to our Foundational Beliefs.

	`Updated our compensation and performance peer groups to reflect changes in our business environment. 

	` Simplified disclosures in our Remuneration Report to provide additional details and calculations, including enhanced 
descriptions of the individual performance component of our annual cash incentive bonus plan, as well as our target-
setting process and our peer group selection rationale. 
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Proposed Remuneration Arrangements in 2020
For 2020 we are proposing modest modifications to the implementation of our executive compensation program, in 
line with our shareholder approved Remuneration Policy, and informed by feedback we received from our shareholders 
during engagement in 2019.

The most significant change is a rebalancing of our long-term incentive mix with the removal of stock options. While the 
Committee believed this to be an appropriate performance-based vehicle, given its inherent link to long-term sustainable 
value creation, our shareholders did not universally agree. Furthermore, as we navigate the separation and strategic 
realignment there is the risk of unintended windfalls primarily driven by stock price volatility. The 20% of the long-term 
incentive mix that was previously delivered in stock options will be reallocated equally to PSUs and RSUs as follows:

PSU 60%

SO
20%

RSU
20%

2019

PSU 70%

RSU
30%

2020

We decided to base a portion of our CEO’s annual cash incentive bonus on certain sustainability measures to further 
reinforce the Company’s commitment to our Foundational Beliefs.

Looking Ahead
As the Company continues to evolve, particularly with the announced separation to create two companies: TechnipFMC 
and Technip Energies, it is important that we maintain a close eye on our executive compensation program to ensure it 
remains aligned to our strategy and responsive to shareholder feedback, and tailored to their specific business needs.

We look forward to hearing your views on our executive compensation arrangements, and your continued support at the 
2020 Annual Meeting. 

Yours sincerely,

James M. Ringler

Director and Compensation Committee Chairman

March 13, 2020
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Annual Report on Remuneration:  
At-a-Glance – 2019 Highlights
TechnipFMC 2019 Performance 
TechnipFMC operates a sophisticated, global business in a highly competitive industry that has been negatively impacted 
by an extended period of low commodity prices. Our solutions add value to some of the largest capital investments in 
the world. We identified an opportunity to change the way projects are conceived and executed in the industry with the 
introduction of our subsea integrated engineering, procurement, construction, and installation (“iEPCI”) business model 
aimed at lowering project costs and accelerating the delivery of initial hydrocarbon production. 

In 2019, the value of these integrated subsea awards to TechnipFMC more than doubled versus the prior year, 
representing more than 40% of all Subsea inbound orders. The increase was driven by further adoption of the integrated 
business model, particularly with those clients where we have unique alliances. With the industry’s most comprehensive 
and only truly integrated market offering, we have continued to expand the deepwater opportunity set for our 
customers. 

TechnipFMC’s expertise does not end with the development of hydrocarbons. Because of its best-in-class project design 
and execution capabilities, enabled by a portfolio of proprietary technologies, TechnipFMC continues to secure and 
deliver projects that further enable our clients to monetize resources — from liquefaction of gas, both onshore and on 
floating vessels, to refining and production facilities, through new energy solutions and applications for the world’s 
energy transition.

iEPCI™ 
awards

13
of all inbound 
Subsea orders 
are iEPCI™

40%+
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On August 26, 2019, the Company announced that it will separate into two diversified, pure-play market leaders — 
TechnipFMC, focused on subsea and surface hydrocarbon production, and Technip Energies, focused on downstream 
EPC project execution. We expect to complete the transaction in the first half of 2020, subject to financing, general 
market conditions, regulatory approvals, consultation of employee representatives, where applicable, and final approval 
from our Board of Directors. The separation will enable both companies to benefit from distinct and compelling market 
opportunities across the energy value chain; dedicated focus of management, resources, and capital; and unique value 
propositions with differentiated investment appeal.

TechnipFMC (RemainCo) Technip Energies (SpinCo)

TechnipFMC will be a fully integrated 
technology and services provider, driving 
energy development across deepwater, 
conventional, and unconventional resources. 

The Company will continue to demonstrate 
leadership in integrated subsea project 
delivery and will focus on replicating this 
success through the development of integrated 
production models for the surface production 
market.

TechnipFMC is also poised to benefit from 
service opportunities resulting from the 
world’s largest installed base of subsea 
production equipment, umbilicals, risers, and 
flowlines.

Technip Energies will be a leading engineering 
and construction provider, with a robust 
project delivery model, strong technical 
capabilities, and proven track record as 
demonstrated by the successful execution of 
some of the world’s most iconic EPC projects.

The new company will continue to leverage its 
industry-leading process technology portfolio, 
particularly in the areas of ethylene and 
hydrogen, while pursuing further opportunities 
to enhance and differentiate this portfolio.

Creating Two Industry Leaders

Distinct and compelling 
market opportunities

Unique business profiles with 
differentiated investment appeal

Strong balance sheets and 
tailored capital structures

Focus, agility, and 
strategic flexibility

Continuing to reshape the energy industry and create value for all stakeholders

We expect that the executive compensation programs for these two companies will continue to emphasize performance 
and will be tailored to each company’s business and strategy.
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Key Strategic Achievements in 2019

We have summarized some of our key 2019 results and achievements below.

Subsea Financials1

	`Revenue growth of 14% versus the 
prior year, driven by double-digit 
growth in both project and service 
activities

	` Integrated project activity a higher mix 
of business portfolio

$8bn
inbound orders

Backlog

$8.5bn

Onshore/Offshore

	` Three quarters of sequential revenue 
growth, as segment revenue has 
inflected above the 2018 trough

	`Revenue growth excluding the Yamal 
LNG project exceeded 25% versus the 
prior year

$13.1bn
inbound orders

Backlog

$15.3bn

Surface Technologies

	`Revenue growth of more than 15% 
in markets outside of North America 
versus the prior year

	` Surface international revenues account 
for more than 50% of total segment

$1.6bn
inbound orders

Backlog

$0.5bn
(1) Reported financial results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 and inbound and backlog as of December 21, 2019 as reported in our 

financial statements as contained in this U.K. Annual Report.
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Market Leadership

Subsea

	` Inbound order growth exceeded 50% versus the prior year driven by integrated (iEPCI™) 
awards, subsea services, and new technologies

	`Continued growth in adoption of the integrated model across multiple clients and regions 
including the Mozambique LNG Subsea project, our largest integrated subsea award to 
date

	`Awarded industry’s first 20,000 psi high-pressure, high-temperature system for LLOG’s 
Shenandoah project in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico

	` Further enhanced our competitive position through newly formed strategic partnerships, 
with particular focus on expanding the number of clients engaged in iEPCI alliances

	`Entered into a strategic collaboration agreement with Allseas to jointly pursue 
deepwater projects where the assets, products, and capabilities of both companies are 
complementary and support the execution of our differentiated iEPCI business model

Onshore/Offshore

	` Inbound order growth exceeded 75% versus the prior year driven by EPC contract 
awards for LNG projects including:

	`Novatek Arctic LNG 2 project which leverages our proven track record in delivering 
harsh environment mega projects

	`ExxonMobil Rovuma LNG project which builds upon our local content and expands our 
capabilities in Africa; the full value of the EPC contract will be included in backlog upon 
issuance of full notice to proceed, most likely in conjunction with project FID

	` Strong order activity also supported by project awards in the downstream and gas 
monetization sectors:

	`MIDOR Refinery modernization and expansion in Egypt

	`ExxonMobil Refinery crude expansion project in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico

	`BP Greater Tortue Ahmeyim gas FPSO offshore Africa

	`Entered into EPICEROL® strategic license agreement with Meghmani Finechem, marking 
our first “green” epichlorohydrin (ECH) technology license in India
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Surface Technologies

	`Capitalized on our high degree of vertical integration and technology differentiation 
outside North America where revenue increased more than 20% versus the prior year

	` Successful introduction of several new product development items from  
our Frac 2.0 suite

	` Successful introduction of our first Automated Well Testing Unit in the Bakken

	`Applying our subsea integrated model to the U.S. land production market to further 
transform our North American business

	`Awarded loading arms for a LNG project in Asia Pacific, one of our largest orders to date 

Disciplined Capital Allocation

Total shareholder distributions  
of $326 million:

	`Dividend payments  
of $233 million

	`Repurchase of Ordinary Shares of 
$93 million 

Capital expenditures*  
of $378 million:

	`Continued to fund targeted growth 
initiatives 

	`Capital expenditures were below 
depreciation

*  Excludes $80 million associated with dive 
support vessel acquisition

Further optimization  
of Subsea fleet:

	`Disposal of a pipelay vessel 
while retaining predetermined 
operational access

	`Consolidation of pipelay support 
vessel joint venture to maximize 
fleet optionality

While 2019 presented a competitive and challenging environment, our relentless focus on strong project execution and 
cost reduction drove solid operational performance. Our integrated business models have further reinforced our market 
leadership. We achieved robust year-over-year growth in inbound orders and backlog in both Subsea and Onshore/
Offshore, providing improved revenue visibility for 2020 and beyond. We are capitalizing on the offshore recovery and 
current LNG cycle through early customer engagement, demonstrated engineering capabilities, and multicenter execution. 
Additionally, in Surface Technologies, we are taking aggressive restructuring actions in North America to further realign 
our product and service offering to the changing markets, while leveraging our strong international franchise for the 
growth we see in markets outside of the United States. In support of the overall strategy, we continue to focus on quality, 
health, safety, and environment with the implementation of our quality and safety program. 

For detailed information regarding our 2019 results, please see our financial statements, as reported in this U.K. Annual 
Report.
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2019 Performance Impact on Compensation
The table below outlines the elements of our compensation program that are directly tied to Company performance, 
along with 2019 performance and resulting payouts. 

Compensation 
Element

Objective
2019 Performance 
Measures

2019 Performance 2019 Payout

Long-Term 
Equity

To drive and reward 
the achievement of 
long-term results and 
align interests of an 
executive director with 
shareholder interests

30% PSUs 

3-year ROIC
> 2017-2019 

performance of 6.9%1 > 0% of target1

30% PSUs 

3-year relative TSR 

>
2017-2019 

performance of  

5th rank1

> 100% of target1

The remaining 40% of the long-term equity incentive was delivered in the form of stock options (20%) and RSUs (20%), 
the delivered value of which will also depend on share price appreciation, and thus is aligned with shareholder interests.

Annual Cash 
Incentive 
Bonus

To drive and reward the 
achievement of short-
term Company strategic 
goals and individual 
contributions

25% EBITDA > $1,667 million2 - 162%  

performance rating
> 162% of target

25% EBITDA 

as a Percentage 

of Revenue 
> 12.4% - 155% 

performance rating
> 155% of target

25% Working  

Capital Days
> 74 days - 200%  

performance rating
> 200% of target

25% Annual 

Individual 

Performance

>
Ranging from 140%  

to 180% performance 

rating

> 140% to 180%  

of target

(1) Payout for the 2017-2019 grant has been provided instead of payout for the 2019-2021 grant, since payout for the latter will only be determined 
at the end of 2021. 

(2) Please refer to Note 33 of the consolidated financial statements of this U.K. Annual Report for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable 
GAAP measure.

Our pay-for-performance program aims to motivate our Chairman and CEO to achieve and exceed both our short-term 
and long-term goals and objectives by including an appropriate mix of long-term equity compensation and annual 
cash incentive bonus compensation. As intended by our program, our Chairman and CEO’s compensation was directly 
impacted by our performance.

Long-Term Equity
The majority of our Chairman and CEO’s variable compensation is in the form of long-term equity compensation, 
comprising 85% of 2019 total target variable compensation. Our Chairman and CEO achieved a payout of 50% of target on 
his 2017 performance-based, long-term equity incentive awards, based on the following:

	` For the ROIC measure, we did not meet the threshold performance for the 2017-2019 performance period, and as a 
result, the ROIC component of the 2017 PSU awards paid out at 0%
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	` For the three-year relative TSR measure, we achieved above-target performance for relative TSR for the 2017-2019 
performance period based on our performance relative to our 2017 Performance Peer Group as defined in our 2017 
U.K. Annual Report (“2017 Performance Peer Group”). However, our absolute TSR performance was negative given 
the overall oil and gas market conditions during the same period. Therefore, our payout under our incentive plan was 
capped at target (100%) given the absolute TSR performance.

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus 
For 2019, our annual cash incentive comprised 15% of total target variable compensation for our Chairman and CEO. 
Performance targets related to our annual cash incentive are set at “stretch” targets that are difficult and challenging but 
achievable with superior execution based on our long-range plans. Given the cyclical nature of our sectors, as well as the 
variability in some of our metrics caused by the lifecycle progression of a few very large projects, our targets will not 
always increase, in absolute terms, over prior year targets but are set to ensure that achievement will require the same 
or increased execution to achieve the targets.

In setting performance goals, the Compensation Committee considers the Company’s annual financial plans, strategic 
initiatives, and projections, which are impacted by the following factors:

	` The overall business climate and the cyclical nature of our business

	`Underlying market conditions for our products and services

	`Volatility in commodity prices

	`Our competitors’ performance

	`Anticipated changes in customer activity

	`Our prior-year performance

These inputs inform discussions regarding both the targets and the ranges around the target to ensure the goals are 
sufficiently difficult without incentivizing inappropriate risk taking.

In setting our 2019 targets, the Compensation Committee considered the market outlook for each of our business 
segments and for the Company as a whole. In particular, we considered the projected decline for our Subsea segment due 
to the volatile, and generally low, crude oil price environment over the last several years that led many of our customers 
to reduce their capital spending plans or defer new deepwater projects. This led to the winding down of certain projects, 
and an expected decline in operating margins due to the competitive environment in 2019. During this time, we focused 
on growing our order backlog.

As a result in 2019, our performance exceeded the targets for the EBITDA, EBITDA as a Percentage of Revenue, and 
Working Capital Days measures due to accelerated market adoption of our new subsea technologies, our strong execution 
and disciplined capital spending, and achieving an unprecedented level of backlog. As a result, our annual cash incentive 
bonus plan paid out with an overall weighted rating of 174%, including the impact of annual individual performance 
indicator results.
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Overview of our Compensation Practices

What We Do: What We Don’t Do:

	`Pay for performance by aligning performance 
measures with our strategy and shareholder 
interests

	`Majority of executive director compensation 
is performance-based, “at-risk” long-term 
compensation 

	`Maintain a clawback policy in the event of 
malfeasance or fraud

	`Require robust executive and director share 
ownership requirements

	`Engage an independent, external compensation 
consultant

	`Benchmark compensation against relevant global 
and industry peer groups

	`Cap PSU payout at target when relative TSR exceeds 
peers’ but absolute TSR is negative

	`No single-trigger vesting upon a change-in-control

	`No guaranteed bonuses

	`No uncapped incentives

	`No tax gross-ups on any severance payments

	`No excessive perquisites, benefits, or pension 
payments

	`No discounting, reloading, or repricing of stock 
options

	`No hedging and pledging of Company securities
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Annual Report on Remuneration: Report for the Year 
Ended December 31, 2019
The Compensation Committee presents the Annual Report on Remuneration, which will be submitted to shareholders as 
an advisory vote at the 2020 Annual Meeting. Some of the information contained in the Annual Report on Remuneration 
is subject to audit. Where the information is subject to audit, the information is identified in the relevant heading.

As intended by our pay-for-performance program, and as outlined in the sections below, our 2019 compensation for our 
Chairman and CEO was directly impacted by our performance against key financial, operational, and individual metrics.

Below is an illustration of the Chairman and CEO’s remuneration.

Note: All percentages provided are rounded to the closest whole percentage.

Fixed   10%
Variable   90%

Cash   23%
Equity   77% 

Short-Term Performance 15%
Long-Term Performance 85%

Chairman & CEO

Base 
Salary 

10%

RSUs
15.5%

Stock
Options
15.5%

Annual
Incentive 

13%
PSUs
46%

90% Variable

Stock options are considered variable as they require the stock price to increase before they yield any value. 
The delivered value of RSUs is variable based on share price at vesting.
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Single Total Figure of Remuneration (Audited Information)
The below table sets forth the single figure of remuneration for each of the Company’s executive directors for the 
periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

A proportion of the annual incentive and long-term incentive awards (the variable and at-risk element) — 89% — is subject 
to share price appreciation. During 2019 we did not exercise the use of discretion as a result of share price appreciation

Executive Directors’ Single Figure Table

Year Salary1 Taxable 
Benefit2

Annual 
Incentive 
Awards3

Long-Term 
Incentive 
Awards4

Pension-
Related 

Benefits 

Total

Chairman and CEO: Douglas J. Pferdehirt 

2019 $1,236,000 $84,989 $4,843,364 $1,455,003 $241,779 $7,861,135

CEO: Douglas J. Pferdehirt 

2018 $1,230,000 $122,231 $3,894,477 $0 $190,796 $5,437,504

Executive Chairman: Thierry Pilenko

2019 $335,391 $46,193 $402,470 $901,545 $9,665 $1,695,264

2018 $1,061,194 $110,492 $1,758,397 $0 $29,983 $2,960,066

(1) Salary provides a fixed level of market competitive compensation to our executive directors that reflects their major responsibilities. Base pay is 
set with reference to market median, based on responsibility, experience, individual performance, and contributions to the business.

 Salary for our Chairman and CEO is unchanged since March 1, 2018. 
(2) The Taxable Benefits for 2019 for the Chairman and CEO includes: (i) personal use of Company automobile of $4,977; (ii) spouse travel for 

Company business functions of $42,699; (iii) financial planning and personal tax assistance of $20,935; and (iv) security services of $16,378.
 Taxable Benefits for the Executive Chairman include premiums for (i) medical, life, and disability insurance of $3,457, (ii) financial planning and 

personal tax assistance of $25,581, and (iii) spouse travel for Company business functions of $17,155. 
(3) The amount disclosed in the Annual Incentive Awards column for our Chairman and CEO represents the sum of annual cash incentive bonus and 

time-based (non-performance based) RSUs awarded in 2019. In 2019, our Chairman and CEO’s annual cash incentive was $2,903,364 calculated 
using a target bonus of 135% of salary, a BPI rating of 172%, and an API rating of 180%. The time-vested (non-performance based) RSUs awarded 
in 2019 were valued at $1,940,000, comprising 20% of the Chairman and CEO’s long-term equity incentive target value of $9,700,000. 

 Amounts disclosed in the Annual Incentive Awards column for our Chairman and CEO represent the sum of annual cash incentive bonus and time-
based (non-performance based) RSUs awarded in 2018. In 2018, our Chairman and CEO received a cash bonus of $2,154,499 calculated using a 
target bonus of 135% of salary, a BPI rating of 123%, and an API rating of 150%. The time-vested (non-performance) RSUs awarded in 2018 were 
valued at $1,739,978, comprising 20% of the Chairman and CEO’s long-term equity incentive value of $8,700,000.

 The Executive Chairman was not awarded any time-based RSUs in 2019. The amount disclosed in 2019 as annual incentive awards reflects only 
the target annual cash incentive bonus awarded to Mr. Pilenko, pro-rated January 1 to May 1, 2019.

 The Executive Chairman was not awarded any time-based RSUs in 2018. The amount disclosed in 2018 as annual incentive reflects only the 
annual cash incentive bonus awarded to Mr. Pilenko.

 The payments for loss of office received by Mr. Pilenko are detailed in the paragraph entitled “Payments for Loss of Office”.
 For more details on the Company’s executive director compensation program, please see the section “Elements of 2019 Executive Director 

Compensation”.
(4) Amounts disclosed in the Long-Term Incentive Awards column for our Chairman and CEO and Executive Chairman represent the value of 

performance-based RSUs subject to performance (ROIC) and market-based (TSR) vesting conditions with a performance period ending December 
31, 2019. It does not include the performance (ROIC) or market-based (TSR) RSUs or market value of stock options awarded in 2019. The value 
was calculated using the share price of $14.84 on the vesting date of February 28, 2020.

 The long-term incentive awards disclosed in our 2018 U.K. Annual Report were the time-based (non-performance based) RSUs, performance-
based RSUs subject to performance (ROIC) and market-based (TSR) vesting conditions with a performance period ending December 31, 2020, and 
grant date value of market value stock options awarded to our Chairman and CEO in 2018. The value of the time-based (non-performance based) 
RSUs has been moved to the Annual Incentive Award column (see footnote (3) above). No long-term incentive value related to performance-based 
or market-based RSUs was realized in 2018, therefore this value has been excluded. The value of the market value stock options has also been 
excluded since the exercise price of these options is equal to the grant price.

 Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding. The amounts reported as Salary, Taxable Benefits, Annual Incentive Awards, and Pension-Related 
Benefits to our former Executive Chairman were paid in Euros. These amounts were converted to U.S. dollars utilizing an average of the Euro 
to U.S. dollar exchange rates on the last day of each month during each reporting year (for 2019: EUR 1 to USD 1.117971). For 2019, the table 
includes all compensation paid during the period he served as Executive Chairman, from January 1 to May 1, 2019.

Thierry Pilenko Executive Chairman January 1, 2019 – May 1, 2019

Douglas J. Pferdehirt CEO January 1, 2019 – May 1, 2019

Chairman and CEO May 1, 2019 – December 31, 2019
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Executive Director Remuneration Received in Respect of 2019
One of the Compensation Committee’s primary goals in establishing our executive director compensation philosophy 
and designing our compensation program is to ensure that compensation incentivizes executive directors to achieve key 
strategic goals, deliver strong operational and sustainable financial performance, and deliver long-term value for our 
shareholders. With this as a guiding principle, the Compensation Committee adopted a program that links a significant 
percentage of each executive directors’ compensation to key performance objectives that, if achieved, would result in the 
creation of shareholder value over both the short- and long-term.

Alignment of pay and performance 

The chart below presents the relative alignment of our Chairman and CEO pay to TSR performance over a two-year 
period compared to our 2019 Industry Peer Group. For more details on our 2019 Industry Peer Group, please see the 
section “Compensation Peer Groups.” 

TechnipFMC’s position in the central corridor illustrates that our pay is in alignment with our performance. 

Our two-year TSR performance for 2017-2018 is at the 57th percentile versus our peers, while our two-year CEO pay 
rank is at the 47th percentile of our peers.
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* Two-year performance and pay data was used (instead of a three-year analysis) since the Merger was 
completed in 2017, and peer group data for 2019 was not available at the time of this Proxy Statement. 

In addition, the above table excludes the following companies from our Industry Peer Group: (i) Anadarko 
Petroleum Corporation and Chicago Bridge & Iron due to merger/acquisition activity; (ii) Weatherford 
International plc due to Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing; and (iii) Subsea 7 S.A. due to insufficient disclosure. 
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Base salary:
Base salary is set with reference to a competitive range around the size-adjusted market median data, reflecting 
factors such as individual performance, experience and business conditions within the parameters of our Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy. For the Chairman and CEO, base salary was frozen in 2019.

Pension:
Retirement benefits for 2019 have been calculated in line with the U.K. reporting regulations. Details of the aggregate 
pension accrued in the U.S. Qualified Savings Plan, the U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan, and the French Supplemental 
Retirement Plan (which are defined contribution schemes) by the Chairman and CEO and Executive Chairman in respect 
of qualifying services are shown below. The value of the pension under the pension schemes is calculated based on the 
Company’s contributions which are based on a percentage of employee salary.

Retirement contributions for the Chairman and CEO relate to our U.S. Qualified Savings Plan and U.S. Non-Qualified 
Savings Plan. 2019 pension contributions for the Executive Chairman (retired) relate to our French Supplemental 
Retirement Plan, known as an “Article 83” pension. 

Values relating  
to DC Schemes

Accrued Pension at  
Year End 

$000

Company Contributions  
Over Year 

$000

Normal  
Retirement Age

Chairman and CEO $3,3251 $242 N/A

Executive Chairman (retired) $NA $10 62

(1) Constitutes accrued total retirement benefit.

Benefits
The Company also provides limited perquisites to our Chairman and CEO, facilitating the performance of their roles and 
to ensure a competitive total compensation package. The perquisites we provide to our executives may include financial 
planning and personal tax assistance, personal use of Company automobiles, dining club memberships and country club 
memberships, executive physicals, 100% match of charitable contributions up to an aggregate of $10,000 per year, and 
other minor expenses associated with their business responsibilities. The value of perquisites deemed to be personal is 
imputed as income to an executive officer and we do not gross up for the taxes due on such imputed income. Additional 
allowances or benefits may be granted to our Chairman and CEO, if considered appropriate and reasonable. When 
an executive director has to relocate from his/her home location as part of his/her duties, the Company may include 
relocation expenses, housing allowance, and school fees. 
 
Reflecting the safety concerns associated with their roles, the Company provides a security program for our Chairman 
and CEO. The Compensation Committee believes this is in the best interests of shareholders as the personal safety and 
security of an executive director is critical to the stability of the Company. The security program was developed based 
on a risk assessment determined to be appropriate by our security team and an outside consultant. We do not consider 
the security measures provided to an executive director to be a personal benefit, but rather reasonable and necessary 
expenses for the benefit of the Company. 
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Elements of 2019 Executive Director Compensation
Our executive director compensation program comprises three primary elements of base salary, annual cash incentive 
bonus, and long-term equity awards, along with the provision of market competitive benefits and perquisites. The 
table below summarizes these elements, along with their purpose and key characteristics. However, a more detailed 
explanation is available in further sections.

Element Purpose Key Characteristics

Base Salary To provide market competitive 
compensation for the role

	` Fixed cash compensation 

	`Reflects major responsibilities of the role

	` Set with reference to market median, 
based on responsibility, experience, and 
performance

Annual Cash 
Incentive Bonus

To drive and reward the achievement of 
short-term Company strategic goals and 
individual contributions

	`Variable cash compensation

	` Target value based on role, set with 
reference to market median

	`Actual payout can range from 0% to 200% 
of target

	`Paid based on achievement of business 
performance targets (75%) and 
achievement of individual performance 
targets (25%) 

	`2019 shared business performance 
targets were:

	`25% - EBITDA

	`25% - EBITDA as a Percentage of 
Revenue

	`25% - Working Capital Days

111    TechnipFMC

U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 2019



Element Purpose Key Characteristics

Long-Term Equity 
Incentives

To drive and reward the achievement of 
long-term results and shareholder value 
creation while encouraging retention

	`Granted as combination of three vehicles: 
PSUs (60%), stock options (20%)1, and 
RSUs (20%)

	` Target value based on role, set with 
reference to market median

	`PSUs (60% of total long-term equity grant) 
subject to two performance conditions 
measured over three years: ROIC (30% of 
total long-term equity grant) and relative 
TSR (30% of total long-term equity grant%)

	`50% of after-tax RSUs must be retained 
for at least one year following vesting

	`All long-term incentive awards are subject 
to three year cliff vesting 

Health and Welfare 
Benefits, Retirement 
Benefits, and 
Perquisites

To facilitate the performance of the role 
and ensure a market competitive total 
compensation package

	`Health and welfare benefits, similar to 
what is offered to other employees of the 
Company in the respective countries

	`Retirement savings offered through 
participation in our 401(k) and non-
qualified defined contribution plans 
similar to plans offered to other U.S. 
employees

	` Limited perquisites including financial 
planning, tax assistance, use of company 
cars, club memberships, executive 
physicals, and security services where 
necessary

(1) In 2019, the Board decided to remove stock options; beginning in 2020, equity awards will be a combination of only PSUs (70%) and RSUs (30%).

Compensation Peer Groups
In making decisions about target compensation levels, the Compensation Committee references data from two distinct 
peer groups. We believe that it is important to look at both global companies of similar size, complexity, and capital-
intensive nature; as well as companies within the same industry with significant U.S. operations in order to get a 
comprehensive view of who we compete with for talent.

These two peer groups are combined to provide a holistic view for compensation benchmarking. In addition, the 
Compensation Committee also looks at each peer group separately in order to gain insight into variations between the 
two groups.

1. The Global Peer Group comprises a broadly equal weighting of U.S. and European headquartered companies, of 
similar size to the Company (in terms of revenue) who compete for executive talent in capital intensive industries 
similar to the company including the oil and gas industry, construction and engineering, and industrial manufacturing.
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2. The Industry Peer Group is focused more closely on our sub-industry and is drawn from companies in the oilfield 
services and oil exploration and production sectors, as well as heavy engineering organizations with greater (but not 
exclusive) focus on North America.

The Compensation Committee does not place a specific weight on the data from either peer group, but considers the 
data in light of all the circumstances relevant to each director under review, as well as the Company’s compensation 
philosophy.

For both sets of peers, we use a range of selection criteria that include among other factors, financial indicators such as 
revenue and market capitalization, number of employees, company size, industry, end markets, complexity, geographic 
footprint, and headquarters location. 

Peer Group Purpose

Global Peer Group Similarly sized, complex, and capital-intensive global companies, including those 
based outside the United States.

Industry Peer Group Companies with significant U.S. operations, reflecting competitors for critical U.S. 
executive talent.

Below are the companies that comprised the 2019 Compensation Peer Group. The companies below include both global 
peers and industry peers.

2019 Combined Compensation Peer Group Constituents

Air Liquide S.A

Alstom S.A.

Anadarko Petroleum Corporation

Apache Corporation

Baker Hughes Company 

Caterpillar Inc.

Chicago Bridge & Iron

Cummins Inc.

ConocoPhillips

Devon Energy Corporation 

Dover Corporation

Enbridge, Inc.

Fluor Corporation

Halliburton Company

Ingersoll-Rand plc

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 

John Wood Group plc

McDermott International, Inc.

National Oilwell Varco, Inc. 

Petrofac Limited

Repsol, S.A.

Saipem S.p.A.

Schlumberger Limited

Subsea 7 S.A.

Transocean Ltd.

VINCI S.A.

Weatherford International plc

Companies in blue bold comprise the Industry Peer Group. 
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The Compensation Committee reviews the composition of the Company’s peer groups on a periodic basis. For 2019 
compensation decisions, the companies noted below were included; however, we anticipate these companies will be 
removed from our peer groups for 2020 compensation decisions.

	`Chicago Bridge & Iron merged with McDermott International, Inc. in May 2018. 

	`Anadarko Petroleum Corporation was acquired by Occidental Petroleum Corporation in August 2019.

	`Weatherford International plc filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 in July 2019.

	`McDermott International, Inc. filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 in January 2020.

When 2019 compensation decisions were made, the median revenue and median market capitalization for each of the 
peer groups used and the Company’s relative ranking are provided below:

Peer Group Median Revenue TechnipFMC 
Revenue Ranking

Median Market 
Capitalization

TechnipFMC Market 
Capitalization Ranking

Global Peer Group $15.7 billion 46th percentile $17.7 billion 48th percentile

Industry Peer Group $9.5 billion 67th percentile $13.6 billion 57th percentile

Combined Peer Group $15.1 billion 57th percentile $15.1 billion 46th percentile

Accordingly, the Compensation Committee agreed that this group of companies was reasonable in terms of size for 
market median comparisons. Where possible, the Compensation Committee’s consultant size-adjusts data to account for 
differences in size between the Company and the Compensation Peer Group.

114    TechnipFMC

U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 2019



Base Salary
We provide our Chairman and CEO with a market competitive base salary to compensate him for services performed 
during the year. We set base salary by referencing market median total target compensation. When setting the base 
salary, we consider factors such as individual performance, experience, and contributions to the business, while staying 
within an appropriate range of the market median for the role.

The Compensation Committee reviews base salary for our Chairman and CEO on an annual basis. The Compensation 
Committee determines and approves any changes, with input from the committee’s independent compensation 
consultant. Our Chairman and CEO does not participate in discussions or decisions relating to his own compensation. 
There was no increase in 2019 for Mr. Pferdehirt.  

Chairman and CEO Base Salary 
(December 31, 2018)

Base Salary 
(December 31, 2019)

Increase

Douglas J. Pferdehirt $1,236,000 $1,236,000 0%

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus (Audited Information)
2019 Annual Cash Incentive Bonus Targets
We provide our Chairman and CEO with an annual cash incentive bonus, in order to drive and reward the achievement 
of short-term Company strategic goals and individual contributions. The Chairman and CEO has an annual cash incentive 
bonus target, set as a percentage of base salary. The Chairman and CEO can earn from 0%-200% of their annual cash 
incentive bonus target, depending on performance.

The Compensation Committee reviews and approves target annual cash incentive bonus percentages for the Chairman 
and CEO on an annual basis, based on a review of market median total compensation data for our peers. The targets are 
set at appropriate levels to incentivize our Chairman and CEO to achieve the short-term financial and operational goals 
for the Company, as well as to provide the Chairman and CEO with market-competitive levels of total compensation.

The following are the 2018 and 2019 annual cash incentive bonus targets for our Chairman and CEO:

Chairman and CEO 2018 2019 Increase

Douglas J. Pferdehirt 135% 135% 0%

2019 Annual Cash Incentive Bonus Performance Indicators
75% of the annual cash incentive bonus is based on business performance indicators (“BPI”), and 25% of the plan is based 
on individual annual performance indicators (“API”).

75% BPI
Assessment of overall Company performance 
based on EBITDA and EBITDA Percentage of 

Revenue and Working Capital Days
+

25% API
Assessment of individual performance based 

on qualitative factors reflected in the executive 
director’s annual performance objectives

The payout under both the BPI and API components may range from 0% to 200% of target depending on performance.  
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BPI Component – 75% of Annual Cash Incentive Bonus
The Compensation Committee annually establishes BPI targets and reviews the performance measures at its February 
meeting. In 2019, the Compensation Committee selected three equally weighted measures, which reflected the 
Company’s strategic priorities: EBITDA, EBITDA as a Percentage of Revenue, and Working Capital Days.

BPI Measure 
(Weight)

Weighting 2019 Goal Definition Why It Matters

EBITDA in ($M) 25% $1,531 Earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization

Indicative of our operating profitability 
and a driver of shareholder value 
creation; facilitates comparisons with 
peer companies by excluding the 
effect of different capital structures 
and financing decisions

EBITDA as a 
Percentage of 
Revenue

25% 11.4% Earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization, calculated 
as a percentage of 
revenue

Reflects the performance and 
sustainability of the business, 
leveraging cost efficiencies, and 
driving profitability improvement

Working Capital 
Days

25% 55 days Average number of days 
to convert working capital 
into revenue

Measures our efficiency of using 
operating capital to operate the 
business; our contract arrangements 
typically result in negative working 
capital due to advance payments 
and milestone payments

The payout scale for 2019 is as follows:

Performance Level Payout Percentage

Threshold 0%

Target 100%

Exceed 150%

Maximum 200%

Note: Payout for performance between the threshold, target, exceed, and maximum payouts are interpolated on a straight-line basis.
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The 2019 performance goals and the 2019 results achieved for our Chairman and CEO are outlined below:

2019 Goals 2019 Outcome

BPI Measure
Threshold 

performance
Target 

Performance
Maximum 

Performance
Actual 

Performance
Payout 

Percentage
Weighting

Weighted 
Payout 

Percentage

EBITDA ($M) $1,246 $1,531 $1,751 $1,667 162% 1/3 54%

EBITDA as % of Revenue 9% 11.4% 13.3% 12.4% 155% 1/3 512/3%

Working Capital Days 48 days 55 days 61 days 74 days 200% 1/3 662/3%

Payout Percentage 0% 100% 200%

Final Weighted Payout Percentage (BPI) 172%

Note: Payout for performance between the threshold, target, and maximum payouts are interpolated on a straight-line basis. The final weighted 
payout percentage for BPI is rounded to the nearest whole percent for calculating the annual cash incentive payout.

In accordance with established guidelines, the goals are adjusted for the cumulative effect of changes in accounting 
principles, significant acquisitions and divestitures, and foreign exchange movements. These changes are intended to 
ensure that performance is measured on a like-for-like basis relative to the goals that were set. Financial targets and 
actual performance based on EBITDA exclude non-recurring charges and credits, such as impairments, restructuring 
costs, integration costs, as well as other items identified in TechnipFMC’s quarterly and annual financial statements.

API Component — 25% of Annual Cash Incentive Bonus
Each February the individual performance goals are established for our Chairman and CEO.

These objectives are set at “stretch” levels (i.e., objectives that are difficult and challenging but should be achievable with 
superior execution), and are set using a rigorous evaluation process. If an executive director failed to achieve any of his 
or her objectives, the API multiple would likely be 0%, absent any mitigating factors. If an executive director met some, 
but not all of the objectives, the API multiple would fall between the range of 0% to 200%, depending upon the number 
of objectives accomplished, their relative importance and difficulty as determined by the Compensation Committee, and 
any factors that may have prevented achievement of certain objectives. Our Chairman and CEO, achieving all objectives, 
could potentially receive an API of 200%, although it is intended that this ranking reflects outstanding performance given 
the inherent degree of difficulty factored into both the objective setting and evaluation processes.  

For 2019, our Executive Director received an API rating of 180% for the year.  

In determining the 2019 API rating for our Chairman and CEO, the Compensation Committee took into account a 
comprehensive view of his performance and contributions, including performance on key objectives and results. In 
addition to individual goals related to Company strategy, profitable growth, and safety, his objectives also included the 
three pillars of our corporate responsibility and sustainability efforts to ensure that the Company makes meaningful 
and tangible changes in this area. The Compensation Committee considers our Chairman and CEO’s overall performance 
relative to the accomplishment of his key objectives, the importance of each accomplishment, as well as the market 
conditions that impacted performance.
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Objectives Key Achievements
Performance Assessment

Below 
Expectations

Meets 
Expectations

Exceeds 
Expectations

Mr. Pferdehirt

Strategy
	`Unlock long-term shareholder value 	` Spin-off of Technip Energies was 

announced.

	`Preparations for spin-off are 
currently ongoing.

 





Profitable Growth
	` iEPCI — 35% subsea inbound orders 
as iEPCI

	` LNG market — secure $3 billion of 
LNG awards

	`Over 40% of inbound as iEPCI 
 

	`Over $8 billion of LNG inbound

 



 



Corporate Responsibility and 
Sustainability 
	` Focus and advance sustainability 
efforts under three pillars – 
Supporting Communities, Advancing 
Gender Diversity, and Respecting the 
Environment

	`Please see section “Corporate 
Responsibility and Sustainability 
– Sustainability” for a detailed 
description of 2019 objectives  
and results.



Health & Safety
	`Zero serious injuries in 2019 	`Zero serious injury goal not 

achieved.

 



Overall Rating for Mr. Pferdehirt 180%

Determination of 2019 Payouts under the Annual Cash Incentive Compensation Plan
Based on the performance described above, the following payouts were approved in respect of 2019 for our Chairman 
and CEO:

Chairman 
and CEO 

Target Bonus
(% of Salary)

BPI Rating 
(75% Weight)

API Rating 
(25% Weight)

Overall 
Weighted 

Rating
Actual Bonus 
(% of salary)

Actual Bonus 
($)

Douglas J. Pferdehirt 135% 172% 180% 174% 234.9% $2,903,364
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Long-Term Equity Incentives
Long-term equity incentive awards, granted in the form of TechnipFMC equity, represent the largest component of our 
Chairman and CEO’s annual target compensation opportunity grounded in our compensation philosophy of paying for 
performance and aligning executive directors’ interests with those of our shareholders. Awards are made in the form of 
three complementary vehicles, providing a balanced focus on performance, sustainable long-term value creation, and 
retention.

Awards vest at the end of three 
years subject to continued 
employment, with 50% of 
after-tax RSUs held for at least 
one year following vesting

Awards vest at the end of three 
years subject to continued 
employment; share price 
appreciation required for 
awards to yield any value; 
will be discontinued in 2020

Awards vest based on 
performance measured over 
three years subject to ROIC 
(30% of total grant) and 
Relative TSR (30% of total 
grant) performance goals

Performance-based equity, 
with value tied to either 
stock price appreciation 
(options) or the achievement 
of performance goals (PSUs)

RSUs
20%

Stock
Options 

20%1

PSUs
60%

(1) In 2020, we will discontinue the use of stock options, and annual equity awards will comprise only PSUs (70%) and RSUs (30%).

The Compensation Committee reviews and approves annual awards for our Executive Director on an annual basis. The 
awards are based on market competitiveness on total target compensation and aim at providing appropriate levels of 
retention and incentives for achieving the Company’s long-term goals.

For 2019, the Compensation Committee set the target value of equity awards for our Chairman and CEO reference to 
market median total compensation data.

Named Executive Officer 2019 Long-Term Incentive Target Award

Douglas J. Pferdehirt $9,700,000
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2019 Performance Stock Unit Awards (60% of Equity Award) (Audited Information)
The Compensation Committee sets the performance targets associated with PSU awards prior to the beginning of each 
three-year performance period. For awards in 2019, PSU awards comprised 60% of the total long-term equity award and 
included the following two equally weighted measures: 

PSU Measure Weighting Definition Why It Matters

ROIC 30% of total 
long-term 
equity

Annual net income divided by 
equity plus long-term debt

Assesses our profitability and how 
effectively the Company is using capital 
over the three-year period to generate 
income. Given the capital-intensive 
nature of our business it is critical that 
we effectively use our investments and 
assets.

Relative TSR 30% of total 
long-term 
equity

Cumulative three-year 
increase in volume-weighted 
average price and reinvested 
dividends relative to peers.

Assesses our overall performance in the 
eyes of our shareholders and the broader 
stock market, relative to companies with 
whom we compete for customers and 
investors that are subject to similar macro-
economic factors.

The relative TSR performance for our 2019 PSU awards will be measured against a group of 13 companies (“Relative 
TSR Peer Group”) that the Compensation Committee believes best reflect the companies that we compete with for both 
investments and customers. The financial and operational performance of these companies is therefore most directly 
relevant to TechnipFMC, and we are all subject to similar macro-economic factors.  

We use relative TSR to motivate our Chairman and CEO to achieve superior share price compared to our key competitors, 
thus aligning his interests with shareholder interests. We further reinforce this by requiring a minimum threshold of 
relative performance for payout, and by capping payout in the case of negative shareholder return.

The Compensation Committee reviewed our 2018 Performance Peer Group as defined in our 2018 U.K. Annual Report, 
and no changes were made for 2019 since they were deemed appropriate based on the factors stated above. For awards 
made in 2019, the Performance Peer Group (now referred to as our Relative TSR Peer Group) comprised the following:

2019 Relative TSR Peer Group

Baker Hughes Company

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

Fluor Corporation

Halliburton Company

John Wood Group plc

McDermott International Inc.

National Oilwell Varco, Inc.

Oceaneering International, Inc.

Oil States International, Inc.

Schlumberger Limited

Saipem S.p.A.

Subsea 7 S.A.

Weatherford International plc
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The vesting date for these PSU awards is March 8, 2022, with a performance period of January 1, 2019 through 
December 31, 2021. 

The Compensation Committee approved the following targets in relation to the 2019 PSU awards:

Performance Achievement ROIC Performance Relative TSR Ranking
Payout

(% of earned PSUs)

Below Threshold Below Plan Below 25th percentile 0%

Threshold 6% 25th percentile 50%

Target 7% 42nd percentile 100%

Maximum or above 8% 75th percentile or greater 200%

Note: If the Company’s TSR is negative for the performance period, the payout in respect of the TSR element will be capped at target, regardless of 
our relative performance.

For performance achievement between the levels identified above, payout percentage will be interpolated on a straight-
line basis.

2019 PSU Grant

Number of shares awarded 277,408

Share Price on Grant Date $20.98

Fair Value on the date of award1 $5,820,020

Fair Value of award as a % salary 471%

Face Value on the date of award at 
maximum performance1

$11,640,000

Face Value of award at maximum 
performance as a % salary

942%

(1) Calculated using the grant price, equal to the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, March 8, 2019.
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2019 Stock Options (20% of Equity Award) (Audited Information)
In addition to PSUs, our Chairman and CEO received an annual grant of stock options in 2019. This award is aimed 
at aligning pay with the performance of our stock, aligning our Chairman and CEO’s interests with our shareholders’ 
interests, as well as retaining our Chairman and CEO over the longer term. 

Based on feedback received from shareholders, we plan to eliminate stock options in 2020, thereby increasing the share 
of PSUs to further align pay with performance.

Our Chairman and CEO’s 2019 stock option awards are subject to a three-year cliff vesting, with no phased vesting, 
meaning our Chairman and CEO must remain employed through the vesting date of March 8, 2022 for any of the options 
to become exercisable, with exceptions for retirement, death, and disability in line with market norms. Options are 
exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of grant and have an exercise price equal to the closing price of the 
Company’s Ordinary Shares, as reported by the NYSE on the grant date. 

2019 Stock Option Grant

Number of options awarded 343,727

Share Price on Grant Date $20.98

Fair Value on the date of award1 $1,940,000

Fair Value of award as a % salary 157%

Face Value on the date of award2 $7,211,392

Face Value of award as a % salary 583%

(1)  Calculated using the fair value of the stock options of $5.64, determined using the Black-Scholes method.
(2)  Calculated using the grant price, equal to the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, March 8, 2019.

2019 Time-Based RSU Awards (20% of Equity Award)
The final component of the long-term incentive mix is RSU awards. These awards further align our Chairman and CEO’s 
interests with the interests of our shareholders by incentivizing them to increase share price, while reinforcing the 
retention impact of our compensation program. 

RSUs are subject to three-year cliff vesting terms, with no phased vesting, meaning our Chairman and CEO must remain 
employed through the vesting date of March 8, 2022, with exceptions only for retirement, death, and disability. Once 
vested, our Chairman and CEO receives ownership and the voting rights of the underlying Ordinary Shares.   

The number of RSUs granted to our Chairman and CEO was determined by dividing the target value set for our Chairman 
and CEO by the closing price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares on the NYSE on the grant date. 

On vesting, 50% of the after-tax number of RSUs must be held for a period of at least one year to incentivize our 
Chairman and CEO to retain the shares and increase share price, further aligning our Chairman and CEO’s interests with 
our shareholders. 

2019 RSU Grant

Number of shares awarded 92,469

Share Price on Grant Date $20.98

Face Value on the date of award $1,940,000

Award as a % salary 157%

The share price is based on the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, March 8, 2019.
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Vesting of 2017 PSU Awards (Audited Information)
Following the Merger in 2017, the Compensation Committee approved PSU awards subject to a three-year performance period. 
As with the awards made in 2018 and 2019, vesting was contingent on performance delivered in two areas: ROIC and relative 
TSR. The Compensation Committee believes that the continued use of these metrics remains relevant for the long-term since they 
focus executives on the achievement of specific financial long-term goals directly aligned with our operating and strategic plans.

As a result of our 2017-2019 performance, our Chairman and CEO achieved a payout of 50% of target on his 2017 PSUs.

Performance Goals:

Goal/Weightings Performance Measure Threshold 
Performance

Target 
Performance

Maximum
Performance

ROIC  
(30% of total long-term equity)

Achievement of stated target 0% 100% 200%

Relative TSR  
(30% of total long-term equity)

Ranking against the 2017 
Performance Peer Group

0% 100% 200%

For the ROIC measure, the Performance Targets and earned PSUs are as noted below. For performance achievement between 
the levels identified below, the payout percentage is interpolated on a straight-line basis.

Achieved Performance Performance Target Earned PSUs

Below Threshold Below 10% 0%

Threshold Performance 10% 50%

Target Performance 11% 100%

Maximum Performance or above 12% 200%

For the relative TSR measure, the earned PSUs were based on a percentile ranking of the Company’s TSR against the constituents 
of the 2017 Performance Peer Group.

Ranking Earned PSUs1

13th or Lower 0%

11th or 12th 50%

9th or 10th 75%

8th 100%

7th 120%

6th 140%

5th 160%

4th 180%

3rd or higher 200%

(1) If the Company’s TSR is negative for the performance period, the payout in respect of the TSR element will be capped at target, regardless of our relative 
performance.
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The overall achievement for the performance element of our 2017 PSU awards was 50% based on the following:

	` Three-year ROIC performance for 2017-2019 was 6.9%. This ROIC performance was below the threshold for payout 
based on the payout scale provided above, and therefore, the ROIC component of the 2017 PSU awards paid out at 0%.

	` Three-year relative TSR performance for the Company for 2017-2019 was -37.8%, which placed the Company at a 
ranking of 5th relative to the 2017 Performance Peer Group. This resulted in a payout for the relative TSR metric of 
100%, based on the payout scale above.

	`We achieved above-target performance for the relative TSR measure for our 2017-2019 performance period based 
on our performance relative to the Performance Peer Group. However, our absolute relative TSR performance was 
negative given the overall oil and gas market conditions during the same period. Therefore, our payout under our 
incentive plan was capped at target (100%) given the absolute TSR performance.

2017 Long-Term Incentive (Equity Award) Plan (as of December 31, 2019)

Max: 
12% ROIC 

Target:
11% ROIC

Target performance: 11% ROIC

Actual result: 6.9% ROIC (0%)

Result: 
6.9% ROIC 

Threshold: 
10% ROIC 

0%

50%

100%

200%

PSUs
45%

2017-2019 ROIC

Max: 
1-3 Rank 

Target:
8th Rank

Actual result: 5th Rank (100%)

Result: 
5th Rank 

Threshold: 
13th Rank 

0%

100%

200%

PSUs
45%

2017-2019 Relative TSR

60% of Equity Grant (PSUs)     Three-Year Performance Period         Two Equally Weighted Performance Measures                                                            

*If absolute TSR is less than 0%, achievement cannot be greater than 100%

FTI Rank: 1-3
Payout: 200% 

13-16
0%

4-12
180-50%
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Statement of Directors’ Shareholding  
and Share Interests
Share Ownership and Retention Requirements (Audited Information)
The Compensation Committee oversees the Company’s directors’ share ownership and retention policy to ensure a 
continuing alignment of executive and shareholder interests. 

None of the Directors exercised stock options in 2019.

Share Ownership Requirement
Executive directors are required to own shares in an amount equal to a multiple of their base pay. Our Chairman and 
CEO is required to own shares in an amount equal to six times his base salary. Qualifying shares include ordinary 
shares, time-based RSU awards, and performance-based RSUs where the performance period is final and approved. 
Unexercised stock options, performance-based RSUs where the performance period is not final, and shares held in 
Company retirement plans are not included in the ownership calculation. An executive director has five years to satisfy 
an ownership multiple, pro-rated 20% each year, from the effective date of appointment. 

All directors met our ownership guidelines in 2019, with the exception of John Yearwood, who joined the Board in 
June 2019. Given Mr. Caudoux waived his annual cash and equity remuneration because of the policies of his employer, 
Bpifrance, he is not subject to any share ownership requirements.

Share Retention Requirements
An executive director is required to retain, for a period of at least one year after the vesting date, shares equivalent 
to at least one-half of the net after-tax number of shares deposited in his or her account for RSUs. The purpose of this 
additional requirement is to impose a holding period during which our executive directors must retain ownership of a 
significant portion of vested equity compensation.

We believe that the combination of the share ownership and share retention requirements more closely aligns the 
interests of our executive directors with the long-term interest of our shareholders. We regularly evaluate and monitor 
compliance with our share ownership and retention policy, and the Board will review compliance on at least an annual 
basis. All executive directors met their pro rata ownership and retention requirements under the Company’s policy in 
2019.

The table below sets forth the beneficial interests in the share capital of the Company held by each our former Executive 
Chairman and our current Chairman and CEO, the executive directors, and their connected persons for the period ending 
December 31, 2019:

Name

Share 

Ownership 

Requirements 

(% of salary)

Number 

of Shares 

Required to 

Hold1

Number of Shares 

Owned Outright 

(including 

Connected 

Persons)

Vested but 

Unexercised 

Stock 

Options

Unvested and 

Unexercised 

Stock Options RSUs

RSUs 

Subject to 

Performance 

Conditions

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

of Vested 

Options

Weighted 

Average 

Period to Vest 

of RSUs

Chairman and CEO 600% 207,538 462,016 0 761,573 215,258 645,777 N/A  16 months

Executive Chairman 600% 168,947 477,000 297,300 230,000 81,001 311,502 €28.85 4.8 months

(1) Number of Shares Required to Hold is based on the share price as at December 31, 2019 of $21.44. The executive directors have five years from 
appointment to meet the full ownership requirements. As at December 31, 2019, the executive directors were required to hold 60% of the full 
ownership requirement. Unexercised Stock Options and RSUs Subject to Performance Conditions where the performance period is not final are 
not used to meet ownership requirements. 
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Payments to Past Directors (Audited Information)
The Company made no payments to past directors for the period under review.

Payments for Loss of Office (Audited Information)
On May 1, 2019, Mr. Pilenko retired from the Board of Directors. 

He received end-of-service payments in line with his service agreement.

The detailed payments made in 2019 are as follows:

(a) a lump sum payment equal to his annual base salary and target 
annual cash incentive, subject to his signing a release of claims

$2,213,582

(b) payment for all accrued but unused vacation days $73,551

(c) continuation of his supplementary health and tax preparation 
reimbursement benefits for two years

$72,3371

(1) The cost for continuation of supplementary health is $21,176. The cost for tax preparation of $51,161 has been estimated based on 2019 actual 
cost.

 
He also received payment of his annual cash incentive bonus, pro-rated for the duration of his service as Executive 
Chairman, i.e., four months, amounting $402,470, as set out in the Exective Directors’ Single Figure Table. 

After May 1, 2019, Mr. Pilenko remained as an employee through December 31, 2019, using up his paid time off 
accrued under French law. He did not receive any annual cash incentive bonus for this period. The reimbursement of 
intercontinental flights for his spouse ceased on May 1, 2019.

As a retirement-eligible employee based on the TechnipFMC Incentive Award Plan, he will not forfeit his awards upon his 
end of service.

All stock options granted under legacy Technip plans, RSU and PSU awards, and other awards granted prior to the Merger 
will continue on their existing terms, including performance assessment, when applicable, and were not forfeited for 
discontinued presence or upon his termination of employment.

The Board of Directors confirmed that a non-compete agreement was in the best interest of the Company and 
shareholders given Mr. Pilenko’s deep knowledge of the Company’s strategy, markets, and operations, his 35 years of 
industry expertise, and the overall competitive nature of the oil and gas industry. This non-compete, which will be paid in 
2020, includes a required payment to ensure enforceability of the agreement in the key markets in which the Company 
operates including the United States, France, and the United Kingdom. Mr. Pilenko will receive an annual cash incentive of 
$2,213,582 payable monthly over January to December 2020 as payment for this non-compete.
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2017-2019 TSR Performance Graphs and Table for the Chairman and CEO
30% of our long-term equity incentive plan is based on relative TSR performance versus the relative TSR peer 
group for the year of grant. As such, the figures below indicate the Company’s TSR performance against our 2017 
Performance Peer Group and against the Philadelphia Oil Service Sector (“OSX”) index, which is the most representative 
of TechnipFMC’s industry. Note that the OSX index is not used for plan payout, but provided as a reference point to 
demonstrate TSR performance for the oil service industry as a whole during the period.

Although our absolute TSR for this period was negative, our relative TSR was above the median for our 2017 
Performance Peer Group, demonstrating superior relative performance during a period of downturn for the industry.  
The table below also discloses total incentives for the Chairman and CEO over the last year.
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Summary of Chairman and CEO Pay1 2018 2019

Total Single Figure of Remuneration $5,437,504 $7,861,135

Annual Cash Incentive Award Paid as a % of Maximum 65% 87%

Long-Term Incentive Award Paid as a % of Maximum 02 25%

(1) For more details on the calculation of the Total Single Figure of Remuneration, please see the paragraph entitled “Executive Directors’ Single Figure 
Table”. 

(2) There were no long-term incentive payments during 2018 and 2019, because our long-term incentive awards are subject to a three-year vesting 
period. As such, the payout under the long-term incentive as a percentage of the maximum is nil for 2018. 
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Percentage of Change in Remuneration of the Chairman and CEO
The following table shows the percentage change in the base salary, benefits, and annual incentive of the Chairman and 
CEO between the year ended December 31, 2019 and the previous fiscal year, compared to the average for all employees 
of the Company in the United States. The Company considers that the remuneration of employees in the United States is a 
more appropriate comparator against that of the Chairman and CEO, rather than of the whole Company, on the basis that 
the Chairman and CEO’s remuneration tracks market practice and the regulatory environment in the United States.

Category Chairman and CEO All U.S. employees

Salary 0% 15.0%

Benefits 9.8% 12.3%

Annual Incentive 25.8% -7.7%

CEO Pay Ratio Reporting
This reporting year legislation has come into force which requires companies to publish information on the pay ratio 
of the CEO to U.K. employees. In line with the new regulatory requirements, the table below sets out the ratio at 
median, 25th and 75th percentile of the total remuneration received by our Chairman and CEO compared to the total 
remuneration received by our U.K. employees — as well as comparing to base salary only. Total remuneration reflects all 
remuneration received by an individual in respect of the relevant years, and includes salary, benefits, pension, and value 
received from incentive plans. We believe that the median pay ratio shown in the table below is representative of pay 
and progression policies of the Company in the U.K.

Financial year Option 

Total Remuneration Base Salary Only

P25
(Lower 

Quartile)

P50
(Median)

P75
(Upper 

Quartile)

P25
(Lower 

Quartile)
P50

(Median)

P75
(Upper 

Quartile)

2019 C 133:1 115:1 80:1 24:1 22:1 15:1

The Company has decided to use Option C to select the P25, P50 and P75 employees. We used a database that includes 
base salary, benefits, pensions, and incentive plans and selected the employees by comparing them on a full-time 
equivalent basis among 2,586 employees. For the P25 we selected a sample of 20 employees around the P25, added 
overtime and shift allowance, and used the median of that sample. Overtime and shift allowance has the highest impact 
in this quartile. Due to operational constraints we are not able to build a database including those extra elements for all 
employees.

Pursuant to Section 953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 402(u) of 
Regulation S-K as promulgated by the SEC, we also submit the following information in our Notice of 2020 Annual 
Meeting and Proxy Statement, available on our website. This illustrates the ratio of the total annual compensation of 
our Chairman and CEO to the total annual compensation of our median employee for our last completed fiscal year, 
2019. For 2019, the annual total compensation of our Chairman and CEO for purposes of determining the pay ratio was 
$15,351,206, and the annual total compensation of our median employee was $63,294. As a result, for 2019, the ratio of 
the annual total compensation of our Chairman and CEO to the total annual compensation of our median employee was 
approximately 243:1.
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Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The table below sets out data for 2018 and 2019.

Relative spend information 2018 2019 % Change

Remuneration for All Global Employees $2,640,400,000 $2,552,670,000 -3%

Distributions to Shareholders $238,065,468 $232,794,756 -2%

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
The following table presents the fees paid to the Company’s non-executive directors for the year ended 31 December 
2019, pursuant to our Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which was approved at our 2018 Annual Meeting. Our former 
Executive Chairman, Mr. Pilenko, and current Chairman and CEO, Mr. Pferdehirt, are not included in the table below as 
they were employees during 2019 and did not receive any additional compensation for their service as a director.

Non-Executive Director Single Figure Table (Audited Information):

2019 ($000s) 2018 ($000s)

Non-Executive 
Director

Base 
fees

Additional 
fees

Stock 
Awards

Taxable 
benefits Total

Base 
fees

Additional 
fees

Stock 
Awards

Taxable 
benefits Total

Eleazar de Carvalho 
Filho 100 12.5 175 1.104 288.60 100 20 175 0 295

Arnaud Caudoux 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pascal Colombani 100 50 175 1.104 326.10 100 25 175 0 300

Marie-Ange Debon 100 32.5 175 1.104 308.60 100 32.5 175 0 308

Claire S. Farley 100 20 175 1.104 296.10 100 12.5 175 0 288

Didier Houssin 100 25 175 1.104 301.10 100 25 175 0 300

Peter Mellbye 100 35 175 1.104 311.10 100 35 175 0 310

John O’Leary 100 12.5 175 1.104 288.60 100 12.5 175 0 288

Richard A. Pattarozzi 50 35 175 1.448 261.45 100 77.5 175 0 352.5

Olivier Piou 58.3 12.5 0 1.104 70.83 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Kay G. Priestly 100 12.5 175 2.668 288.60 100 12.5 175 0 288

Joseph Rinaldi 100 25 175 2.159 302.67 100 25 175 0 300

James M. Ringler 100 25 175 0 302.16 100 35 175 0 310

John Yearwood 58.3 15 0 0 73.3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Non-Executive Director Share Ownership (Audited Information)
To further align the interests of non-executive directors with the interests of the Company’s shareholders, each non-
executive director is subject to a share ownership requirement of five times the annual cash retainer. The following table 
shows, as of 31 December 2019, the number of our Ordinary Shares owned by each of our non-executive directors.

Share 
ownership 

requirement

Number 
of shares 

required to 
hold

Number of 
shares owned 

outright1

Interest in 
shares

Total number 
of shares held

Non-Executive Director

Eleazar de Carvalho Filho $500,000 13,993 35,060 8,341 43,401

Arnaud Caudoux – – – – –

Pascal Colombani $500,000 13,993 11,675 8,341 20,106

Marie-Ange Debon $500,000 13,993 11,685 8,341 20,026

Claire S. Farley $500,000 13,993 65,364 8,341 73,705

Didier Houssin $500,000 13,993 11,655 8,341 19,996

Peter Mellbye $500,000 13,993 21,848 8,341 30,189

John O’Leary $500,000 13,993 14,455 8,341 22,796

Richard A. Pattarozzi2 0 0 0 0 0

Olivier Piou $500,000 2,332 3,000 – 3,000

Kay G. Priestly $500,000 13,993 20,016 8,341 28,357

Joseph Rinaldi $500,000 13,993 11,655 8,341 19,996

James M. Ringler $500,000 13,993 180,312 8,341 188,653

John Yearwood $500,000 2,332 – – –

(1) Includes Ordinary Shares owned by the individual and Ordinary Shares subject to RSUs credited to individual accounts of non-employee directors 
under our incentive plan. As of 31 December 2019, the number of Ordinary Shares subject to RSUs credited to each non-executive director 
under the incentive plan was 10,855, except for Messrs. Piou and Yearwood, who joined the Board in June 2019, and Mr. Caudoux who waived 
his cash and equity remuneration because of the policies of his employer, Bpifrance. These directors have no power to vote or dispose of shares 
underlying the RSUs until they are distributed upon the cessation of their service on our Board. Until such distribution, these directors have an 
unsecured claim against us for such units.

(2) Mr. Pattarozzi retired from the Board on May 1, 2019. As such, he was not subject to share ownership requirements as of December 31, 2019.

All directors met our ownership guidelines in 2019, with the exception of John Yearwood, who joined the Board in 
June, 2019. Given Mr. Caudoux waived his annual cash and equity remuneration because of the policies of his employer, 
Bpifrance, he is not subject to any share ownership and retention requirements.
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Executive Chairman Compensation Table
Mr. Pilenko’s compensation for 2019 was in accordance with our Directors’ Remuneration Policy that was approved at 
our 2018 Annual Meeting, and his end-of-service payments are in accordance with the terms of his service agreement. 
The following table summarizes the compensation earned by Mr. Pilenko for his services as Executive Chairman from 
January 1 to May 1, 2019.

Year Salary ($)1 Stock Awards ($)2 Non-Equity Incentive 
Plan Compensation ($)3

All Other 
Compensation 

($)4

Total ($)

2019 335,391 0 402,470 46,193 784,054

2018 1,061,194 0 1,758,397 132,894 2,952,485

2017 1,023,929 2,199,987 1,954,680 159,466 5,338,062

(1) The amounts reported as Salary, Non-Equity Incentive Compensation, and All Other Compensation for Mr. Pilenko were paid in Euros. Mr. Pilenko’s 
salary remained unchanged since our Company’s formation in 2017 (i.e., a salary of €900,000). The amounts in this column vary from year to 
year due to the applicable Euro to U.S. dollar conversion on the last day of each month during each reporting year. 

(2) The amounts represent the sum of the aggregate grant date fair value of options, RSUs and PSUs. They are based on an assumption that target 
performance would be achieved. The actual value of the award may increase or decrease if actual performance is above or below target.

(3) Mr. Pilenko’s 2019 annual cash incentive bonus was paid at its target value, pro-rated to his time of service as Executive Chairman, from January 
1 to May 1, 2019. He did not earn any bonus relative to the period from May 2, 2019 to December 31, 2019 when he was employed but paid 
using accrued time off.

 For 2017 and 2018, the amounts also include the payment of the last two installments of the 2014 legacy Technip Long-Term Cash Incentive Plan 
of $102,393 and $106,119, respectively.

(4) The 2019 amount represents Mr. Pilenko’s pension-related payments of $9,665 and taxable benefits which include premiums for (i) medical, life, 
and disability insurance of $3,457, (ii) financial planning and personal tax assistance of $25,581, and (iii) spousal travel for Company business 
functions of $17,551.
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Application of the policy in 2020
We believe that the policy agreed by shareholders in 2018 continues to be fit for purpose going forward. We are, 
therefore, proposing modest adjustments, the most significant of which is a rebalancing of the incentive mix to reflect 
a stronger link to performance. The 20% of the long-term incentive mix previously delivered in stock options, will be 
reallocated equally to PSUs and RSUs, as follows:

PSU 60%

SO
20%

RSU
20%

2019

PSU 70%

RSU
30%

2020

Compensation for directors is recommended annually by the Compensation Committee with the assistance of Willis 
Towers Watson and approved by the Board. 

The Directors’ Remuneration will be implemented with effect from the 2020 Annual Meeting (24 April 2020) as follows:

Salary and Benefits 

Chairman and CEO 2019 Base Salary 2020 Base Salary Increase

Douglas J. Pferdehirt $1,236,000 $1,236,000 0%

The 2020 annual incentive performance targets will be disclosed in our 2020 U.K. Annual Report.

Benefits and Pension
No changes are being made. 

Annual Bonus 
The bonus opportunity and operation for 2020 will be in line with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. The measures and 
weightings for the year will be as follows: 

BPI 75%

TechnipFMC EBITDA$ 25%

TechnipFMC EBITDA % revenue 25%

TechnipFMC Working Capital Days 25%

API 25%

Total 100%
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Long-term Incentive Plan 
The grant of any of these awards is always subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation 
Committee granted long-term equity incentives to our Chairman and CEO on March 9, 2020, consisting of the following:

	`Based on feedback from shareholders in 2019, we eliminated the use of stock options in the 2020 long-term equity 
incentive awards.

	`30% of awards granted are time-based RSUs.

	`70% of awards granted are PSUs. The performance period was set from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2022. Due 
to the announced spin-off of Technip Energies, the performance metrics for the PSUs will be pro-rated based on two 
separate periods: January 1, 2020 to the closing date of the spin-off (“Pre-spin Period”) and from the closing date of 
the spin-off to December 31, 2022 (“Post-spin Period”).

	`For the Pre-spin Period, the PSU performance metric will be based on relative TSR performance versus our Relative 
TSR Peer Group, using the payout scale below:

Relative TSR Ranking Payout (% of earned PSUs)

Below 25th percentile 0%

25th percentile 50%

75th percentile or greater 200%

Note: If the Company’s TSR is negative for the performance period, the payout in respect of the TSR element will be capped at target, regardless of 
our relative performance.

	`For the Post-spin Period, each of TechnipFMC and Technip Energies will set its performance metrics and targets 
related to the Post-spin Period as soon as practicable after the closing of the spin-off.

	`Each company will include TechnipFMC’s Pre-spin Period performance in a weighted calculation of its performance 
for the 2020-2022 performance period.
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Non-Executive Director fees 
For the year ending December 31, 2020, our non-executive director compensation program consists of cash 
consideration and restricted stock unit awards. The following table describes the components of our non-executive 
director compensation program.

Compensation Element Compensation 2019 Compensation 2020 % increase

Annual Retainer $100,000 paid in cash $100,000 paid in cash 0%

Annual Equity Grant $175,000 in RSUs, vesting after 
one year of service and settled 
upon leaving the Board

$175,000 in RSUs, vesting after 
one year of service and settled 
upon leaving the Board

Starting with the 2020 award, 
non-executive directors will have 
the opportunity to elect the year 
in which they will take receipt of 
the equity grants from either (a) 
a period of 1 to 10 years from 
the grant date or (b) upon their 
separation from Board service. 
The elections are made prior to the 
beginning of the grant year and are 
irrevocable after December 31st of 
the year prior to grant

0%

Annual Chair Fee $20,000 for Audit Committee $20,000 for Audit Committee 0%

$15,000 for Compensation 
Committee

$15,000 for Compensation 
Committee

0%

$10,000 for Nominating and 
Governance Committee

$10,000 for Nominating and 
Governance Committee

0%

$10,000 for Strategy Committee $10,000 for Strategy Committee 0%

Meeting Fee $2,500 per committee meeting $2,500 per committee meeting 0%

Stock Ownership Requirement Five times annual retainer Five times annual retainer 0%

Our Chairman and CEO is an employee and does not receive any additional compensation for his service as a director. 
Each non-executive director receives reimbursement for reasonable incidental expenses incurred in connection with the 
attendance at Board and committee meetings.

In addition, to reflect the Company’s corporate responsibility and sustainability strategy of supporting communities, 
directors are eligible to participate in our matching charitable contribution program on the same terms as employees. 
Pursuant to this program, the Company matches 100% of the charitable contributions of its employees and directors up 
to an aggregate of $10,000 in any year, although the Company exercises discretion to approve matching contributions in 
excess of that amount from time to time. Directors who are not Company employees do not participate in any employee 
benefit plans other than the Company’s matching program for charitable contributions. The Company has not made any 
charitable contribution to an organization in which a director serves as an employee or an immediate family member of 
the director serves as an executive officer. 
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Starting with the 2020 award, non-executive Directors will have the opportunity to elect the year in which they will take 
receipt of the equity grants from either (a) a period of one to 10 years from the grant date or (b) upon their separation 
from Board service. The elections are made prior to the beginning of the grant year and are irrevocable after December 
31 of the year prior to grant.

Activities of the Compensation Committee in 2019
The Chair of the Compensation Committee is James M. Ringler. The other members of the Compensation Committee 
are Claire Farley, John O’Leary, Joseph Rinaldi, and John Yearwood (from July 2019), all of whom are non-executive 
directors that the Company considers to be independent. The Compensation Committee’s terms of reference (Charter of 
the Compensation Committee of the Board) are available on the Company’s website at www.TechnipFMC.com under the 
heading “About us > Governance”.

The Compensation Committee’s responsibilities are:

	`Reviewing, evaluating, and approving the agreements, plans, policies, and programs of the Company to compensate its 
independent directors, the former Executive Chairman, the current Chairman and CEO, and other officers, as applicable

	`Consistent with equity plans approved by the Company’s shareholders, reviewing, evaluating, and approving 
all awards by the Company of equity securities or equity derivatives to executive officers of the Company and 
approving the number of equity securities or equity derivatives to be allocated to all other employees at the 
discretion of the Chairman and CEO.

	`Reviewing the compensation disclosure to be included in the Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2020 Annual 
Meeting, as well as the description of the Company’s directors’ remuneration policy and the annual remuneration 
report, which form part of the Company’s annual report.

	`Producing the Compensation Committee Report to be included in the Company’s proxy statement

	`Reviewing, evaluating, and approving the directors’ remuneration policy and the directors’ remuneration report

	`Otherwise discharging the Board’s responsibilities related to compensation of the Company’s executive officers  
and directors

	`Performing such other functions as the Board may assign to the Compensation Committee from time to time

Under its charter, the Compensation Committee has the sole authority to retain and terminate a compensation consultant, 
outside counsel, or any other advisors engaged to assist in the evaluation of compensation of directors, as well as the 
sole authority to approve the consultant’s fees and its terms, which are then paid by the Company (within any budgetary 
constraints imposed by the Board). Our executive directors do not discuss compensation matters with the Compensation 
Committee’s consultant, except as needed to respond to questions from the consultant.

In 2019, in order to ensure our compensation programs are aligned with peer group and industry best practices, the 
Compensation Committee retained Willis Towers Watson as its principal compensation consultant to provide information 
and advice to the Compensation Committee on executive and director compensation and related governance matters. 
The firm was engaged in 2016, through a tender process, to advise on our 2017 merger and then subsequently 
confirmed in 2017 as compensation advisors to the Compensation Committee. Fees are based on a fixed fee offset, 
based on an assumed set of activities. Services carried out by Willis Towers Watson in 2019 included evaluating our 
director and executive compensation programs against general market and peer data, and providing updates on current 
executive compensation trends and applicable legislative and governance activity. In addition, Willis Towers Watson 
provided retirement benefit consultant services, health and group benefits consulting services, and corporate risk and 
broking services to management. In 2019, Willis Towers Watson was paid approximately $358,000 in fees related to 
executive compensation services, and $1,960,000 related to non-executive compensation services, in each case relating 
to both our directors and executive officers.
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In February 2020, the Compensation Committee considered the independence of Willis Towers Watson in accordance 
with applicable law. At the request of the Compensation Committee, Willis Towers Watson prepared a letter providing 
data on the following factors relevant to assessing independence: (a) other services provided to the Company by Willis 
Towers Watson; (b) fees paid by the Company as a percentage of Willis Towers Watson’s total revenue; (c) policies and 
procedures maintained by Willis Towers Watson that are designed to prevent a conflict of interest; (d) any business 
or personal relationships between the individual consultants involved in the engagement and a member of the 
Compensation Committee; (e) any ordinary shares owned by the individual consultants involved in the engagement or 
their immediate family members; and (f) any business or personal relationships between our executive officers and Willis 
Towers Watson or the individual consultants involved in the engagement. The Compensation Committee also considered 
that the Willis Towers Watson consultants advising the Compensation Committee derived no economic benefit from the 
fees paid for the non-executive compensation services. The Compensation Committee discussed these considerations 
and concluded that the work of Willis Towers Watson and the consultants involved in the engagement did not raise any 
conflict of interest.
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Compensation Committee Members
All members of the Compensation Committee are independent. The Compensation Committee met five times in 2019 and 
all members attended each meeting.

The Compensation Committee’s Activities during the Year Ended December 31, 2019
Each year the Compensation Committee approves an annual calendar which sets out the key activities in accordance with 
its charter. The key activities of the committee in 2019 were as follows:

Q1 Q2–Q3 Q4

Approve compensation decisions 
and equity awards for directors and 
officers 

Approve company goal 
achievements in relation to annual 
and long-term incentive plans 

Review and discuss executive 
compensation strategy structure 
and programs 

Approve annual disclosures, 
including CD&A and U.K. 
remuneration report

Approve executive officer 
stock ownership guidelines and 
compliance

Discuss shareholders engagement 
outcomes and review proxy voting 
results

Discuss Technip Energies Directors-
elect compensation policy

Review internal governance policies 
(clawback, insiders, anti-hedging, 
pledging) and compliance with those

Approve equity programs, annual 
budget for non-officers, and equity 
awards impact on shareholders 
dilution 

Review of peer compensation 
practices 

Approve Technip Energies Directors-
elect compensation policy

Statement of Voting at Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
At our 2019 annual general meeting of shareholders, 79.9% of votes cast approved our 2018 Remuneration Report with 
20.1% voting against the report (percentages subject to rounding), and 340,249 abstaining. At our 2018 annual general 
meeting of shareholders, our Remuneration Policy was approved by 76.7% of shareholders, with 23.3% of votes cast 
against the policy and 487,136 votes abstaining. The Compensation Committee has carefully considered the results of the 
advisory votes as it completed its annual review of our compensation program. An integral component in the evaluation 
and review of our compensation program is our shareholder engagement initiatives, explained in further detail in the 
letter from our Compensation Committee Chairman.  

We have continued our shareholder engagement program of soliciting feedback on our director compensation program 
structure and decisions, and our Compensation Committee considers shareholder feedback as it evaluates and reviews 
the compensation program each year.

On behalf of the Board

James M. Ringler

Director and Compensation Committee Chairman

March 13, 2020
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Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy was approved at the annual general meeting of shareholders on June 14, 2018 and took effect 
from that date. There are no proposed changes to the policy, and therefore, no requirement for a shareholder vote at the 
2020 Annual Meeting. The policy will continue to apply until the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 2021, or until 
an earlier vote is held.

The Remuneration Policy is set out in this section for reference only. 

Future Policy Table for Executive Directors
The table and accompanying notes below describe each component of the Company’s executive directors’ remuneration 
package. 

Base Salary

Purpose and link to 
strategy

To attract and retain exceptionally talented individuals who deliver superior operational 
performance in the Company’s businesses and create an environment that fosters the 
innovation necessary for continued growth of the Company’s revenue, earnings and 
shareholder returns.

Operation Normally reviewed annually or following a change in responsibilities with changes 
usually taking effect from March 1.

The Compensation Committee considers the following parameters when setting and 
reviewing base salary levels:

	`pay increases for other employees across the Company;

	` economic conditions and governance trends;

	` the individual’s performance, skills and responsibilities;

	`base salaries of companies of a similar size and international scope; and

	`market pay levels.

Salaries are normally paid in the currency of the executive director’s home country.

Maximum payment Salary increases will ordinarily be in line with increases awarded to other employees in 
the Company. The Compensation Committee reserves the discretion to increase salary 
levels in appropriate circumstances such as where the nature or scope of the executive 
director’s role or responsibilities changes or in order to be competitive at the median 
level of peer companies. Salary adjustments may also reflect wider market conditions 
in the geography in which the executive director is based.

Performance assessment Overall performance of the executive director is considered by the Compensation 
Committee when setting salaries annually.

Provisions to recover 
sums paid or the 
withholding of payments

Not applicable
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Pension and Other Retirements Benefits

Purpose and link to 
strategy

Provides competitive post-retirement benefits.

Operation Provision of market competitive retirement benefits that may vary based on the 
location. The Chief Executive Officer currently participates in the Company’s U.S. 
Qualified Savings Plan and U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan. The Executive Chairman 
participates in a French defined contribution plan. 

Further detail on current pension provisions for executive directors is disclosed in the 
annual report on remuneration.

Maximum payment Retirement or pension benefits vary by geography and this makes it difficult to provide 
a maximum payment level. Based on the single figure valuation approach, for the 2017 
financial year, the executive directors’ pension benefits were equal to 11% of the Chief 
Executive Officer’s salary and 3% of the Executive Chairman’s salary.

However, it is recognized that this value may fluctuate yearly.

The Executive Chairman is also entitled to a lump sum payment in settlement of his 
“Article 39” pension payable in two equal installments in 2017 and 2018 of $2,218,512.

Performance assessment None.

Provisions to recover 
sums paid or the 
withholding of payments

Not applicable.
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Annual Performance Bonus

Purpose and link 
to strategy

Incentivizes achievement of the Company’s annual financial and strategic targets. Provides 
focus on key financial metrics and the individual’s contributions to the Company’s performance.

Operation 	`Performance measures and stretching targets are set annually in advance by the 
Compensation Committee by reference to the annual operating plan.

	` The majority of the bonus will be based on financial performance. However, operational, 
strategic and individual targets may also be used. 

	`75% of the bonus is based on a BPI comprising financial metrics, and 25% of the bonus is 
based on an API comprising personal targets. 

	` The award is usually paid out in cash after the end of the financial year.

	` The Compensation Committee has discretion to amend the level of payment if it is not 
deemed to reflect appropriately the individual’s contribution or the overall business 
performance. Any discretionary adjustments will be detailed in the following year’s annual 
report on remuneration.

	` The Compensation Committee retains the discretion to make other bonus payments on 
an exceptional basis when it considers this to be appropriate in the context of Company 
and executive performance, and when it is considered to be in the best interests of our 
shareholders. Where such bonuses are paid, we would seek to restrict the value to the limit 
in this policy.

Further details of the annual bonus for 2017 and 2018 are set out in the annual report on 
remuneration.

Maximum 
payment

	` The maximum annual bonus target for 2018 is currently set at 270% of base salary for the 
Chief Executive Officer and at 240% of base salary for the Executive Chair. This equates to 
200% of target value.

	` For threshold performance, the bonus pays out from 0% of base salary.1

	` For “on-target” performance up to 100% of base salary may be earned.2

	` For maximum performance up to 200% of base salary may be earned.3

The Compensation Committee retains the discretion to increase the bonus target in 
circumstances it deems appropriate, such as for a change in market levels. 

Continued overleaf >
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Annual Performance Bonus

Performance 
assessment

	`Performance measures and stretching targets are set annually by the Compensation 
Committee by reference to the annual operating plan and renewed throughout the year by 
the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 

	` The Compensation Committee has discretion to vary the weighting of these measures over 
the life of this remuneration policy.

Further details are set out in the annual report on remuneration.

Provisions to 
recover sums paid 
or the withholding 
of payments

Clawback provisions apply as described on page 63 of the 2017 U.K. Annual Report on 
Remuneration.

(1) For clarification, this should read: “For threshold performance, the bonus pays out from 0% of target value”.
(2) For clarification, this should read: “For on-target performance, the bonus pays out at 100% of target value”. 
(3) For clarification, this should read: “For maximum performance, up to 200% of target value may be earned”.
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Long-term Incentive Schemes 

Purpose and link 
to strategy

Incentivizes executive directors to deliver superior long-term returns to shareholders. 

Operation Long-term incentives are granted under the TechnipFMC plc Incentive Award Plan (the 
“Incentive Plan”). This is an omnibus arrangement whereby a variety of award types may be 
granted, including: performance stock units, restricted stock units, stock options, cash settled 
awards and share appreciation rights.

For 2018, it is currently intended that award grants comprise:

	`Performance Stock Units (“PSUs”): an award of shares subject to performance conditions 
assessed over a period of 3 years. 

	`Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”): an award of shares that vest 3 years from grant.

	` Stock options: an award of stock options that vest 3 years from grant and has a ten-year 
term.

The type and weighting of awards granted each year is determined annually by the 
Compensation Committee at its discretion. A minimum of 60% will be performance based. 
However, it is the current intention of the Compensation Committee for the weighting for the 
Chief Executive Officer based on the fair value at the grant date to be, for 2018:

	`60% Performance Stock Units;

	`20% Stock Options and;

	`20% Restricted Stock Units. 

The Compensation Committee has discretion to vary the weighting of the performance 
measures over the life of this remuneration policy.

Executive irectors will be eligible for any dividends paid and accumulated on RSUs and PSUs 
during the performance or vesting period. No dividend equivalents will be payable on Stock 
Options.

Maximum 
payment

	` The maximum grant date fair value of long-term incentive awards granted to the Chief 
Executive Officer will be $15 million per annum. Under the terms of the Incentive Plan no 
more than 2,000,000 shares may be granted to any one individual in any calendar year.

	`PSUs pay out at 25% of maximum for achievement of threshold performance. 

	` The Compensation Committee retains the discretion to adjust the actual value of awards 
granted under the Plan in circumstances it deems appropriate but in no way should the total 
exceed $15 million.

Continued overleaf >
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Long-term Incentive Schemes 

Performance 
Assessment 
(applicable to 
performance 
based RSUs only)

	` Long-term incentive awards except PSUs are not subject to achievement of performance 
targets other than vesting periods. This is in line with market practice in the US. 

	` For PSUs, the vesting of awards is linked to a range of performance measures that may 
include, but are not limited to:

	`a growth measure (for example, net sales, EPS);

	`a measure of efficiency (for example, operating margin, operating cash conversion, ROIC); 
and

	`a measure of the Company’s relative performance in relation to its peers (for example, 
relative total shareholder return).

	`Measures and targets will be determined by the Compensation Committee annually at its 
discretion prior to grant and will be set out in the annual report on remuneration. 

	` The Compensation Committee has discretion to amend the performance conditions in 
exceptional circumstances if it considers it appropriate to do so. Any such amendments 
would be disclosed and explained in the following year’s annual report on remuneration.

Provisions to 
recover sums paid 
or the withholding 
of payments

Clawback provisions apply as described on page 63 of the 2017 U.K. Annual Report on 
Remuneration.
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All Employee Share Scheme

Purpose and link 
to strategy

To enable executive directors to participate in share purchase schemes applicable to all-
employees on the same basis as other employees.

Operation Whilst the Company does not currently operate all employee share purchase schemes were it 
to obtain shareholder approval to do so during the term of the remuneration policy executive 
directors would be eligible to participate in such a plan on the same terms as other eligible 
employees not inconsistent with this policy. Such employee share purchase schemes would 
allow the executive directors to purchase up to $25,000 in value of shares each year at a 
discount (which could take the form of a matching share), not to exceed 20%.

Maximum 
payment

Up to $25,000 in value of the shares at a discount of up to 20%

Performance 
assessment

None

Provisions to 
recover sums paid 
or the withholding 
of payments

None
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Benefits and Perquisites

Purpose and link 
to strategy

To provide market competitive benefits and to facilitate the performance of executive 
directors in their duties.

Operation Executive directors are eligible to receive benefits, that may include, but are not limited 
to: financial planning, personal tax assistance, use of company cars and club memberships 
(primarily business related), medical, vision and dental benefits, sickness, death and 
dismemberment benefits, work related travel and security expenses for the director and 
spouse and matching charity contributions. Benefits may vary by location. 

The Compensation Committee has discretion to offer additional allowances or benefits to 
executive directors, if considered appropriate and reasonable. These may include relocation 
expenses, housing allowance and school fees where an executive director has to relocate 
from his/her home location as part of his/her duties.

Maximum 
payment

The actual value of benefits and perquisites varies year on year depending on the cost to the 
business and individual director’s circumstances. The benefits package is set at a level that 
the Compensation Committee considers:

	`provides an appropriate level of benefits depending on the role and individual 
circumstances; and

	` in line with comparable benefits in companies of a similar size and complexity in the market.

Performance 
assessment

None.

Provisions to 
recover sums paid 
or the withholding 
of payments

Not applicable.
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Legacy Obligations 
The Compensation Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments that are outside of this 
remuneration policy if they were agreed to prior to this remuneration policy being enacted. The Compensation 
Committee also reserves the right to make any remuneration payments that were agreed to prior to the relevant 
individual becoming an executive director of the Company. Payments include share based and cash based incentives and/
or salary, benefits, pension and other payments.

Performance Target Selection 
The performance targets for the annual bonus and long-term incentive plan are set each year prior to the grant date, 
taking into account: market practice at peer companies; practice within the wider group; and our strategic and financial 
business plan over the short and long-term. 

The measures we select are chosen due to their link and importance to the strategy and our Key Performance Indicators. 
We select measures intended to provide a balance between growth, efficiency and relative outperformance.

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation 
Our U.S.-based executives, including our Chief Executive Officer, are eligible to participate in the U.S. Non-Qualified 
Savings Plan, which provides executives and other eligible employees with the opportunity to participate in a tax 
advantaged savings plan comparable to the U.S. Qualified Savings Plan. The investment options offered to participants 
in the U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan are similar to those offered in our U.S. Qualified Savings Plan. Participants may 
elect to defer up to 90% of their base pay and/or annual cash incentive bonus into the U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan. 
The Company contributes 5% of the employee’s contributions to the U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan. Participants are 
100% vested in their contributions and the employer contributions. For those participants in the U.S. Non-Qualified 
Savings Plan eligible to receive the non-elective contribution, we will contribute an additional 4% of the employee’s 
contributions to the U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan (the 4% will decrease to 2% beginning in 2018). Similar to the U.S. 
Qualified Savings Plan, eligible participants in the U.S. Non-Qualified Savings Plan become vested in their non-elective 
contributions after three years of service with the Company. In addition, for these eligible participants, we will make 
a contribution on annual compensation that exceeds the maximum compensation limit required by the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for our U.S. Qualified Savings Plan. The intent of our contributions to the U.S. 
Non-Qualified Savings Plan is so that eligible employees receive the same contribution as a percentage of eligible 
earnings from the company regardless of compensation level. All vested funds must be distributed upon an employee’s 
termination or retirement from the Company.
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Approach to Recruitment Remuneration
	` The Compensation Committee’s approach to recruitment remuneration is to pay no more than is necessary to attract 
appropriate candidates to the role.

	` The Compensation Committee will seek to structure pay for any new director in line with the remuneration policy. 
The Compensation Committee does not envisage paying above the levels set out in the policy for a new executive’s 
ongoing package.

	`Where it is necessary to “buy out” an individual’s awards from a previous employer, the Compensation Committee 
will seek to match the expected value of the awards and to grant awards that vest over a time frame similar to 
those given up, with a commensurate reduction in quantum where the new awards will be subject to performance 
conditions that are not as stretching as those on the awards given up. Where recruitment payments or awards are 
intended to replace pay forfeited by the individual, the value of such awards will not be limited to those limits set out 
in the remuneration policy, but will be determined by the Compensation Committee at its discretion. 

	` The Compensation Committee may agree to relocation expenses and other associated expenses when negotiating the 
employment conditions.

	` For an internal promotion, any outstanding incentive awards or bonuses may be permitted to continue, or be adjusted 
to reflect the new position. 

	` The Compensation Committee reserves the right to make payments of fees and base salary (or annual retainer) and 
make benefit or annual cash bonus provisions or payments in respect of any other component of remuneration 
(including the terms and conditions attaching thereto) outside of the scope of the general remuneration policy (and its 
caps) for directors to meet individual circumstances of recruitment or in connection with any merger and acquisition 
activity.

147    TechnipFMC

U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 2019



Service Agreement
Our Executive Chairman is the only executive director with a service agreement. Prior to the Merger, Technip had an 
arrangement with Mr. Pilenko that established certain terms of employment pursuant to French laws. In connection 
with the Merger, the Company agreed to continue and adopt the pre-Merger terms of employment, including those 
mandated by French law, in order to ensure continuity during the post-Merger period until the Company’s post-Merger 
Compensation Committee could review all executive employment arrangements. As such, the Company entered into 
a service agreement with Mr. Pilenko to reflect his pre-Merger employment and compensation arrangements, which 
entitles him to a base salary of €900,000 and participation in short- and long-term incentives. In addition, we agreed 
to continue to provide Mr. Pilenko with the following benefits: (i) the continuation of supplementary health coverage for 
him and his spouse subject to such coverage being available at reasonable cost; (ii) the reimbursement of the cost of 
up to 12 intercontinental flights per year for his spouse at the same class of ticket he is allowed for business trips; (iii) 
car service for his business trips; (iv) the reimbursement of reasonable expenses relating to preparing and filing his tax 
returns in France, the United Kingdom, and the United States; (v) all existing or future supplementary retirement plans for 
executives working in France; (vi) 25 days paid holiday each year; and (vii) reimbursement of various expenses related to 
immigration.

Once our post-Merger Compensation Committee reviewed all executive employment arrangements, Mr. Pilenko’s service 
agreement was updated to reflect the ability to earn an annual cash incentive, which we offer to all of our executive 
officers. In addition, should Mr. Pilenko’s employment be terminated by us other than for cause (i.e., gross misconduct, 
gross negligence, conviction of an arrestable offense, conduct bringing him or us into disrepute, or being prohibited from 
being a director) prior to our 2019 annual general meeting, he will receive a lump sum payment equal to the salary he 
would have received through the date of the 2019 annual general meeting. Upon termination of his employment other 
than for cause, he will also be eligible for (i) a lump sum payment equal to his annual base salary and target annual cash 
incentive, subject to his signing a release of claims, (ii) monthly payments of his base salary and one-twelfth of his target 
annual cash incentive payable over 12 months as payment for a non-compete, (iii) payment for all accrued but unused 
vacation days, and (iv) subject to his continued compliance with his non-compete, continuation of his supplementary 
health and tax preparation reimbursement benefits for two years following his termination. If Mr. Pilenko’s employment 
is terminated for cause, he would not be entitled to any additional payments or benefits upon termination. Upon 
termination for any reason other than cause, all stock options granted under legacy Technip plans, performance stock 
unit awards, and other awards granted prior to the Merger will continue on their existing terms and will not be forfeited. 

Both the executive and non-executive directors have entered into letters of appointment.

Our Chief Executive Officer and non-executive directors have not entered into service agreements. Our Chief Executive 
Officer has severance and change in control protections as detailed in relation to potential loss of office payments are set 
out in Section V below.

148    TechnipFMC

U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 2019



Illustrations of Application of Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy
The charts below illustrate the potential value of total compensation under the remuneration policy at threshold, on-
target and maximum levels of performance, categorized by fixed pay, annual incentives and long-term incentives. 

For the purposes of this chart, and in line with the definitions used for “variable” pay in U.K. legislation, the value of RSUs 
has been included in the fixed pay column, along with salary, taxable benefits and retirement benefits. 

The table below sets out the elements and approach to calculation for the above charts: 

Performance Fixed pay Annual variable pay Long-term variable pay 

Threshold 
performance 
/ Minimum 
pay-out

Base pay for 2018: (Chief Executive Officer: 
$1,200,000, Executive Chairman: $1,023,929). 

Taxable benefits as per the single figure 
of remuneration: (Chief Executive Officer: 
$114,603, Executive Chairman: $125,403).

Retirement benefits as per the single figure 
of remuneration: (Chief Executive Officer: 
$125,003, Executive Chairman: $28,563).

Face value of restricted stock awards at grant: 
(Chief Executive Officer: $7,317,853, Executive 
Chairman: $5,820,342).

n/a n/a

On-target / 
“expected” 
performance

Fixed Pay (see above) On-target bonus (100% 
of target). 

For 2018: 135% of 
salary for the Chief 
Executive Officer and 
120% of salary for the 
Executive Chairman.

Performance Stock 
Units at 100% of target.

For 2018: face value 
of $9,705,195 for 
the Chief Executive 
Officer and $0 for the 
Executive Chairman. 

Maximum 
performance

Fixed Pay (see above) Maximum bonus (200% 
of target).

For 2018: 270% of 
salary for the Chief 
Executive Officer and 
240% of salary for the 
Executive Chairman. 

Performance Stock 
Units at 200% of target.

For 2018: face value 
of $15,930,419 for 
the Chief Executive 
Officer and $0 for the 
Executive Chairman.
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Policy on Payment for Loss of Office 
The Compensation Committee will seek to ensure that all payments for loss of office are reasonable and in the long-
term interests of shareholders and the business. The Compensation Committee will generally take into account the 
circumstance of the loss of office and performance of the director. 

The Compensation Committee reserves the right to: 

	`pay legal fees, financial planning or outplacement costs; 

	`pay an annual bonus for the year of cessation;

	` retain or accelerate vesting of outstanding long-term incentive awards; and

	` continue taxable benefits and retirement benefits during the period.

It is our policy to offer severance benefits to our executive directors because we believe that severance benefits provide 
important financial protection to directors in the event of involuntary job loss, are consistent with the practices of peer 
companies and are appropriate for the retention of executive talent. Under our executive severance plan, if our Chief 
Executive Officer is terminated without cause, he is entitled to receive 18 months of severance pay (limited to base 
pay and target annual cash incentive bonus), his pro-rated target annual cash bonus through the date of termination, 
the continuation of medical and dental benefits for 15 months at the employee premium rate, outplacement assistance, 
and financial planning and tax preparation assistance for the last calendar year of employment. The availability of these 
severance benefits is conditioned on the Chief Executive Officer’s compliance with non-disclosure, non-compete, and 
non-solicitation covenants. 

In the event of a termination without cause, termination for good reason, or voluntary retirement, any performance-
based incentive payments are subject to our actual attainment of performance goals. The terms of our executive 
severance plan are consistent with the market practice of large public companies surveyed by Willis Towers Watson. 
Change in control severance benefits, as described below, and severance benefits are exclusive of one another, and in no 
circumstance, would any executive director receive benefits under both a change in control and the executive severance 
plan. 

Only the Chief Executive officer participates in the executive severance plan. The Executive Chairman’s severance is 
governed by his service agreement. It is intended that any new executive director would be retained on similar loss of 
office terms to the current executives. 

Non-executive directors may be terminated early by either the Company or the non-executive director giving one 
month’s written notice. Non-executive directors are not entitled to any severance compensation on termination. 
However, all vested share awards will be settled at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and the Compensation 
Committee retains the right to accelerate vesting for any outstanding share awards.
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Potential Payments upon Change in Control 
It is the Company’s policy to operate change in control benefits to ensure that directors have an incentive to continue to 
work in the Company’s best interest during the period of time when a change in control transaction is taking place and 
in order to ensure continuity of management. The benefits payable upon a change in control are comparable to benefits 
offered to director positions at peer companies. 

The Company has entered into an executive severance agreement with our Chief Executive Officer. Pursuant to this 
agreement, in the event of termination following a qualifying change in control and a qualifying adverse change in 
employment circumstances, the Chief Executive Officer will be entitled to the following benefits: 

	` full vesting of any share awards;

	` three times his annual base pay and annual target bonus;

	` a pro-rated payment equal to the amount of his annual target bonus for the year which he is terminated;

	` accrued but unpaid base pay and unused paid time off;

	` elimination of ownership and retention guidelines;

	` awards granted under the Company’s Incentive Plan and other incentive arrangements adopted by the Company’s will 
be treated pursuant to the terms of the applicable plan;

	` an amount equal to the total monthly premium payable for his coverage (and if applicable spouse and dependent 
coverage) under the Company’s health, dental, vision, prescription drug life, accidental death and dismemberment 
insurance and long-term disability insurance coverage for 36 months;

	` reimbursement for the costs of all outplacement services obtained by him within 18 months of the termination date 
(limited to the lesser of 15% of his base pay on termination and $50,000); and

	` reimbursement for legal fees and other litigation costs incurred in good faith by the Chief Executive Officer as a result 
of the Company’s refusal to provide severance benefits under the executive severance agreement, contesting the 
validity, enforceability or interpretation of the agreement or as a result of any conflict between the parties pertaining 
to the agreement.

The severance payment is required to be paid in a single lump sum payment no later than 30 days after the date of 
termination. Additionally, should our Chief Executive Officer incur a qualifying termination prior to January 16, 2019, 
then his severance benefits will not be less than those he would have received pursuant to the legacy change in control 
severance agreement he had with FMC Technologies. 

A “qualifying termination” includes: (a) an involuntary termination of the Chief Executive Officer’s employment by the 
Company and our subsidiaries for reasons other than “cause,” disability or death within 24 months of the change in 
control; (b) a voluntary termination by the Chief Executive Officer for “good reason” within 24 months of the change in 
control; or (c) a breach by the Company or any successor of any provision in the executive severance agreement.

Under the executive severance agreements, an executive will be considered terminated for “cause” for: 

	`willful and continued failure to substantially perform the executive officer’s employment duties in any material respect 
(other than any such failure resulting from physical or mental incapacity or occurring after an executive officer has 
provided notification to the Company of a voluntary termination for a “good reason”) after proper written demand 
has been provided to the executive officer and the executive officer fails to resume substantial performance of the 
executive officer’s duties on a continuous basis within 30 days of receipt of such demand;

	`willfully engaging in conduct which is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Company or an affiliate; or

	` conviction for, or pleading guilty or not contesting, a felony charge under federal or state law.
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It is intended that any new executive director would be retained on similar loss of office terms to the current executive 
directors. Non-executive directors are not entitled to any compensation on termination and have a one-month notice 
period. However, all share awards will automatically be accelerated on a change of control of the Company.

Future Policy Table for Non-Executive Directors
Directors Fees 

Purpose and link 
to strategy

Non-executive directors’ compensation is designed to reward the time and talent required 
to serve on the board of a company of our size, complexity, and geographical spread, 
acknowledging the significant international travel required to discharge their duties to the 
Company. The Board seeks to provide sufficient flexibility in the form of compensation delivered 
to meet the needs of individuals who are located in different countries, while ensuring that a 
substantial portion of directors’ compensation is linked to the long-term success of the Company.

Operation and 
maximum 
payment 

Our Incentive Plan allows the non-executive members of our Board to receive up to $500,000 
annually in cash and grant date fair value of equity. The Incentive Plan, however, grants the 
Board the authority to pay less than the amount provided under the Incentive Plan.

Non-executive directors are compensated in both cash and restricted stock units which 
reflects practice amongst peer companies. Fees are reviewed periodically against market 
levels.

The table below sets out the policy for 2018: 

Compensation Element Compensation

Annual Retainer $100,000 paid in cash 

Annual Equity Grant $175,000 in RSUs that vest after one year 
(Non-executive directors will be eligible for 
any dividends paid and accumulated on 
RSUs during the vesting period).

Annual Chair Fee $20,000 for Audit Committee

$15,000 for Compensation Committee

$10,000 for Nominating and Governance 
Committee

$10,000 for Strategy Committee

Annual Lead Director Fee $50,000 

Committee Meeting Fee $2,500 per committee meeting

Share Ownership Requirement Five times annual retainer (over 5 years)

The Compensation Committee retains the discretion to increase the value of compensation 
or alter the weighting of share awards and cash at its discretion, should this be considered 
appropriate. Where any discretion is exercised, the basis of this exercise should be disclosed 
in the next remuneration report.

Continued overleaf >
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Directors Fees 

Performance 
assessment

None, although overall performance of the non-executive director is considered by the 
Compensation Committee when setting fee levels.

Provisions to 
recover sums paid 
or the withholding 
of payments

Not applicable.

Other Benefits

Each non-executive director receives reimbursement for reasonable incidental expenses incurred in connection with the 
attendance at Board and committee meetings. In addition, directors are eligible to participate in the matching charitable 
contribution program on the same terms as employees. Pursuant to this program, the Company matches 100% of 
the charitable contributions of our employees and directors up to an aggregate of $10,000 in any year, although the 
Company exercises discretion to approve matching contributions in excess of that amount from time to time. 

Directors who are not the Company’s employees do not participate in any employee benefit plans other than the 
Company’s matching program for charitable contributions. The Company has not made a charitable contribution to any 
charitable organization in which a director serves as an employee or an immediate family member of the director serves 
as an executive officer that exceeds in any single year the greater of $1 million or 2% of such charitable organization’s 
consolidated gross revenues. 

Share Ownership Requirements

To further align the interests of non-executive directors with the interests of the Company’s shareholders, each non-
executive director is expected to acquire and retain the Company’s Ordinary Shares and/or RSUs having a value equal 
to at least five times the amount of each director’s annual cash retainer. A director has five years from his or her initial 
appointment date as a director to meet this requirement. The ownership requirement is pro-rated over the five-year 
period. Each of the Company’s non-executive directors met their pro-rata ownership requirements for 2017. 

The annual RSU grant vests after one year of service but is settled in Ordinary Shares only when the director leaves 
the Board. The RSUs are forfeited if a director ceases service on the Board prior to the vesting date of the RSUs, except 
in the event of death or disability. Unvested RSUs will be settled and are payable in Ordinary Shares upon the death or 
disability of a director or in the event of a change in control of the Company.

Other Provisions

The directors’ appointment letters provide for a one-month notice period, unless the director is terminated for cause in 
which case the Company is not required to give notice. All of our non-executive directors will be subject to annual re-
election from 2019 onwards. No compensation payable if required to stand down.
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Differences between Remuneration Policy for 
Executive Directors and Other Employees
The Remuneration Policy for the executive directors is designed with regard to the employee remuneration policy across 
the Company. However, there are some differences in the structure of the remuneration policy for the executive directors 
and other senior employees, which the Compensation Committee believes are necessary to reflect the different levels of 
responsibility and market practices.

Statement of consideration of employment conditions 
elsewhere in Company
During our first year, compensation continuity was important to ensure focus on integration and synergies. In addition, 
the Company undertook during its first year to harmonize pay policies in to a single benefits plan in each of our locations. 
As such, the Compensation Committee did not undertake a comparison with pay throughout the organization. In 2018, 
following further pay practice integration, the Compensation Committee will benchmark director compensation against 
employee compensation.

Statement of consideration of shareholder views
Directors’ remuneration was presented to shareholders in the European prospectus dated January 13, 2017 made 
available to the public in the context of the admission to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Paris of all the 
Ordinary Shares of the Company prior to completion of the Merger.

Throughout 2017, the Board conducted outreach to, and met with, shareholders accounting for a substantial portion 
of our share ownership base. Specifically, regarding our compensation program, many of our shareholders expressed 
their support, while others provided constructive feedback on the program. Shareholder feedback on our executive 
compensation program focused primarily on the following four themes: (i) development of the compensation 
program; (ii) annual and long-term incentive plans and how the metrics and targets tie to Company objectives 
regarding performance and merger integration; (iii) compensation disclosures, including the Company’s commitment 
to transparency, and (iv) the tenure and transition of executive director roles. This feedback was shared with the 
Compensation Committee and the Board.

The Compensation Committee intends to consult key shareholders on a regular basis and to respond their queries relating 
to director remuneration.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of 
TechnipFMC Plc 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

• TechnipFMC Plc’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial 
statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2019 and of the group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended; 
 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union; 
 

• the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 
“Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and 
 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the U.K. Annual Report and IFRS Financial Statements 
(the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Company Statement 
of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019; the Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements 
of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and the Consolidated Statements of 
Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and Company Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the year then 
ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies. 
Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
were not provided to the group or the company. 

Other than those disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the 
group or the company in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

Our audit approach 
TechnipFMC plc is a global provider of oil and gas projects, technologies, systems, and services. The group provides 
services across three distinct segments: subsea, onshore/offshore, and surface projects. Our audit was planned to 
take into account the impact of market conditions on the results and activities of the group. 
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Overview 

 

• Overall group materiality: $90 million (2018: $80 million), based on 0.67% 
of Revenue. 

• Overall company materiality: $80 million (2018: $70 million), based on 
0.49% of Total assets. 

• We conducted full scope audits on 5 components and the audit of specified 
balances and classes of transactions on a further 31 components. The scope 
of work at each component was determined by its contribution to the 
group’s overall financial performance and its risk profile.  

• We engaged our network firms in Australia, Brazil, France, Italy, India, 
Malaysia, Netherlands, Norway, Russia, Singapore, UK and the US to 
perform the audit procedures in those respective locations.  

• The group audit engagement team visited France, Malaysia, and the US.  
• The components where audit work was performed accounted for 

approximately 76% of group revenue 

• Risk of fraud of revenue recognition on long-term construction contracts 
(group) 

• Carrying value of goodwill – subsea operating segment (group) 
• Carrying value of investments (company) 

 

The scope of our audit 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in 
respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. 
 
Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations related to unethical and prohibited business practices and the wide variety of jurisdictions in 
which the group operates, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on 
the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives 
and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls) 
and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to manipulate revenue 
or profit, and management bias in accounting estimates. The group engagement team shared this risk assessment 
with the component auditors so that they could include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks in 
their work. Audit procedures performed by the group engagement team and/or component auditors included: 
 

• Discussions with management and group General Counsel, including consideration of known or suspected 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud; 

• Evaluation of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities; 
• Review of minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors; 
• Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates, 

in particular in relation to the accounting for contracts which recognise revenue under the over-time 
recognition method; and 

• Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account 
combinations or posted by senior management. 

 
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance 
with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we 
would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk 
of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or 
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. 
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect 
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition on long-term 
construction contracts 
The group has a significant number of material lump 
sum construction contracts which accounts for 
approximately 80% of the group’s total revenue. 
Contract revenue is recognised over the term of the 
contract with reference to the percentage stage of 
completion at each reporting date.  
The judgement involved in assessing the percentage of 
completion calculation can be complex and requires an 
accurate forecast of total contract costs. This is 
particularly important in respect of large contracts 
(contract value greater than $250 million) with low 
margins (0-2%), where management could manipulate 
the estimates in the cost to complete forecast to avoid 
recognising a loss on the contract.  
Additional complexity arises through assessing the 
revenue recognition for any contract contingencies. For 
contracts where there is contract contingencies in excess 
of $45 million we consider there to be a risk of fraud as 
management could manipulate revenue by not releasing 
these contingencies when no longer required. 

We tested key internal financial controls, including the 
review and approval of project margin calculation and 
review of technical contingencies.  
For a sample of contracts we obtained the percentage of 
completion calculations, agreed key contractual terms 
back to signed contracts, tested the mathematical 
accuracy of the cost to complete calculations and re-
performed the calculation of revenue taken in the year 
based on the percentage of completion.  
We discussed the sample of contracts selected with 
project managers and other members of senior 
management to understand the status of the contract, 
any changes from previous years, the key assumptions 
underpinning the revenue and costs, and the existence 
of any claims or litigation.  
For costs incurred to date, we tested a sample to 
appropriate supporting documentation. To test the 
forecast cost to complete, we obtained the breakdown of 
forecasted costs and tested elements of the forecast by 
obtaining executed purchase orders and agreements, 
comparing estimated costs to other similar projects and 
corroborating management’s judgements and 
assumptions to appropriate supporting documentation.  
We assessed the competency and objectivity of the 
project engineers and performed look-back tests to 
assess the accuracy of forecasts in previous reporting 
periods. For a sample of variation orders, we obtained 
the signed contract amendments.  
We assessed the adequacy of contingency provisions 
against contract specific risks and management’s 
assessment of the technical contingencies and the 
potential for liquidated damages on projects with delays.  
Overall, we are satisfied that the group’s accounting 
policies for construction contract revenue recognition is 
reasonable and have been appropriately applied. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 Carrying value of goodwill - Subsea Operating Segment  
The carrying value of Subsea goodwill as at 31 December 
2019 is $2.9 billion. The goodwill balance relates to a 
number of acquisitions, the most significant of which 
resulting from the merger of Technip SA and FMC 
Technologies Inc during 2017.  
Management undertook an annual impairment 
assessment in accordance with the published accounting 
policy. The challenging oil and gas environment, primarily 
within the Subsea market, resulted in a goodwill 
impairment of $1.3 billion being recognised within the 
Subsea CGU.   
We focused on this area given the significant judgements 
involved, and complexity of valuation methodologies 
requiring the use of estimates, to determine whether the 
carrying value of goodwill is appropriate.  

 

 

 

 

 
We obtained managements’ impairment model and 
tested its mathematical accuracy and confirmed the cash 
generating units (CGUs) identified following the 
acquisition are the lowest level at which management 
monitors goodwill.  
We performed audit procedures over the assumptions 
used in respect of forecast growth rates and discount 
rates. We involved our valuation specialists to 
corroborate the appropriateness of the discount rate used 
by forming an independent view of the rate using third 
party source data to calculate a range of acceptable rates 
and comparing this to the rate used in the analysis.  
We agreed the underlying cash flow forecasts used in the 
models to approved budgets and forecasts. We evaluated 
the budgets and forecasts used within the model against 
current trading conditions and corroborated the 
reasonableness of certain key assumptions with external 
third party data and historical results of the Company, 
including the projected revenue growth in 2020, 2021 
and 2022.  
We reviewed the disclosures provided in the financial 
statements to ensure compliance with IAS 36 
‘Impairment of Assets’.  
We also assessed the work performed by management 
and their experts on the valuation models.  
Based on our work performed we concluded that the 
carrying value of goodwill at the year-end is appropriate 
and the impairment recognised in respect of the goodwill 
allocated to the Subsea segment has been appropriately 
determined and in accordance with IAS 36.  

 

Carrying value of investments (Company only) 
 
The total carrying value of investments presented within 
the Company financial statements as at 31 December 
2019 is $14.5 billion. 
 
In line with IAS 36, at the reporting date, management 
assessed whether there were any indication that the 
investments in subsidiaries may be impaired. Where an 
impairment trigger was identified, management 
performed an exercise to determine the recoverable 
amount of the underlying investments. 
 
This resulted in an impairment charge of $2 billion. We 
focused on this area given the significant judgements 
involved, and complexity of valuation methodologies 
requiring the use of estimates. 

 
We reviewed managements’ impairment indicator 
assessment and concluded that it was reasonable. 
We obtained managements’ impairment model and 
tested its mathematical accuracy.  
We performed audit procedures over the assumptions 
used in respect of forecast growth rates and discount 
rates. We involved our valuation specialists to 
corroborate the appropriateness of the discount rate 
used by forming an independent view of the rate using 
third party source data to calculate a range of 
acceptable rates and comparing this to the rate used in 
the analysis.  
We agreed the underlying cash flow forecasts used in 
the models to approved budgets and forecasts. We 
evaluated the budgets and forecasts used within the 
model against current trading conditions and 
corroborated the reasonableness of certain key 
assumptions with external third party data and 
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historical results of the Company, including the 
projected revenue growth in 2020, 2021 and 2022.  
We reviewed the disclosures provided in the financial 
statements to ensure compliance with IAS 36 
‘Impairment of Assets’.  
We also assessed the work performed by management 
and their experts on the valuation models.  

 

How we tailored the audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate. 
The group financial statements are a consolidation of a large number of components which make up the group’s 
operating businesses within the three business unit segments: subsea, onshore/offshore and surface projects. In 
establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at 
the components either by us, as the group engagement team, or component auditors from other PwC network firms 
operating under our instruction.  

The group’s components vary significantly in size and we identified 5 components that, in our view, required a full 
scope audit due to their relative size or risk characteristics. Where component audits were performed by teams 
other than the group engagement team, members of the group engagement team were involved in their work 
throughout the audit. We maintained regular communication and conducted formal interim and year-end 
conference calls with all full and specified procedure component teams. Additionally, senior members of the group 
engagement team, including the group engagement leader, performed site visits to the France, Malaysia and US 
components. We also held an in person audit planning meeting with component teams from US, France, Brazil, 
Singapore, UK and Italy. 
 
Of the 36 components in scope, we deemed two to be financially significant to the group: Yamal LNG and Technip 
France. Senior members of the group engagement team, visited management of these components in France and 
attended project review meetings. 
  
Together these full and specific scope components audits gave appropriate coverage of all material balances at a 
group level. On a consolidated basis, these provided coverage of 76% of revenue. 

Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures 
and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a 
whole.  
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 
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   Group financial statements Company financial statements 

Overall materiality $90 million (2018: $80 million). $80 million (2018: $70 million). 

How we determined it 0.67% of Revenue. 0.49% of Total assets. 

Rationale for 
benchmark applied 

We considered the following benchmarks 
when approaching the 
calculation of overall materiality – total 
revenues, total assets, adjusted pre-tax 
income and EBITDA. We concluded 
that the most appropriate benchmark was 
total revenue given profitability measures 
continue to be depressed as a result of the 
pricing environment in the global oil and 
gas industry and not 
reflective of the scale of the operations of 
the enlarged group following the merger 
of Technip and FMC Technologies. 
Revenue is a key measure used by 
shareholders in assessing the 
performance of the group. 
 
Using auditor judgement, we determined 
an overall materiality level of $90 million 
to be a reasonable amount, which equates 
to 0.67% of total revenue. 

We considered a benchmark of total assets 
when approaching the calculation of 
overall materiality for the company. We 
concluded that this was the most 
appropriate benchmark given the 
principal activity of the company is a 
holding company carrying the investment 
in subsidiaries. 
 
Using auditor judgement, we determined 
an overall materiality 
level of $80 million to be a reasonable 
amount, which equates to 0.49% of total 
assets. 

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group 
materiality. The range of materiality allocated across components was between $15 million and $50 million. Certain 
components were audited to a local statutory audit materiality that was also less than our overall group materiality. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
$7.5 million (Group audit) (2018: $6.5 million) and $4 million (Company audit) (2018: $5 million) as well as 
misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:  

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or  
 

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the group’s and company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms of the United Kingdom’s 
withdrawal from the European Union are not clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on 
the group’s trade, customers, suppliers and the wider economy.   

Reporting on other information  
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.  
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent 
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there 
is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by 
the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.   
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies 
Act 2006 and ISAs (UK) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic 
Report and Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and 
has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.  
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.  

Directors’ Remuneration 
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.  

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statements, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website 
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
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Other required reporting 
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or 
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
• the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not 

in agreement with the accounting records and returns.  
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.  

Appointment 
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 11 January 2017 to 
audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of 
total uninterrupted engagement is 3 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2017 to 31 December 2019. 
 

Richard Spilsbury (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Aberdeen 
13 March 2020 
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